
 
 

 
 
 

AGENDA PAPERS FOR 
 

EXECUTIVE MEETING 
 

Date: Monday, 17 September 2018 
 

Time:  6.30 p.m. 
 

Place:  Committee Rooms 2 and 3, Trafford Town Hall, Talbot Road, Stretford 
M32 0TH 

 
 

A G E N D A   PART I Pages  
 

1.  ATTENDANCES   
 
To note attendances, including officers, and any apologies for absence. 
 

 

2.  DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST   
 
Members to give notice of any interest and the nature of that interest relating 
to any item on the agenda in accordance with the adopted Code of Conduct. 
 

 

3.  MINUTES   
 
To receive and, if so determined, to approve as a correct record the Minutes 
of the meeting held on 23rd July 2018. 
 

1 - 6 

4.  MATTERS FROM COUNCIL OR OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY 
COMMITTEES (IF ANY)   
 
To consider any matters referred by the Council or by the Overview and 
Scrutiny Committees. 
 

 

5.  TRAFFORD AFFORDABLE HOUSING FUND   
 
To consider a report of the Executive Member for Housing and Communities. 
 

7 - 20 

6.  STUDENT ACCOMMODATION   
 
To consider a report of the Executive Member for Investment, Regeneration 
and Strategic Planning. (Note: A supplementary report is to be considered in 
Part II of this agenda.) 

21 - 26 

Public Document Pack



Executive - Monday, 17 September 2018 
   

 

 
7.  SALE TOWN CENTRE - PUBLIC REALM AND MOVEMENT STRATEGY   

 
To consider a report of the Executive Member for Investment, Regeneration 
and Strategic Planning. 
[PLEASE NOTE: The appendix to this report is very extensive, and this is not 
being circulated in hard copy. It is available in full on the Council’s website.] 
 

27 - 126 

8.  PROPOSAL TO CONSULT ON ADULT SOCIAL CARE POLICY CHANGES   
 
To consider a report of the Corporate Director, Adult Services and Corporate 
Director, Finance and Systems. 
 

127 - 134 

9.  REPORT ON COMPLAINTS DETERMINED BY THE LOCAL 
GOVERNMENT & SOCIAL CARE OMBUDSMAN 2017/18   
 
To consider a report of the Executive Member for Constitutional Reform and 
Resident Engagement. 
 

135 - 140 

10.  BUDGET MONITORING 2018-19 PERIOD 4 (APRIL- JULY 2018)   
 
To consider a report of the Executive Member for Finance and Corporate 
Director of Finance and Systems. 
 

141 - 156 

11.  AGMA COMBINED AUTHORITY / EXECUTIVE BOARD: FORWARD 
PLANS AND DECISIONS   
 
To receive and note the following: 
 

 

(a)   GM Forward Plan of Key Decisions - September   
 

157 - 166 

(b)   GMCA Decisions 27/7/18   
 

167 - 180 

(c)   AGMA Decisions 27/7/18   
 

181 - 184 

12.  URGENT BUSINESS (IF ANY)   
 

Any other item or items which by reason of:- 
 
(a) Regulation 11 of the Local Authorities (Executive Arrangements) 

(Meetings and Access to Information) (England) Regulations 2012, the 
Chairman of the meeting, with the agreement of the relevant Overview 
and Scrutiny Committee Chairman, is of the opinion should be 
considered at this meeting as a matter of urgency as it relates to a key 
decision; or 

 
(b) special circumstances (to be specified) the Chairman of the meeting is of 

the opinion should be considered at this meeting as a matter of urgency. 
 
 
 
 
 

 



Executive - Monday, 17 September 2018 
   

 

13.  EXCLUSION RESOLUTION   
 
Motion   (Which may be amended as Members think fit): 
 
 That the public be excluded from this meeting during consideration of 

the remaining items on the agenda, because of the likelihood of 
disclosure of “exempt information” which falls within one or more 
descriptive category or categories of the Local Government Act 1972, 
Schedule 12A, as amended by The Local Government (Access to 
Information) (Variation) Order 2006, and specified on the agenda item 
or report relating to each such item respectively. 

 
 

PART II 
 

 

14.  STUDENT ACCOMMODATION   
 
To consider a report of the Executive Member for Investment, Regeneration 
and Strategic Planning. (Note: A supplementary report is to be considered in 
Part I of this agenda.) 
 

185 - 192 

 
 
JIM TAYLOR 
Chief Executive 
 

COUNCILLOR ANDREW WESTERN 
Leader of the Council 

 
 
Membership of the Committee 
 
Councillors A. Western (Chairman), C. Hynes (Deputy Leader), S. Adshead, J. Baugh, 
M. Cordingley, M. Freeman, J. Harding, J. Lloyd, K. Procter and J.A. Wright 
 
Further Information 
For help, advice and information about this meeting please contact: 
 
Jo Maloney, 0161 912 4298 
Email: joseph.maloney@trafford.gov.uk  
 
This agenda was issued on Friday 7th September 2018 by the Legal and Democratic 
Services Section, Trafford Council, Trafford Town Hall, Talbot Road, Stretford  
M32 0TH. 
 
Any person wishing to photograph, film or audio-record a public meeting is requested  
to inform Democratic Services in order that necessary arrangements can be made for 
the meeting. 
 
Please contact the Democratic Services Officer 48 hours in advance of the meeting if 
you intend to do this or have any queries.  
  



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 
1 

 
 
EXECUTIVE 

 
23 JULY 2018 

 
PRESENT  
 
Leader of the Council (Councillor A. Western)(in the Chair), 
Executive Member for Adult Social Care (Councillor J. Harding), 
Executive Member for Children’s Services (Councillor J. Baugh), 
Executive Member for Constitutional Reform and Resident Engagement 
(Councillor M. Freeman), 
Executive Member for Environment, Air Quality and Climate Change (Councillor S. 
Adshead), 
Executive Member for Equalities and Partnerships (Councillor C. Hynes), 
Executive Member for Finance (Councillor M. Cordingley), 
Executive Member for Health and Wellbeing (Councillor J. Lloyd), 
Executive Member for Investment, Regeneration and Strategic Planning 
(Councillor J. Wright). 
 
Also present: Councillors Acton, Sean Anstee, Barclay, Bowker, Butt, Coggins, 
Dillon (part only), L. Evans, N. Evans, Lamb, Longden, Myers, Shaw and Whetton. 

 

In attendance:  

 
Director of Legal and Democratic Services (Ms. J. Le Fevre), 
Chief Finance Officer (Ms. N. Bishop), 
Director of Human Resources (Ms. S. Saleh), 
Director of Safeguarding and Professional Development (Ms. C. Rooney), 
Director of Integrated Services (Ms. D. Eaton), 
Director of One Trafford Partnership (Ms. M. Wise), 
Principal Solicitor (Corporate and Commercial) (Ms. D. Sykes), 
Democratic and Scrutiny Officer (Mr. J.M.J. Maloney). 
 
 
APOLOGIES 
 
Apologies for absence were received from Councillor K. Procter. 
 

15. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  
 
No declarations were made by Executive Members. 
 

16. MINUTES  
 

RESOLVED – That the Minutes of the meeting held on 25th June 2018 be 
approved as a correct record. 

 
17. MATTERS FROM COUNCIL OR OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEES 

(IF ANY)  
 

Page 1

Agenda Item 3



 
 

 

 
2 

(a) Scrutiny Review of Young People’s Wellbeing 
 
Councillor Harding, as the former Chair of the Health Scrutiny Committee, 
introduced the report, its key features and main areas of focus. The report was 
noted, and it was agreed that the Executive would work with the Health Scrutiny 
Committee with a view to responding to its recommendations. 
 
 RESOLVED - 
 
(1) That the content of the report be noted. 
 
(2) That relevant members of the Executive liaise with the Health Scrutiny 

Committee with a view to responding to its recommendations. 
 

18. CORPORATE LANDLORD CAPITAL PROGRAMME 2018/19  
 
The Executive Member for Investment, Regeneration and Strategic Planning 
submitted a report which set out the schemes proposed under the Corporate 
Landlord capital programme for the 2018/19, which had been identified as 
priorities for the next financial year. An opportunity was provided for Members to 
raise questions on the content of the report; and in response to a query it was 
indicated that further information could be provided outside the meeting on the 
potential rationalisation of assets referred to in the report. 
 

RESOLVED - 
 
(1)  That the allocation of the approved Corporate Landlord programme as set 

out in the Appendices to the report be approved. 
 
(2) That authority be delegated to the Corporate Director for Economic Growth, 

Environment and Infrastructure to agree minor changes to the programme. 
 
 

19. RESIDENTS' PARKING SCHEMES PROGRAMME 2018/19 AND 2019/20  
 
The Executive Member for Environment, Air Quality and Climate Change 
submitted a report which set out the detailed list of schemes proposed under the 
capital programme for residents’ parking schemes in 2018/19 and 2019/20. These 
schemes had been identified as being of priority, and the intention was to 
implement them across the next two years. An opportunity was provided for 
Members to raise questions on the report’s content. In response to questions, it 
was noted that, whilst the schemes were subject to consultation and therefore to 
amendment, further information could be provided in due course on the ongoing 
financial issues associated with them, and the roads proposed to be incorporated 
within respective schemes. 
 
 RESOLVED - 
 
(1) That the residents’ parking scheme programmes as set out in Appendix A 

to the report be approved. 

Page 2



  3 
 

Executive (23.7.18) 
 
 

 
(2) That the proposed addition to the capital programme for 2018/19 and 

2019/20 be approved, subject to resource availability. 

(3)  That authority be delegated to the Corporate Director for Economic Growth, 
Environment and Infrastructure to make minor changes to the programme. 

 
 

20. COMPULSORY PURCHASE ORDER, CHARLTON HOUSE  
 
This item was withdrawn from consideration, along with the associated report in 
Part II of the agenda (Minute 28 below). 
 
 

21. STAR PROCUREMENT COLLABORATION AND EXECUTIVE JOINT 
COMMITTEE  
 
The Executive Member for Finance submitted a report which provided information 
on the strategic proposal to expand the current STAR Shared Procurement 
service (“STAR”) from three partner councils to four partner councils, and 
potentially further to expand the collaboration from four partner councils to five 
partner councils; and which outlined the rationale for STAR’s growth strategy, 
provided details of proposed commercial arrangements, governance 
arrangements and implementation strategies. A related report, identifying the 
fourth partner Council, was considered in Part II of the agenda. (Minute 29 below 
refers.) In discussion, it was agreed that the Executive would explore practicable 
and appropriate means of keeping Opposition Members informed of the Joint 
Committee’s proceedings. 
 
 RESOLVED - 
 
(1) That the disestablishment of the current STAR Joint Committee be 

approved. 
 
(2) That approval be given to the expansion of the current shared procurement 

service to include the Fourth Partner which will continue to be hosted by 
Trafford Borough Council in accordance with the provisions detailed in the 
main body of the report. 

 
(3) That the establishment of a new STAR Joint Committee be approved for 

Stockport, Trafford, Rochdale and the Fourth Partner that will support the 
delivery of the Shared Service and provide delegated authority to the 
Procurement Service to operate across Stockport, Trafford, Rochdale and 
The Fourth Partner areas. 

 
(4) That approval be given to the further expansion of the shared procurement 

service to include The Fifth Partner Council in accordance with the 
provisions detailed in the report subject to the prior approval of appropriate 
due diligence by the STAR Joint Committee. 

 

Page 3



 
 

 

 
4 

(5) That, in the event that the shared procurement service is further expanded 
to include the Fifth Partner Council, approval be given to the 
disestablishment of the four partner STAR Joint Committee and to the 
establishment of a new five partner STAR Joint Committee for Stockport, 
Trafford, Rochdale, the Fourth Partner and the Fifth Partner that will 
support the delivery of the Shared Service and provide delegated authority 
to the Procurement Service to operate across Stockport, Trafford, 
Rochdale, the Fourth Partner and the Fifth Partner areas. 

 
(6) That the governance arrangements and Terms of Reference of the new 

STAR Joint Committee as set out in the report be approved. 
 
(7) That authority be delegated to the Director of Legal and Democratic 

Services to agree the terms and conditions of, and to complete, an Inter 
Authority Agreement (“IAA”) in respect of the STAR Procurement shared 
service in similar terms to the existing IAA. 

 
(8) That the proposed approach to those circumstances whereby staff would 

transfer to the new procurement unit, and therefore to Trafford Council 
under TUPE, as outlined in the report, be noted and approved. 

 
22. HIGH NEEDS BUDGET 2018/19 TO 2020/21  

 
The Executive Member for Children’s Services, Corporate Director Children, 
Families and Wellbeing and Chief Finance Officer submitted a report proposing 
that the funding gap for 2019/20 in the Education High Needs Budget would be 
met from a continuation of savings programmes which would be subject to further 
review and consultation and a proposed continuation of the 0.5% top-slice of the 
schools block. The latter would be subject to approval by the Schools Funding 
Forum and the ESFA. The proposal would allow further time to consider proposals 
to address the continuing funding gap and the full implications of the various 
proposals. 
 

RESOLVED - That the proposals included in the report to address the gap 
in the High Needs budget for 2018/19, and approach to 2019/20 and 
2020/21, be approved. 

 
23. COUNCIL TAX SUPPORT SCHEME FOR 2018/19 - PROPOSED CHANGES TO 

INCREASE SUPPORT TO LOW INCOME HOUSEHOLDS  
 
The Executive Member for Finance submitted a report reminding Members of the 
requirement for the Council to set its CTS scheme each year, and setting out 
proposals to consult with the public on a range of specific changes to the scheme 
to increase support to low income families. In discussion, endorsed a proposal to 
enhance training of staff to assist potential applicants. 
 

RESOLVED - That agreement be given to the Council consulting with the 
public on amending the Council Tax Support scheme as detailed in the 
report. 

 

Page 4



  5 
 

Executive (23.7.18) 
 
 

24. BUDGET MONITORING 2018/19 - PERIOD 2 OUTTURN (APRIL TO MAY 2018)  
 
The Executive Member for Finance and the Chief Finance Officer submitted a 
report which informed Members of the current 2018/19 forecast outturn figures 
relating to both Revenue and Capital budgets, and which also summarised the 
latest forecast position for Council Tax and Business Rates within the Collection 
Fund. An opportunity was provided for Members to raise questions in respect of 
the report’s content, and these centred on the variance identified within Children’s 
Services. Members agreed on the need fully to understand the reasons, some of 
which were already evident, behind high levels of rising demand in the early part 
of the financial year. It was reported that one particular factor, namely the 
necessity, for safeguarding purposes, of high cost placements, had more 
recently.stabilised. 
 

RESOLVED – That the content of the report, and the changes to the 
Capital Programme as detailed in its paragraphs 17 and 24, be noted. 

 
 

25. EXECUTIVE'S RESPONSE TO SCRUTINY REVIEW OF THE COUNCIL'S 
SCRUTINY FUNCTION  
 
The Executive received for information comments on the recommendations arising 
from the Scrutiny Committee’s Task and Finish Review of the Council’s Scrutiny 
Function. Members were advised that the issues had been referred for 
consideration to the Constitution Working Group, and that the Executive would be 
advised in due course of the outcomes. In discussion, support was expressed for 
the suggestion of making training on Scrutiny issues more widely available to 
Councillors. 
 
 RESOLVED – That the content of the report be noted. 
 
 

26. AGMA COMBINED AUTHORITY / EXECUTIVE BOARD: FORWARD PLANS 
AND DECISIONS  
 

RESOLVED – That the content of the GMCA schedule for Key Decisions 
for July 2018, and summaries of decisions taken by the GMCA and AGMA 
on 29th June, 2018, be noted. 

 
 

27. EXCLUSION RESOLUTION  
 

RESOLVED - That the public be excluded from this meeting during 
consideration of the remaining items on the agenda, because of the 
likelihood of disclosure of “exempt information” which falls within one or 
more descriptive category or categories of the Local Government Act 1972, 
Schedule 12A, as amended by The Local Government (Access to 
Information) (Variation) Order 2006, and specified on the agenda item or 
report relating to each such item respectively. 

 
 Page 5



 
 

 

 
6 

 
28. COMPULSORY PURCHASE ORDER, CHARLTON HOUSE  

 
This item was withdrawn from consideration, along with the associated report in 
Part I of the agenda (Minute 20 above). 
 
 

29. STAR PROCUREMENT COLLABORATION AND EXECUTIVE JOINT 
COMMITTEE  
 
Further to the report submitted by the Executive Member for Finance and 
considered in Part I of the agenda (Minute 29 above refers) in relation to the 
strategic proposal to expand the current STAR Shared Procurement service 
(“STAR”), a related report was presented, identifying the fourth partner Council. All 
formal resolutions relating to this matter are as set out in Minute 29 above. 
 
 
 
The meeting commenced at 6.30 p.m. and finished at 7.27 p.m. 

Page 6



 1 

 
 
TRAFFORD COUNCIL 
 
Report to:   Executive 
Date:    17th September 2018 
Report for:    Decision 
Report of:  Executive Member for Housing and Communities  
  

 
Report Title 
 

 
Trafford Affordable Housing Fund 
 

 
Summary 
 

 
This report proposes the establishment of a ‘Trafford Affordable Housing Fund’ using 
Section 106 Commuted Sum monies.  It identifies the priorities of the Fund and the 
process for utilising the Fund in partnership with Registered Providers. 
 

 
Recommendation(s) 
 

 
It is recommended that the Executive approves the establishment of a Trafford 
Affordable Housing Fund financed by S106 Commuted Sum monies, and the 
approach for approving applications to the Fund as set out in paragraph 6.3. 
 

   
Contact person for access to background papers and further information: 
 
Name:   Stephen James (Head of Strategic Growth) – Ext 4330 

Caroline Abbott (Housing Strategy & Growth Manager) – Ext 4667 
  
 

Appendix One:   Affordable Housing S106 Contributions Schedule (contributions 
received) 

 
 
Appendix Two: S106 Affordable Housing Spend Research 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 7

Agenda Item 5



 2 

Background Papers: None 

  

 
Implications: 
 

Relationship to Policy 
Framework/Corporate Priorities 

The establishment of the ‘Trafford Affordable 
Housing Fund’ will meet the following Corporate 
Objectives: 

 Economic Growth and Development 
 Services Focused on the Most Vulnerable 

People 
 

In addition, the ‘Trafford Affordable Housing Fund’ 
will meet the requirement as detailed within the 
Trafford Housing Strategy Action Plan 2018-2023. 
 

Relationship to GM Policy or 
Strategy Framework  

The GM Strategy ‘Our People, Our Place’ 
commits to the provision of safe, decent and 
affordable housing across GM. The establishment 
of the ‘Trafford Affordable Housing Fund’ enables 
the Council to co-ordinate the spend of S106 
Commuted Sum monies to increase the supply of 
‘safe, decent and affordable housing’ in Trafford, 
and therefore contributes to the GM commitment. 
The Fund will also complement the emerging GM 
Housing Strategy. 

Financial  The proposed ‘Trafford Affordable Housing Fund’ 
will be financed from S106 commuted sums 
monies and will therefore adhere to any 
geographical and other conditions as identified in 
the S106 agreements.  

Legal Implications: None as a consequence of this report. 

Equality/Diversity Implications None as a consequence of this report. 

Sustainability Implications None as a consequence of this report. 

Resource Implications e.g. Staffing 
/ ICT / Assets 

The management of the ‘Trafford Affordable 
Housing Fund’ will be undertaken within existing 
resources. 

Risk Management Implications   None as a consequence of this report. 

Health & Wellbeing Implications None as a consequence of this report. 

Health and Safety Implications None as a consequence of this report. 

 
1.0 Background 

 
1.1  The Council secures commuted sum contributions for affordable housing via Section 

106 (S106) Agreements, the policy framework of which is set by the Core Strategy 
and Supplementary Planning Guidance 1 – Planning Obligations (SPD1). Commuted 
sums are negotiated between the Council and developers where the provision of 
affordable housing on-site is not deemed to be financially viable or appropriate by the 
developer. Depending on the S106 Agreement entered into, the utilisation of 
commuted sums contributions for affordable housing can vary from being for a specific 
locality linked to the development site, or within the borough as a whole. 

 
1.2 The total amount of S106 monies held by the Council for the provision of affordable 

housing is currently c£1.56m and is broken down as follows: 

Page 8



 3 

 

Area to receive S106 affordable housing 
contributions 

Total Affordable housing 
balance available per area after 
commitments  

Within Administrative Boundary of Trafford £224,121 

Altrincham £1,286,613 

Sale  £45,600 

Total S106 affordable housing 
contributions across all areas 

£1,556,334 

 
1.3 A Schedule on what the S106 monies can be spent on and by when, for each area, is 

attached as Appendix 1. As can be seen, the majority of the s106 monies are area/site 
specific, however it is worth noting that c£655k of the monies for Altrincham could be 
used for affordable housing provision outside the area if schemes are unable to come 
forward. It is also worth noting that two S106 Agreements for Altrincham totalling 
c£500k expire in 2020. 
  

1.4 In addition to the monies received, additional S106 monies are due /due once certain 
trigger points have been met which currently equates to c£2.8m. However the Council 
cannot be certain whether this full amount will be received as some developments 
may not come forward, while some have overages upon the affordable housing 
contribution meaning that until the S106 trigger is met and any required viability 
assessments have been undertaken, it is not possible to guarantee that the full 
affordable housing contribution will be received.  Also, some developments will only be 
required to provide the affordable housing contribution if onsite/offsite affordable 
housing units are not provided. 

 
2.0 S106 Commuted Sums Research 
 
2.1 Research has been undertaken to determine how GM authorities and other LAs utilise 

their S106 commuted sums (see Appendix 2). 
 
2.2 In summary the majority of LAs are utilising S106 commuted sums monies for the 

following: 
(i) Delivering new social and affordable housing directly by Registered Provider 

(RP) partners. 
 

(ii) Delivering new social and affordable housing through Joint Ventures with private 
and public sector companies. 
 

3.0 Strategic Context 
 
3.1 The Council is committed to increasing the provision of affordable housing in the 

borough to meet the needs of local residents. The establishment of the Fund will play 
a key part in this and complements government initiatives such as the Shared 
Ownership and Affordable Homes Programme (SOAHP), which is a Homes England 
grant that provides funding to increase the provision of affordable homes with 
Registered Providers in England. In the current 2016-2021 programme, Trafford has 
been allocated c£7.6m in grant funding from Homes England to provide 301 units of 
affordable accommodation up to 2021. 

 
3.2 The Fund meets the Corporate Objectives of ‘Economic Growth and Development’ 

and ‘Services Focused on the Most Vulnerable People’, contributes towards the 
Trafford Vision 2031complements the Greater Manchester Strategy and the emerging 

Page 9



 4 

Greater Manchester Housing Strategy. The Fund is also a key initiative as identified 
within the Trafford Housing Strategy 2018-2023. 

 

4.0 Affordability Issue in Trafford 
 
4.1 Trafford has excellent transport links, schools, parks, quality of homes and improving town 

centres which means the borough is a popular location to live in and a strong attraction for 

families. Due to its high demand, there is an affordability ‘gap’ since the ratio between 

average incomes and average property prices is 8.35, which far exceeds the ratio of 3.5 

times the average salary, which mortgage companies base their lending criteria on.  Based 

on average wage levels and the average costs of properties, households in Trafford need 

an additional income of £25,000 to be able to buy a property.  Trafford’s housing market, in 

effect, acts like a ‘southern borough’ compared to the rest of GM. 

 

4.2 Trafford also has a lack of supply, particularly in terms of social and affordable 
housing with only 5% of the total stock in GM. The largest numbers of social and 
affordable housing are in Old Trafford and Partington, which accounts for around 40% 
of all tenures in these areas. There is therefore a disparity in the spread of social and 
affordable housing which coupled with a lack of supply, further compounds 
affordability issues particularly for those residents living in the southern areas of the 
borough. Trafford also has a relatively small private rented sector and over the last 16 
years it has grown at around half the rate compared to the rest of GM. Average rentals 
are £750 per month and due to the costs of accessing home ownership, demand is 
high and prices will increase. 

 
5.0 A New Approach for Utilising S106 in the Borough 
 
5.1 It is proposed that the Council utilises its S106 Commuted Sums monies to create a 

‘Trafford Affordable Housing Fund’ which will be a grant for new build social rented 
accommodation across the borough.  It is proposed that social rented accommodation 
is the priority; however in areas where the housing market needs to be balanced with 
intermediate affordable housing products, such as Rent to Buy and Shared 
Ownership, these types of affordable products maybe be considered. The focus on 
new build social rented accommodation is compliant with the S106 Schedule 
(Appendix 1).   

 
5.2 The Council has excellent working relationships with the RP’s in the borough and all 

key RP’s are represented on the Strategic Housing Partnership (SHP). It is proposed 
to use this group as the proactive mechanism for promoting the Fund and calling for 
schemes. Schemes will have to comply with the requirements set out in the conditions 
of the S106 monies received in terms of geographic area etc. as detailed in Appendix 
1. This approach is comparable to that adopted by other local authorities  Working 
with the RPs will be essential to deliver new build social rented affordable homes as 
they have the knowledge and development expertise in this sector. The Council 
therefore has the opportunity to take a more proactive and leadership approach to use 
the Fund to lever in additional investment from RP’s to deliver new social rented 
schemes. The Fund will enable the Council to stimulate the supply of social rented 
homes and meet priorities as set in the Trafford Housing Strategy 2018-2023.  

 
5.3 The Fund will be allocated in the form of a grant and will track the grant rate set by 

Homes England for social rented housing which is £50k per unit. Based on a Fund 
‘pot’ of £1,556,334, this grant rate would deliver 31 new social rented units. RP’s will 
bid into the Fund and since  the grant rate will be set at a maximum of £50k per unit, it 
is anticipated that schemes coming forward will vary in the grant rates required which 

Page 10



 5 

will enable the Fund to be spread wider and potentially deliver more units. In lieu of 
the anticipated S106 monies to be received by the Council identified in 1.3 above, the 
Fund should have the ability to over programme depending on the timeframe of 
schemes. 

 
5.4 The Fund will not be used to ‘top up’ existing RP’s schemes; such as those grant 

funded from the Homes England Shared Ownership and Affordable Homes 
Programme (2016 to 2021), it will be used for the provision of new social rented units 
to meet the severe affordability gap the borough is facing. The Fund will also be used 
to secure wider socio-economic benefits as grants will be intrinsically linked to the 
delivery of job, apprenticeship, training and other social value benefits.  

 
6.0 Allocating the Trafford Affordable Housing Fund 
 
6.1 RP’s will be required to submit a formal application to access the Fund which will be 

based on the Homes England grant application form and a business plan/business 
case identifying the following: 

 

 Number of units being delivered.  

 Programme and certainty of delivery 

 Type, size and tenure of units being delivered. 

 Costs 

 Funding required from the Trafford Affordable Housing Fund. 

 RP financial contribution towards the scheme. 

 Other funding secured for the scheme. 

 Details and evidence to support the delivery of Trafford’s Housing Strategy 2018-

2023. 

 Evidence of meeting local housing need. 

 Wider socio-economic benefits / social value (i.e. jobs, apprenticeship, training, 

work experience opportunities etc.). 

6.2 RPs awarded monies from the Fund will be subject to the Council’s Nominations 
Agreement, where 100% of the new build properties, on first let, will be to those 
applicants on the Council’s Housing Register. The priority of the applicants will be 
determined by the Trafford Housing Allocations Policy.   

 
6.3 In terms of the approval process, it is proposed that an internal project group 

comprising the Head of Strategic Growth, Housing Strategy Manager, Strategic 
Planning Manager and a representative from Finance and Legal carries out an initial 
review and shortlisting of applications to ensure compliance with S106 conditions. 
These will then be sent to the Corporate Director for Place for sign-off and submitted 
to CLT for consideration. Following this, the Corporate Director, in consultation with 
the Executive Member for Communities and Housing will then formally approve the 
applications. Allocations made from the Fund will also be reported as part of the 
Capital Programme monitoring process. Day to day management of the Fund will be 
carried out by the Strategic Housing Team. 

 
7.0 Future S106 Agreements for Commuted Sums 
 
7.1 Trafford has a major affordability issue caused by a lack of supply as highlighted in 

section 3.0 which affects all parts of the borough. Section 106 Agreements for 
affordable housing should therefore take full account of this and where practicable and 

Page 11



 6 

through negotiation, commuted sums monies should not be as specific and complex 
as to hinder the provision of affordable housing. Rather, they should support the 
provision of affordable housing throughout Trafford as a whole as a general principle. 
The current process for securing S106 commuted sums for affordable housing will 
therefore be reviewed with Development Management and Legal to determine if this 
principle can form the basis of S106 agreements going forward.  

 
8.0 Other Options 
 
8.1 An option would be not to establish the Trafford Affordable Housing Fund which 

could result in the S106 Commuted Sums monies not being spent and having to be 
returned to developers. Also without the Fund, the Council would not be able to 
stimulate the supply of social rented homes and meet the priorities as set in the 
Trafford Housing Strategy 2018-2023. 

  
9.0 Consultation 
 
9.1 A meeting was held with developer RP’s on 9th August 2018 to inform them of the 

proposals to establish the Trafford Affordable Housing Fund and to stimulate 
discussions on a pipeline of schemes. The Fund was received positively by the RP’s 
and ongoing discussions will take place to identify potential schemes.   

 
10.0 Reasons for Recommendation 
 

10.1 It is recommended that the Executive approves the establishment of a Trafford 

Affordable Housing Fund to increase the supply of social rented accommodation which is 

needed in the borough. The Fund will enable the Council to take a proactive role in 

working with RP’s, and meet Corporate priorities to tackle the severe affordability issues 

that Trafford is facing to benefit local residents.. 

 
 
Key Decision: Yes  
 
If Key Decision, has 28-day notice been given?   Yes  
 
 

Finance Officer Clearance …PC………  

Legal Officer Clearance ….CK……  

 
 

CORPORATE DIRECTOR’S SIGNATURE  

 

To confirm that the Financial and Legal Implications have been considered and the Executive 
Member has cleared the report. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 12



 7 

APPENDIX 1 - Affordable Housing S106 Contributions Schedule (Conditions for Spend) 
 
The following tables show details of the current S106 affordable housing contributions available by the places in which they can be 
spent (as per the places identified in the Trafford Local Plan: Core Strategy adopted January 2012).  Further detail of how and 
where each S106 contribution can be spent is set out in the individual S106 Agreements.  
 
Please note that figures do not add up exactly due to rounding of figures. 
Development 
Address 

Area 
Receiving 
the S106 
Contribution 

Planning 
Agreement 
Number 

Affordable 
housing 
balance 
available after 
commitments  

Date of 
Receipt 

Expiry 
Date 

S106 details of how 
contribution can be 
spent 

S106 details of 
where contribution 
can be spent 

 
WITHIN THE ADMINISTRATIVE BOUNDARY OF TRAFFORD (BOROUGHWIDE) 

St John the 
Baptist Church, 
Thorley Lane, 
Timperley 

Boroughwide 82704/FUL
L/2014 

£202,746 21/01/2016 21/01/2021 Affordable housing is 
defined by the 
Agreement as 
'housing for people in 
housing need who 
cannot afford to rent 
or buy 
accommodation 
generally available on 
the open market'. 
 

To be used on 
affordable housing 
located within the 
administrative area of 
the Council but not 
within the site. 

Yew Tree Farm, 
Davyhulme 
Road, Flixton 

Boroughwide 85566/FUL/
15 

£21,375 25/09/2018 25/09/2033 To use towards the 
delivery of off-site 
affordable housing 
provision. 
 

To be used off-site. 

 
TOTAL FOR BOROUGHWIDE 

 
£224,121 
 

 

P
age 13



 8 

 
 
Developm
ent 
Address 

Area 
Receiving the 
S106 
Contribution 

Planning 
Agreement 
Number 

Affordable 
housing 
balance 
available after 
commitments  

Date of 
Receipt 

Expiry 
Date 

S106 details of how 
contribution can be spent 

S106 details of 
where contribution 
can be spent 

 
ALTRINCHAM 

The 
Willows 
Stamford 
Brook, 
Altrincham 

To be used in 
Altrincham but 
if unable to do 
so can be 
spent within 
the Borough of 
Trafford 

H/55673 £284,397 Apr-12 Apr-20 Council covenants to use 
reasonable endeavours to 
ensure that all payments 
received will be used and 
expended towards the 
provision of affordable 
housing for persons in 
housing need. 

To be used in the 
locality of the site but 
in the event it is 
unable to do so then 
such payments shall 
be used towards the 
provision of affordable 
housing for persons in 
need in the Borough of 
Trafford. 

The 
Willows 
Stamford 
Brook, 
Altrincham 

To be used in 
Altrincham but 
if unable to do 
so can be 
spent within 
the Borough of 
Trafford 

H/55673 £249,763 21/08/2012 21/08/2020 Council covenants to use 
reasonable endeavours to 
ensure that all payments 
received will be used and 
expended towards the 
provision of affordable 
housing for persons in 
housing need. 

To be used in the 
locality of the site but 
in the event it is 
unable to do so then 
such payments shall 
be used towards the 
provision of affordable 
housing for persons in 
need in the Borough of 
Trafford. 

The 
Acorns, 
Stamford 
Brook, 
West 
Timperley 

Altrincham 81630/ 
FULL/2013 

£67,248 22/02/2016 22/02/2031 To be used for affordable 
housing provision in 
accordance with the 
provisions of Revised SPD1. 

To be used in 
Altrincham 

P
age 14



 9 

Developm
ent 
Address 

Area 
Receiving the 
S106 
Contribution 

Planning 
Agreement 
Number 

Affordable 
housing 
balance 
available after 
commitments  

Date of 
Receipt 

Expiry 
Date 

S106 details of how 
contribution can be spent 

S106 details of 
where contribution 
can be spent 

Old 
Laundry 
Nurseries 

Altrincham 87303/FUL £468,825 10/04/2017 10/04/2029 To be used specifically 
towards schemes to provide 
new affordable housing 
schemes, programmes for 
bringing vacant properties 
back into use as affordable 
housing and improving or 
converting existing housing to 
make it suitable as affordable 
housing in the local area. 
 

To be used in the local 
area of the 
development. 

Hartington 
Road / 
Manchester 
Road 

Altrincham 90138/FUL/
2016 

£95,000 11/10/2017 11/10/2032 To be used specifically 
towards schemes to provide 
new affordable housing 
schemes, programmes for 
bringing vacant properties 
back into use as affordable 
housing and improving or 
converting existing housing to 
make it suitable as affordable 
housing. 
 

To be used in the local 
area of the 
development. 

Jubilee 
Way / Land 
at Norman 
Road 

Altrincham 82014/FUL/
2013 

£92,400 02/02/2018 02/02/2028 To be used for the provision 
of off-site affordable housing 
including the provision of new 
affordable housing, the 
purchase of land for the 
construction of affordable 
housing; and extensions 
adaptations alterations and 

The Council will use 
its best endeavours to 
ensure that all such 
purposes are within 
the Altrincham area of 
the Borough of 
Trafford but if this is 
not possible to be 

P
age 15



 10 

Developm
ent 
Address 

Area 
Receiving the 
S106 
Contribution 

Planning 
Agreement 
Number 

Affordable 
housing 
balance 
available after 
commitments  

Date of 
Receipt 

Expiry 
Date 

S106 details of how 
contribution can be spent 

S106 details of 
where contribution 
can be spent 

improvements to existing 
Affordable Housing. 

within the 
administrative 
boundaries of the 
Council. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

12 Janson 
Place 

Altrincham 82014/FUL/
13 & 87226 

£28,980 06/06/2018 
& 
08/06/2018 

06/06/2028 
& 
08/06/2028 

To be used for the provision 
of off-site affordable housing 
including the provision of new 
affordable housing, the 
purchase of land for the 
construction of affordable 
housing; and extensions 
adaptations alterations and 
improvements to existing 
Affordable Housing. 

The Council will use 
its best endeavours to 
ensure that all such 
purposes are within 
the Altrincham area of 
the Borough of 
Trafford but if this is 
not possible to be 
within the 
administrative 
boundaries of the 
Council. 
 
 
 
 

 
TOTAL FOR ALTRINCHAM 

 
£1,286,612 
 

P
age 16



 11 

Developm
ent 
Address 

Area 
Receiving the 
S106 
Contribution 

Planning 
Agreement 
Number 

Affordable 
housing 
balance 
available after 
commitments  

Date of 
Receipt 

Expiry 
Date 

S106 details of how 
contribution can be spent 

S106 details of 
where contribution 
can be spent 

 
SALE 
 

Fairburn 
House 
Ashton 
Lane Sale 

Sale 86034/FUL/
2015 

£45,600 11/05/2017 11/05/2032 To be used specifically 
towards schemes to provide 
new affordable housing 
schemes, programmes for 
bringing vacant properties 
back into use as affordable 
housing and improving or 
converting existing housing to 
make it suitable as affordable 
housing in the local area. 

To be used in the local 
area of the 
development 

 
TOTAL FOR SALE 

 
£45,600 
 

 
 
 
 

P
age 17



 12 

APPENDIX 2 - s106 Affordable Housing Spend Research 
 
 

Organisation  Comments 

Bolton Used S106 funds for affordable housing to facilitate the 
delivery of new affordable housing as part of a joint 
programme with Bolton at Home. Bolton transferred the 
Council’s housing stock and associated land in 2011 to Bolton 
at Home. The Council took a decision to invest s106 monies 
alongside New Homes Bonus to support the development of 
new affordable housing on this land. The s106 and NHB 
monies sat alongside Homes England funding and Bolton at 
Homes investment, which in total enabled them to deliver 397 
units over 6 years. Bolton intended to use this funding for 
surveys, demolition and remediation to de-risk some of their 
sites and bring them forward for delivery. 

Wigan Wigan historically had very little in s106 commuted sums 
paid. Wigan use the money to contribute towards their Local 
Authority Mortgage Scheme (LAMS). At the time it was a 
cash backed scheme and Wigan placed £1m, part of which 
was s106 monies, to secure 52 LAMS mortgages.  
 
Wigan are also currently working on a proposal to undertake 
a purchase and repair scheme on a cluster of empty 
properties in a particular area of the borough. In addition, 
Wigan are looking at acquiring some bungalows from the 
private sector to address a shortage of this type of property in 
the social sector. 
 
 

Birmingham Birmingham’s106 sums are directed to the Birmingham 
Municipal Housing Trust scheme, which is the brand name for 
the Council’s new build programme. 
 
The Trust builds homes for social/affordable rent, market sale 
and PRS. S106s go towards funding the cost of building new 
Council homes. 
 

Islington In Islington, any affordable housing s106 funds the Council’s 
new build programme. In the majority of cases the Council 
insists on affordable housing on site rather than a commuted 
sum. The Council insists on a contribution of £50K per unit on 
small sites (under 10 units) which is also included in the new 
build programme. 
  
 
 

 
 
 

Page 18



 13 

Wakefield  Wakefield has used s106 commuted sums money to bring 
empty homes back into use through two RPs.  
 
There is a need to provide more specialist and supported homes 
in the Wakefield District and as such they have used some of 
the commuted sum to assist with funding the two officer posts to 
deliver this.   
 

Craven In Craven, they have spent s106 commuted sums on developing 
a few sites the Council own for shared ownership housing 
(Craven is a non-stock holding authority). These sites are former 
garage sites and they have used sums (along with Homes 
England grant) towards build costs.   
 
The Council have also used commuted sums towards 
conversion costs of our homeless hostel into self-contained flats; 
again alongside grant.   
 

Wokingham Wokingham are using s106 commuted sums monies for the 
following: 

 Fund regeneration of existing Council affordable housing in 
the borough. 

 Fund a Registered Provider or Wokingham Housing Limited 
(a Council owned subsidiary) to purchase properties on the 
open market for social, affordable, intermediate rent or for 
affordable home ownership options. 

 Fund a Wokingham Borough specific Equity Loan Scheme.  

 Fund purchase of land for development by a Registered 
Provider or Wokingham Housing Limited.  

 Make grant contributions to a Registered Provider or 
Wokingham Housing Limited towards site development and 
/ or construction costs on land already owned by the Council 
or Registered Provider - to bring forward development 
and/or improve tenure mix and enhance affordability for 
rental and affordable home ownership options. 

 Create Tenants Incentive Schemes and other opportunities 
to promote targeted voids in existing Council stock, for re-
letting to families (thus creating a cascade of voids in smaller 
units).  

 Fund a Registered Provider or Wokingham Housing Limited 
to purchase suitable completed new build units ‘off the shelf’ 
from a developer for rental / affordable home ownership. 

 

Waverly Waverly are using s106 commuted sums monies for the 
following: 

• To support the new build development of affordable housing 
or create additional, larger or a different tenure mix within the 
existing stock. 

• To provide ‘top up’ subsidy on schemes in order to make it 

Page 19



 14 

possible for a higher proportion of affordable homes for 
social rent. 

• To fund extra units of affordable housing on alternative sites.  
• To contribute to forward funding / kick-starting of schemes or 

to reducing funding gaps within pipeline / current affordable 
housing schemes and other similar initiatives according to 
scheme circumstances and the funding climate. 

 

Northumberland Northumberland are using s106 commuted sums monies for the 
following: 

• Building new affordable homes. 
• Improvement to existing homes to make them affordable 

and sustainable. 
• Initiatives that will help to support the development of 

sustainable, long-term affordable homes. 
• Funding the affordable element of supported housing 

schemes. 
• Buying houses offered to the council under the Right of First 

Refusal, related to the ‘Right to Buy’ provisions to be let at 
affordable rent. 

• Buying land for affordable housing. 
 

Ribble Valley Ribble Valley are using s106 commuted sums monies for the 
following: 

• Support for a registered provider to develop accommodation 
to meet the specific needs of older people in the borough. 

• Support for registered providers for both the development 
and acquisition of affordable housing including facilitating 
any necessary works of improvement or repair. 

• Purchase of affordable units to meet an identified need. 
• Support for specific initiatives to regenerate the existing 

housing stock, eg empty property grants. 
• Support for specific schemes which are developed to 

provide permanent/temporary homes to meet an identified 
need, eg affordable accommodation needs single young 
people. 

• Purchase of land by the Council to facilitate the provision of 
affordable housing. 

• Support the development of community land trusts across 
the borough.  

 

 
 
 

Page 20



 

 

TRAFFORD COUNCIL 
 
Report to: Executive  
Date: 17 September 2018 
Report for:  Decision 
Report of: Executive Member for Investment, Regeneration and Strategic 

Planning 
 

 
Student Accommodation 
 

 
Summary 

This report sets out proposals for the Council’s involvement and investment in the 
development and management of student accommodation in relation to UA92. 
 
 

 
 
Recommendations 

 
That the Executive: 
  

1. Approves that the Council enter into an agreement to secure an option to take 
on a lease of West Point on the terms set out in this report and in the related 
Part II report; 

2. Delegates authority  to the Corporate Director, Place in consultation with the 
Corporate Director for Governance and Community Strategy and the Corporate 
Director of Finance and Systems to finalise terms for the proposed agreement; 

3. Delegates authority to the Corporate Director for Place in consultation with the 
Executive Member for Investment, Regeneration and Strategic Planning, the 
Corporate Director for Governance and Community Strategy and the Corporate 
Director of Finance and Systems to exercise the option granted by the 
agreement and to call for a lease to be granted on the terms set out in the 
related Part II report 

4. Delegates authority to the Corporate Director for Governance and Community 
Strategy to enter into any documents required to implement the above 
recommendations; 

5. Agrees that the Council should continue to work with UA92 and other interested 
parties to facilitate and enable the development of student accommodation 
within Old Trafford and Stretford which is consistent with the proposed 
masterplanning for those areas, using the powers at its disposal where 
reasonable and appropriate and subject to further Executive approval as 
required.  
 

 

  
Contact person for access to background papers and further information: 
Name:    Richard Roe  
Telephone No:  x4265 
Background Papers:   None 
 
 Page 21

Agenda Item 6



 

 

Implications: 
 

Relationship to Policy 
Framework/Corporate Priorities 
 

This report relates to the corporate priority for 
economic growth and development 

Financial  As set out in the related Part II report. 
 

Legal Implications As set out in the report 

Equality/Diversity Implications No direct implications 

Resource Implications e.g. Staffing 
/ ICT / Assets 

No direct implications 

Risk Management Implications   As set out in the report 

Health & Wellbeing Implications No direct implications 

Health and Safety Implications No direct implications 

   
1.0 BACKGROUND 
 
1.1  Reports to the Executive on the 2nd October 2017 set out proposals for the 

establishment of a new university, University Academy ’92 (UA92), on the site of the 

former Kellogg’s headquarters on Talbot Road; a refreshed Stretford Masterplan for 

consultation; and proposals for the compulsory purchase of sites in Stretford Town 

Centre to be used for the development of student accommodation and ancillary uses. 

1.2 A subsequent report in January 2018 saw approval of the refereshed Streford 

Masterplan, and a further update on UA92 was provided to the Executive in March 

2018. On the 9th August 2018 Planning and Development Management Committee 

approved a planning application from Trafford Bruntwood LLP (a joint venture 

between the Council and Bruntwood) for the change of use of the former Kellogg’s 

building for educational use. 

1.3 The Council’s original proposal was to develop student accommodation 

predominately in the centre of Stretford. Following the consultation on the refreshed 

Stretford Masterplan, and in response to residents’ comments, it was proposed that 

the scale of development in Stretford be reduced and that it should provide for a mix 

of potential uses. As a consequence, alternative locations which would be suitable for 

the location of new student accommodation have been considered. 

1.4 The Council has established a Joint Venture with Equity Solutions (ES) under which it 

has the potential develop new student accommodation in partnership with ES on 

certain specified sites, should it wish to do so. 

1.5 The provision of suitable high quality student accommodation is a critical part of the 

overall UA92 offer to students, and to its on-going success. As a key partner, the 

Council is fully committed to UA92 and the regeneration benefits it will bring to the 

Borough, and the opportunities it will create for all residents, but in particular young 

people wishing to access higher education. UA92 will open to its first cohort of 

students in September 2019. The expected student numbers for 2019 are 650, 

increasing to 1250 in 2020. The Council and UA92 have been targeting providing 

student accommodation for approximately 50% of students in each year. 

2.0 CURRENT POSITION 
 Page 22



 

 

2.1 The Council, together with ES, considered a range of options for the development of 
student accommodation, with three principle opportunities identified as suitable and 
potentially deliverable for 2019 and 2020: 

 

West Point West Point is a former office block at Trafford Bar which has 
been converted to residential use. The conversion will be 
completed in 2018 and terms for an options agreement to 
lease up to the whole building (317 apartments, 327 beds) 
are being negotiated, subject to formal approval. 
 

Warwick House A current office block on Talbot Road, with permitted 
development rights. The Trafford ES JV has been in 
negotations seeking to acquire the property and has 
submitted a planning application for conversion of the 
building to student accommodation. The owner has 
subsequently advised they no longer wish to sell the 
property. 
 

Charlton House Charlton House is an empty office block on Chester Road, 
which has become a target for vandalism. The Council is 
seeking to acquire the site by agreement but is also 
progressing with a CPO if required given its derelict state 
and the regeneration benefits of redevelopment of the site. 
 

 
2.2 The financial and risk position with each property is set out in the associated Part II 

report. 
 
3.0  PROPOSED APPROACH 
 
3.1 The potential regeneration and economic benefits of the establishment of UA92 were 

assessed by SQW in an independent  Economic Impact Assessment, which has been 
previously published. This concluded that the proposals could support over 800 jobs 
and increase the size of the Trafford economy by around £33m per annum. Although 
the assessment was based on the proposals as they were originally developed, which 
would have seen the student accommodation being centred largely on and around 
the Lacey Street site in Stretford, its findings in relation to there being significant 
potential regeneration and economic benefits as a result of the UA92 proposal are 
still considered to be relevant. 

 
3.2 Given the potential economic impact, and the investment of UA92 in developing the 

university, it is considered appropriate that the Council further invest in supporting the 
project through providing student accommodation in the critical first year and possibly 
into the early years of its development. This will enable UA92 to establish itself and 
therefore be considered less of a   potential risk to mainstream student 
accommodation providers, who would not otherwise be prepared to invest in new 
facilities for an untried organisation. 

 
3.3 However, in the light of the potential costs and risks of developing student 

accommodation for subsequent years, the financial challenge facing the authority 
over the next three years, and the priority to provide affordable housing to meet the 
needs of existing Trafford residents, it is not considered appropriate for the Council to 
directly develop and manage student accommodation after 2019, other than as set 
out within this report. 

 Page 23



 

 

3.4  The proposed option agreement would allow the Council to serve notice on the 
owners of West Point to take on a lease of the whole or part of the property, to be 
sublet as student accommodation to students at UA92. The option agreement itself 
does not commit the Council to anything at this stage. It does however provide 
certainty for UA92 in promoting the university to students that there will be dedicated 
student accommodation available to students. The timing of the exercise of the option 
and the number of rooms the council would opt to take is linked to the UA92 
recruitment programme, which should allow the council to minimise its potential 
exposure to risk from voids in the property.  

 
3.5 In addition as a strategic partner, the Council will make full use of its enabling powers 

to support the development of student accommodation by others, including the use of 
CPO powers to enable land assembly and regeneration as required and the provision 
of investment capital where there is a robust commercial business case, in 
accordance with the Council’s Investment Strategy. 

 

4.0 Other Options 

4.1 The Council could determine not to enter into the agreement creating an option to 
take on a lease of West Point. Alternatively, it could agree to do so only for ther first 
year of the proposal, rather than agreeing a year on year option over the first three 
years of UA92’s operation. However, given the importance of student accommodation 
as part of the overall university offer this would put the project at risk as it is unlikely 
that an alternative provider would step in and take on the financial risk at this stage. It 
is appropriate for the council to take this risk given the regeneration benefits that will 
accrue from a successful university. 

4.2 The Council is also considering a number of alternative options in the event that the 
final terms of the options agreement for West Point are not satisfactory. A further 
report will be made to the Executive should any of these alternatives be required. 

4.2 The Council could determine to follow its original path and be a developer and 
provider of student accommodation, pursuing the opportunties set out in this report, 
or on other sites in partnership with ES. As set out elsewhere in this report, this is not 
considered appropriate given the overall risk position. 

5.0 Consultation 

5.1 There was extensive consultation on the Refreshed Stretford Masterplan in late 2017. 
Consultation is not required on the specific proposals set out in this report. 

 
6.0 Reasons for Recommendations 

6.1 To enable an options agreement and lease to be agreed and signed for West Point in 
support of UA92. 

 
Key Decision:   Yes 
 
If Key Decision, has 28-day notice been given?   Yes  

 
Finance Officer Clearance GB 

Legal Officer Clearance  JLF 
 
 Page 24



 

 

 
 

CORPORATE DIRECTOR’S SIGNATURE  

 
 
      
To confirm that the Financial and Legal Implications have been considered and the 
Executive Member has cleared the report. 
 

Page 25



This page is intentionally left blank



 1 

TRAFFORD COUNCIL 
 
Report to:   Executive 
Date:    17th September 2018 
Report for:    Decision  
Report of:  Executive Member for Investment, Regeneration and Strategic 

Planning 

  

 
Report Title 
 

 
Sale Town Centre - Public Realm and Movement Strategy 
 

 
Summary 
 

 
The report highlights the proposals contained within the Sale Town Centre Public 
Realm and Movement Strategy. 
 

 
Recommendation(s) 
 

 
It is recommended that Executive approves the Sale Town Centre Public Realm and 
Movement Strategy. 
 

   
Contact person for access to background papers and further information: 
 
Name:   Martin Ledson  
Extension:  4137 
 
 
Background Papers: None  
 
 

Page 27

Agenda Item 7



 2 

 
 
 
 

Relationship to Policy 
Framework/Corporate Priorities 

This supports the Council priority of “Economic Growth and 
Development”. 

Relationship to GM Policy or 
Strategy Framework  

The Strategy supports the GM Strategy “Our People, Our 
Place” which proposes bringing forward proposals for how 
the town centres can be modernised including quality public 
spaces and providing a good environment for walking and 
cycling. The Strategy also supports the GM Made to Move 
Strategy by encouraging increased walking and cycling. 

Financial  No direct financial implications from approving the strategy. 
Delivery will be dependent on the identification and 
availability of funding. 

Legal Implications: None arising specifically from the contents of this report.  
There may be requirements for highway and traffic orders in 
the future when detailed proposals are drawn up. 

Equality/Diversity Implications Not applicable 

Sustainability Implications Not applicable 

Resource Implications e.g. Staffing 
/ ICT / Assets 

Not applicable 

Risk Management Implications   Not applicable 

Health & Wellbeing Implications Not applicable 

Health and Safety Implications Not applicable 

 
1.  Background 
 
1.1 In August 2017, Trafford Council appointed Planit IE and Civic Engineers to produce a 

Public Realm and Movement Strategy for Sale town centre in order to guide targeted 
investment in public space, support the local economy and provide an improved 
environment appropriate for town centre uses. There was a particular focus on 
improving the linkages between the main areas and attractions in the town centre and 
providing a better environment for pedestrians and cyclists. The Public Realm and 
Movement Strategy report is attached as Appendix 1. 

 
2.  Sale Public Realm & Movement Strategy – Key Proposals 

 
2.1  Following stakeholder consultation sessions and a wider public consultation exercise 

the Strategy was finished in early 2018 and identified the following proposals to 
improve Sale Town Centre for residents, visitors and businesses. These can be 
summarized as follows: 
 

1) School Road (see page 62 in the Strategy) - Public realm improvements along the 
length of the high street and spilling into the side streets. Increased dwell time is 
encouraged with play, new trees and planting. The “Family Square” outside Boots 
would be a flexible, multifunctional space to meet, greet and play with opportunities for 
occasional events. Introduction of vehicular traffic at the street's western end could be 
possible in the evenings (the through traffic would go via Curzon Road, Wynnstay 
Road and Claremont Road). This would create more activity, which would make 
School Road feel safer, support the creation of an evening economy and make it 
easier for vehicles such as taxis to drop off and pick up passengers. 
 

2) Town Hall Junction (see page 68 in the Strategy)  – The proposals aim to improve the 
pedestrian environment and movement crossing the roads, improving visual 
connections and relationship between School Road, Town Hall / Waterside Centre 

Page 28



 3 

and Northenden Road. This will strengthen a key arrival point into Sale and improve 
legibility from the Metrolink station. A number of options have been tested for the 
junction outside the Town Hall and the most effective solution has been found to be an 
informal roundabout arrangement. This solution maintains the existing capacity whilst 
providing a single lane on entry and exit, allowing significant space to be reallocated 
from carriageway to footway and other uses. Lower traffic speeds would be 
encouraged through design and wider courtesy cross points at desire lines would 
improve pedestrian flow. 

 
3) Waterside Plaza (see page 75 in the Strategy)  – A new formal square outside the 

Town Hall would be formed from improved carriageway space and an improved 
canalside space would connect the town centre to the Bridgewater canal with new 
terracing and improved views, with a new rail replacing the brick wall. A new entrance 
plaza and planting would create a more inviting arrival experience to the Waterside 
building from the north. 

 
4) Northenden Road (see page 80 in the Strategy) – Reducing carriageway width and 

widened pavements with improved streetscape and spill-out opportunities for 
businesses. Additional crossing points and parking to support businesses and an 
improved junction with Hope Road and Broad Road. 

 
5) Sibson Road (see page 84 in the Strategy) - Narrowed carriageway and introduction 

of a segregated two-way cycle lane. Pedestrian courtesy crossing points and 
opportunity for a linear greenspace adjacent to the road. The proposals would link in 
with the new Square Proposals and the New Square that would be created at the 
junction of Sibson Road and Springfield Road. 

  
6) Springfield Road (See the Masterplan on page 50/51 in the Strategy) – Reduced 

carriageway width allows for wider pavement outside Springfield Primary School. This 
will not only create a safer environment outside of the School but will also provide 
more space for parents and children during collection and drop off. Additional courtesy 
crossings provide opportunities for improved east-west connectivity. 

 
7) Ashfield Road (See the Masterplan on page 50/51 in the Strategy) – Introduction of 

new pedestrian courtesy crossing points in strategic locations to maximise the ease of 
crossing and improve the connection with residential areas. Additional trees, improved 
paving and parking opportunities will enhance the overall look and experience of the 
street.   

 
8) Washway Road/ Cross Street (See the Masterplan on page 50/51 in the Strategy) – A 

proposal for improved signal crossings to allow pedestrians to cross the junctions in a 
single move has been included for illustrative purposes. A wider study looking 
specifically at the function of the A56 is recommended.  

 

3.  Strategic Context 
 
3.1  The Council is committed to improving the borough’s town centres and significant 

investment in public realm improvements has already been made in Altrincham and 
Stretford, with further works to follow. A focus on Sale fits with this overarching 
approach to transform the borough’s town centres to benefit residents, businesses 
and visitors. The Strategy meets the Corporate Priority of ‘Economic Growth and 
Development’, Vision 2031 and the Trafford Economic Growth and Housing 
Framework. It also complements GM priorities, including the Greater Manchester 
Strategy and Made to Move Strategy.  

Page 29



 4 

  
 
4. Costs and Delivery 
 
4.1  In terms of funding an outline cost plan has been developed to give an indication of 

the ‘whole project costs’ for the specific areas detailed within the Strategy. The total 
figure required to deliver the entire vision, taken as indicative budgets only as at 
November 2017, is estimated at c£10.6 million but detailed design work would be 
required to determine the actual costs. Indicative costs for each of the areas outlined 
in Section 2 above are found on page 93 in the Strategy.  

 
4.2 A similar approach will be taken to that which has been successful in Altrincham 

where a funding package made up of a mix of public sector / grant funding and 
developer contributions has been used to deliver public realm improvements. As with 
Altrincham, it is proposed that the vision would be implemented over a number of 
phases based on the availability of funding and level of priority. It is expected that it 
would take some time to deliver all areas of the Strategy. 

 
4.3  Initial discussions have taken place with TfGM regarding potential funding 

opportunities, including Growth Deal and to secure resources the Transforming Cities 
Fund / Made to Move initiative seems like the most realistic opportunity at this time. 
This will be picked up in the ongoing discussions and network planning sessions that 
are taking place with the GM Walking and Cycling Commissioner's advisers. 

 
4.4  An initial discussion has also taken place with the Heritage Lottery Fund (HLF) and a 

project enquiry form for the Heritage Grants scheme will be submitted focusing on 
works to open up the canal (i.e. works to the canal wall) and works to improve the 
setting of the Town Hall and War Memorial. 

 
4.5  In terms of developer contributions (Section 106, Section 111, CIL), discussions have 

taken place with the developers of the proposed redevelopment of The Square 
Shopping Centre. Similar discussions will take place in due course with developers as 
other nearby redevelopments emerge. 

 
4.6 At the Members and Stakeholder meetings in November 2017, both groups expressed 

a view that the Town Hall Junction and the eastern section of School Road linking to 
the Metrolink station should be the priority as they feel this is fundamental to improving 
the sense of arrival in the town centre and would improve the relationship between the 
predominantly retail-focused School Road and the restaurant and café culture on 
Northenden Road / Waterside Plaza. This could therefore form the basis of a first 
phase subject to securing resources. 

 
5. Next Steps 
 
5.1  Following Executive approval the Strategy will be used to support funding bids and 

make a case for securing other investment. The source and timing of funding coming 
forward will influence the phasing plan which has been deliberately designed to be 
flexible and adaptable.  

 
6. Other Options 
 
6.1 The lack of a detailed strategy for improving the public realm in Sale town centre 

would have an adverse effect on the future viability of the town centre, and seriously 
hinder the ability to secure external funding. 

Page 30



 5 

 
7.  Consultation 
 
7.1 A comprehensive stakeholder engagement exercise was implemented to ensure that 

local Members, businesses and residents were able to shape the proposals 
throughout the Strategy process and ensure that the final proposals meet local needs. 
This included: 

 

 Specific consultation with the owners of The Square shopping centre and their 
consultants to ensure a co-ordinated and holistic approach. 

 Initial Member and stakeholders workshops on 2nd and 3rd August 2017 to identify key 
issues and priorities. 

 A consultation event in the Square Shopping Centre on 30th September 2017. Around 
250 visitors attended throughout the day and over 100 questionnaires were completed 
on the day. 

 Information about the Strategy and potential initiatives were made available on the 
Council’s website and in Sale Library for two weeks with an online questionnaire. A 
further 500 responses were received online. 

 Two further workshops on 28th and 30th November 2017 with Members and 
Stakeholders to collect views and feedback on the proposals.  

 
7.2 As can be seen, the consultation carried out generated a lot of interest and the 

majority of the public were positive that the Council has commissioned this work. 
Some of the key points identified through the consultation included: 

 

 General agreement with the overall vision. 

 More greenery. 

 Better links to canal. 

 Encourage bar / restaurant culture.  

 Improve lighting / security. 

 Mixed opinions about whether to open up School Road to traffic / cyclists.  

 Improve crossing outside the Town Hall and improve connections between School Road 
and Northenden Road. 

 Improve street furniture / seating. 

 More markets and events. 
 
8.     Reasons for Recommendation 

 
8.1  It is recommended that Executive approves the Sale Public Realm and Movement 

Strategy to provide a coordinated approach for future improvements, and to enable 
the Council to take advantage of funding opportunities by having a clear and 
comprehensive strategy for the town centre. 

 
Key Decision    No  
 
Finance Officer Clearance (type in initials)…PC…………… 

Legal Officer Clearance (type in initials)…CK………… 

 
 

[CORPORATE] DIRECTOR’S SIGNATURE (electronic)  

To confirm that the Financial and Legal Implications have been considered and the Executive 
Member has cleared the report. 
 

Page 31



This page is intentionally left blank



A Fantastic 
Town Centre
A VISION FOR THE 
FUTURE OF SALE

Page 33

3088455
Typewritten Text
Sale Town CentrePublic Realm and Movement Strategy Appendix 1



DOCUMENT CONTROL
FILE NAME

P L 1 7 4 1 - I D - 0 0 1 - 0 3

PREPARED BY (INITIALS)

A S

 CHECKED BY (INITIALS)

M W  L H 

TRANSPORT

C I V I C 
E N G I N E E R S

DATE

J A N  2 0 1 8

 

2

Page 34



CONTENTS 3
FOREWORD 5

1 INTRODUCTION 7

INTRODUCTION 8
THE PROCESS 10
A FANTASTIC TOWN CENTRE 12
ACHIEVING OUR AIMS 13
INTRODUCTION TO SALE 16

2 SALE TOWN CENTRE TODAY 21

PUBLIC REALM  22
MOVEMENT 24
SALE'S VISIONS AND GOALS - ACCORDING TO POLICY 26
SALE'S BIG PROJECTS 27
A REAL ENGAGEMENT PROCESS 28
THE PUBLIC CONSULTATION 32
PUBLIC CONSULTATION RESPONSES 34

3 A FANTASTIC TOWN CENTRE 39

VISION 41
VALUES & MOMENTUM 41
ALTRINCHAM TOWN CENTRE 42
GREY TO GREEN, SHEFFIELD 43
DESIGN PRINCIPLES 44
THE MASTERPLAN 50
PUBLIC REALM 52
SEAMLESS MOVEMENT 54
IDENTITY 58

4 THE SPACES 61

SCHOOL ROAD - DETAIL 01 62
TOWN HALL JUNCTION  - DETAIL 02 68
WATERSIDE PLAZA  - DETAIL 03 75
NORTHENDEN ROAD - DETAIL 04 80
SIBSON ROAD  - DETAIL 05 84

5 GOING FORWARD 89

IMPLEMENTATION PLAN 90
OUTLINE COST PLAN 93

CONTENTS
 

3

Page 35



 

4

Page 36



FOREWORD

Trafford Borough Council have appointed 
Planit-IE and Civic Engineers to undertake 
a Public Realm and Movement Strategy for 
Sale Town Centre. 

The ambition is to create a Fantastic Town 
Centre through a collaborative design 
approach that will seek to breathe new life 
into the town centre public realm, in turn 
attracting inward investment to create a 
sustainable neighbourhood centre for years 
to come. 

Through strategic public realm and 
infrastructure improvements - particularly 
pedestrian, cycle and vehicle movement on 
one side and public realm, street furniture 
and de-cluttering on the other, we hope to 
instigate positive change in the town centre 
to attract the required enthusiasm and 
investment.

We will create a town centre that is 
functional, inclusive, sustainable, fun, 
beautiful and unique. These themes have 
been chosen to respond to both the existing 
retail and leisure uses in the town, but also 
the thriving residential neighbourhoods that 
share the town centre locality - particularly 
the families, teenagers and children.

Our work identifies key areas within the 
town centre, where new proposals focus 
on improving the external environment to 
create a more pleasant and functional space 
for all people.

They particularly focus on:

Improved traffic solutions and easier 
connectivity (junction by Town Hall, 
Washway Road/Cross Street, Sibson Road, 
Ashfield Road), and;

Public realm improvements (School Road, 
Town Hall, Waterside Centre and Bridge, 
Family Square in front of The Square, 
Northenden Road). 

These are not seen as individual 
interventions, but parts of an overall, 
interconnected masterplan. 

W H Y A ST RAT EGY ?

On paper, Sale town centre seems like a 
thriving economic and social environment: 
low retail vacancy rates and independent 
retailers on or around the high street, local 
leisure and public facilities, abundant street 
planting and the canal, a public square and 
arts and creative offer in Sale Waterside, a 
strong housing stock and wider linkages to 
surrounding green areas. 

However, in some respects the town centre 
is underperforming and does not provide 
an attractive environment for residents or 
visitors. Particular connectivity issues with 
the surrounding residential areas have been 
raised, as well as daily traffic congestion.

Sale lacks a kind of specialness that makes 
residents proud to belong there and visitors 
eager to come and be a part of the streetlife. 
Providing residents, workers and visitors 
with a good array of shops and services 
isn't enough these days - life has become 
increasingly experiential. Historically, town 
centre experiences were as much about 'who 
you saw' in town, much rather than 'what you 
bought'. With the rise of internet shopping 
and big-box convenience retail, much of that 
experience has been lost. 

However, we think town centres are 
changing. They are becoming more like what 
they once were. 

We think the town centre of the future is 
a place to visit, engage, relax and enjoy - as 
much as it is to shop.

We believe the existing assets in Sale 
town centre can support this, as can the 
community - it has the potential for a 
forward-thinking, modern, but timeless 
solution.

 

5

Page 37



 

6

Page 38



Introduction

71
Introduction

Page 39



A B O U T T H E  AU T H O R S

Planit-IE are landscape architects and 
urbanists who have a deep fascination in 
the way we live our lives. Their work is 
multi-faceted and far-reaching. They work 
on large-scale dense, gritty urban sites to 
sensitive greenfield one-off developments; 
each time giving the project the time, 
dedication and thought process it deserves.

Planit-IE are Altrincham based, and have 
spent recent years writing town centre 
strategies all over the country.

Civic Engineers are civil, structural and 
transport engineers, passionate about 
the public realm and how to enable 
transformational change through application 
of our engineering expertise. They are 
based in Manchester city centre and have 
engineered a significant number of award 
winning projects in the region, many with 
Planit-IE.

P U R P O S E  O F T H I S  ST RAT EGY

The aim of this document is to guide targeted 
investment in public space, support the 
local economy and provide an attractive and 
connected town centre. 

Sale has a number of strong, unique assets 
that can support a vibrant town centre: a 
young population within an established 
community, a number of public and cultural 
institutions, direct access to the Bridgewater 
Canal, a compact urban fabric and an 
established retail trade. Nevertheless, it is in 
strong competition with other town centres 
in Greater Manchester, as well as the nearby 
Trafford Centre and Manchester city centre. 
It has found itself being unattractive to many 
residents and unknown to potential visitors.

This strategy identifies Sale's intrinsic 
features and uses them as catalysts to create 
a strong and lively town centre for all Sale 
residents, businesses and visitors.

Specifically, the strategy aims to define a plan 
for a:

• Beautiful shopping, dwelling, play and 
dining environment in the town centre

• Safe, straightforward and easy movement 
solutions for both pedestrians, cyclist and 
drivers

• Events calendar that would invite 
residents and visitors to spend more time 
in Sale town centre

• Create a new destination on Greater 
Manchester's map, for both day- and 
evening activities

• Attract investment for a diverse retail and 
service offer, and;

• Act as a catalyst for wider improvements 
and development in Sale. 

This strategy is to be used as a tool for 
attracting investment to Sale, helping make 
it a high quality town centre and an attractive 
destination for daytime and evening 
activity and economy. But it is also a means 
of communicating a vision for Sale town 
centre for both stakeholders and residents. 
Therefore, it is intended that this document 
is: 

• Understandable for everyone 
By using a suitable and understandable 
language, we insure that this Strategy will be 
attractive to not only decision makers and 
investors, but also to residents and businesses 
as they have, through a collaborative 
consultation process, contributed to it.

• Legible 
Compact and legible, this document will get 
straight to the point, finding solutions for 
Sale's challenges and communicating them 
in a easy and simple form. Easy to navigate 
by dividing the content into 5 chapters, the 
document is a selling point for all that Sale 
can be.

• Deliverable 
Providing solutions that are realistic to 
achieve and that benefit the Council, 
stakeholders, businesses and residents, as 
well as the environment; contributing to 
healthier living spaces, quality of life and the 
long term image of Sale.

INTRODUCTION
Introduction

8

Page 40



T H E  M AST E R P L A N

The Strategy covers an indicative area of Sale, 
that is loosely related to the official town 
centre boundary defined in the Trafford 
Unitary Development Plan. It is bound by 
Ashfield Road to the north, Sibson Road to 
the south, Springfield Road to the east and 
the A56 to the west. 

It includes the Town Hall, Waterside Centre 
and the plaza adjacent to the Bridgewater 
Canal, continuing towards the area around 
Sale Metrolink Station and finally Northeden 
Road and surrounding roads. 

Particular emphasis in this strategy is given 
to School Road, Sale's pedestrianised High 
Street, which will become the reference 
point for the character of the whole scheme. 
This will permeate into the side streets, 
facilitating their activation and connectivity 
with adjacent facilities. 

INDICATIVE SITE BOUNDARY

Introduction

9

Page 41



The Sale Public Realm and Movement 
Strategy has been produced following a 
thorough and robust iterative process, with a 
strong input from local stakeholders and the 
community, and with the goal of providing a  
town centre site-specific response. 

A series of fortnightly meetings with 
Trafford Council were held throughout the 
process, where the design team briefed the 
client about the progress , and allowed an 
exchange of experiences and ideas as the 
project developed. Site visits were repeated 
throughout the process, at different times of 
day to understand the rhythm and movement 
pattens in the town centre.

In July 2017 the design team, together with 
the Council undertook a Best Practice and 
Lessons Learnt study trip to Sheffield to 
study the Grey to Green retrofit urban 

drainage scheme. This project was chosen 
as an example of both sustainable systems 
in practice but more importantly that with 
a strong, shared and committed vision even 
'the impossible' can be achieved.

The process continued with on-site, baseline 
data and urban design analyses, movement 
surveys and a landscape quality audit, before 
beginning the engagement process with 
a town centre stakeholders and Trafford 
Council Elected Members workshops.

Following production of the outline 
designs, the design team engaged the public 
through a day long workshop. The findings 
from this consultation exercise were again 
implemented back into the design before 
final proposals were submitted to Trafford 
Council for review and approval.

THE PROCESS

Inception Meeting

Baseline Analysis, Data Collection
Design Proposals

Engagement with Stakeholders

Presentation to Working Group

Review by Trafford Council

Wider consultation
Best Practice Workshop

June 2017 July 2017 August 2017 September 2017 October 2017

P R OJ ECT T I M E L I N E

Introduction

10

Page 42



Production of Final Proposals

Production of Final Document

Project Complete

Presentation to Working Group

Review by Trafford Council

Sign off Content

Public Consultation

September 2017 October 2017 November 2017 December 2017

Introduction

11

ANALYSIS REFINE 
THE IDEAS

INCORPORATE 
FEEDBACK & 
REFINE THE 

MASTERPLAN

STAKEHOLDER 
WORKSHOP 
TO DEFINE 
THE BRIEF

BEST 
PRACTICE 

STUDY  
TRIP

ISSUE 
VISION 

DOCUMENT

DRAFT 
MASTERPLAN

PUBLIC 
CONSULTATION 

& FEEDBACK

Page 43



F U N CT I O N A L

First and foremost, Sale town centre will 
become a well functioning environment for 
business, movement and dwelling. It will 
create a comfortable and safe environment for 
pedestrians and shoppers; guiding their route, 
and if they choose, slowing them down to 
enjoy all that is happening on the high street.

Good street lighting will extend the high 
street's use into the evening hours, with a 
selection of restaurants and bars offering 
an alternative to Altrincham and other 
surrounding town centres, including 
Manchester City Centre. The high street 
becomes a beautiful backdrop to the uses, 
customers keeping an eye on the street, 
making passers-by feel safe.

I N C LU S I V E

The masterplan will offer opportunities 
to spend time in the town centre, without 
necessarily having to spend money in the 
town. This can be seen as controversial - but 
the ability for the public to engage publicly 
and freely is a key component of a successful 
town centre - a variety of seating and dwelling 
opportunities will invite people to rest, eat 
their lunch or just observe the street life, alone 
or with a friend. It will become an inviting 
and comfortable environment for everyone 
to use and enjoy, regardless of their age and 
background.

B E AU T I F U L

With the help of planting and biodiversity, 
the town centre will become a beautiful 
environment that people will be proud of, take 
care of and actively enjoy through dwelling, 
play, or just passing through.

The solution will be timeless, maturing 
through the years; the planting interesting 
throughout the seasons, varied and creating 
different atmospheres throughout the town 
centre.

S U STA I N A B L E

Creating an environmentally sustainable town 
centre will be fundamental to the success and 
longevity of the public realm. 

New green infrastructure will improve the 
town centre microclimate, providing cooling 
and shading, whilst contributing to enhanced 
biodiversity and the management of surface 
water. The aspiration is for Sale town centre 
to become an exemplar of beautiful, easy to 
maintain, functional  urban nature.

F U N

Adding to its functionality and beauty, the 
landscape will be fun, catering to children 
through multifunctional urban furniture 
that will encourage play, movement and 
exploration, without being childish. The busy 
town centre will make it interesting to walk 
through and linger, and even just passively 
engage. An environment fun for children, cool 
for teenagers and pleasant for seniors.

U N I Q U E

Our goal is to create a strong image for Sale, 
a recognisable urban landscape enjoyed 
throughout the seasons and built on existing 
established assets. Together with the town 
centre's landmark buildings, it will create an 
identity for Sale like no other in the Greater 
Manchester area. 

A FANTASTIC TOWN CENTRE

We hope to create a strategy that is memorable and unique for Sale. That requires a holistic 
approach that takes into consideration a wide variety of factors to create a thorough, but 
simple solution for Sale town centre. Sustainable, robust and timeless, it will become a catalyst 
for not only economic development, but community building and lifestyle changes.

12

Introduction

Page 44



ACHIEVING OUR AIMS

. . . I N  T H E  P U B L I C  R E A L M . . .

The following pages show the principles 
represented through conceptual drawings.

This public realm strategy seeks to create a 
framework for a town centre that supports 
social, economic and recreational activities, 
help increase the time people spend there and 
builds a sense of pride and belonging. The 
use of green and blue infrastructure and a 
range of high quality urban furniture aims to 
beautify the public realm and thus facilitate 
activity on the streets.

Introduction

13

Page 45



. . .T H R O U G H  S E A M L ES S  M OV E M E N T. . .

A thorough rethinking of traffic flow and 
organisation within and around the town 
centre will be undertaken to improve the 
carriageways, junctions and parking. The 
aim is to achieve seamless movement of 
pedestrians, a practical and safe environment 
for cyclists and an easy thoroughfare and 
access for vehicles. Overall, the masterplan 
will encourage walking and cycling into and 
within the town centre, inspire healthier 
lifestyles and achieve a cleaner environment.

Introduction

14

Page 46



. . .W I T H  H I G H  Q UA L I T Y R E TA I L .

££

£

£
£

£

£

£

£ £
£

£
£

£

£

Creating the right public realm that attracts 
residents and visitors, alongside new and 
improved connections will support the 
current retail and service offer, as well 
as attracting new business, encouraging 
investment and contributing to Sale's 
economy. Such a fantastic high street can 
also support a diverse retail, drink and food 
offer, that will extend the high street's use 
into the evening hours.

Introduction

15

Page 47



INTRODUCTION TO SALE

A H I STO RY AS  A CO M M U T E R 
TOW N

Sale lies along the lines of one of UK's 
main Roman routes - between the 
fortresses in Chester (Deva Victrix) and 
York (Eboracum), via Manchester's fort 
Mamucium.

It first boomed after the Bridgewater Canal 
reached the town in 1765, providing an 
easy and cheap connection to Manchester, 
stimulating urbanisation and eventually 
absorbing the Cross Street village. 

After the arrival of the Manchester South 
Junction and Altrincham Railway in 1849, 
Sale flourished as a commuter town for 
Manchester, with an influx of middle 
class population, particularly into the new 
villas in Sale Moor. Sale merged with the 
neighbouring Ashton upon Mersey in 1929 
and continued to thrive as a commuter town, 
particularly with the building of the M60 and 
Metrolink tram network.

Its steady growth continued until the early 
1980s, when the decline of population 
followed that of the Trafford and Greater 
Manchester industries. This trend continued 
in the following decades.

A D ES I RA B L E  P L AC E  TO  L I V E

Today, the overall perception of Sale within 
the Greater Manchester context can be 
summarised as being a somewhat affordable 
suburb (compared to other equivalent 
suburbs in south Manchester), popular due 
to its proximity to some excellent schools and 
links to central Manchester. 

A survey undertaken earlier in 2017 by 
the Centre of Economics and Business 
Research and Royal Mail found that Sale is 
England's 4th most desirable town to live in. 
People highlighted the area's abundance of 
good primary and secondary schools, more 

affordable housing, proximity to Manchester 
City Centre, good transport links, greenspace 
and not least a sense of community and 
neighbourliness as Sale's attributes. 

The town centre though isn't perceived as 
attractive enough to visit for 'non-locals' and 
there’is a lack of awareness that there’is an 
existing high quality independent restaurant 
offer, primarily concentrated on Northenden 
Road. 

E V E N T S  &  CO M M U N I T Y

Sale has a number of established, popular 
events, both annual and one-offs.

Sale Arts Trail is a biannual event in June, 
when artists take over the Waterside Arts 
Centre for one day. It gathers Trafford's 
artists, designers, photographers and makers.

Sale Festival is an annual summer festival, 
concentrating on communal events 
throughout Sale.

There is a Christmas market each year, as 
well as a Christmas light switch on.

In summer 2016 one of Sale's most popular 
events took place. Sale Art Zoo was an 
8-week urban exhibition that celebrated 
Chester Zoo founder and Sale native George 
Mottershed with colourfully decorated life-
size animals displayed throughout the town 
centre. Some of the exhibition pieces are still 
scattered around the town centre.

This community art exhibition in Sale's 
public realm was facilitated by Two by 
Two Hurrah, that specialises in community  
art events and projects, particularly with 
children, hoping to facilitate a sense of pride 
and ownership in Sale. 

The Facebook group M33 Sale has almost 
11,000 members with the aim of creating and 
improving the community in Sale.

IMAGES OPPOSITE: SCENES FROM SALE TOWN CENTRE

Introduction

16

Page 48



17

Introduction

Page 49



10K

0K

30K

50K

20K

40K

60K
18

0
1

819

12,088

55,234

18
8
1

18
4
1

18
2
1

19
0
1

19
2
1

19
6
1

19
9
1

19
11

19
3
1

19
4
1

19
5
1

19
8
1

19
7
1

2
0
0
1

18
6
1

18
11

18
9
1

18
5
1

18
3
1

18
7
1

P O P U L AT I O N  G R OW T H

W I D E R  CO N N ECT I O N S

Sale is well connected to surrounding towns 
and cities through a number of strategic links, 
including the A56 which joins Altrincham 
to the south and Manchester to the north, 
the A6144 and the M60 Manchester Outer 
Ring Road, which is connected by the A56 at 
junction 7. 

The Metrolink is well positioned to the east 
of the town centre and provides regular 
services to Altrincham, Bury, Etihad Campus 
and Manchester Airport. 

In addition to this, the canal towpath 
provides a suitable route for journeys by foot 
or bicycle to Manchester to the north and 
Altrincham to the south.

The town centre is well served by a number 
of bus services which generally operate 
around its perimeter, along Northenden 
Road and the A56. Bus operators provide 
regular bus services to and from Stockport, 
Manchester Airport, Altrincham and 
Manchester City Centre. 

All town centre bus stops are within a 5 
minute walk from School Road and generally 
benefit from bus shelters with timetable 
information. 

G R E E N S PAC E

There is a number of mature greenspaces 
within walking distance of Sale town centre, 
including Worthington Park, Ashton Road 
Park, Kelsall Street Park, Walkden Gardens 
and Walton Road Park.

A few allotment gardens dispersed 
throughout Sale are available for citizens.

To the north the Mersey River Valley 
as part of the North West Green Belt 
creates a natural green boundary towards  
neighbouring towns.

Sale Water Park, with its large artificial lake 
and the Trafford Water Sports Centre, is 
a popular recreational destination for the 
whole of Greater Manchester, as well as an 
important wildlife reserve. It serves as flood 
defence for the surrounding Trafford area, 
joining Chorlton Water Park along with 
others as a flood basin.

Originally built to transport coal, today 
the Bridgewater Canal has an important 
transport and recreational purpose, 
connecting Sale to the North West's main 
waterway network.

S C H O O L S

A number of primary schools serve Sale, 
along with Sale High School and Sale 
Grammar School. Their outdoor spaces and 
playgrounds serve an important recreational 
and leisure role for their pupils.

Introduction

18

Page 50



KEY

Indicative Site Boundary

Public Open Space

Sport Courts

Allotments

Water

Town Centre

School

Traffic-free route on the National Cycle Network 
along Bridgewater Canal

5 minute (400m) walking distance

SALE IS SURROUNDED BY A NUMBER OF QUALITY GREENSPACES, SPORTS FACILITIES AND CLUBS, AS WELL AS PRIMARY AND SECONDARY 
SCHOOLS THAT MAKE THE AREA ATTRACTIVE FOR FAMILIES

TRAFFORD METROVIK RFCC

ASHTON PARK

SALE CEMETERY

WALTON PARK

TRAFFORD ROWING CLUB

WALTON PARK INDOOR 
FOOTBALL CENTRE

BROOKLANDS SPORTS CLUB

WALKDEN GARDENS

WORTHINGTON PARK

CROSSFORD BRIDGE 
PLAYING FIELDS

MOOR NOOK 
PARK

PRIORY GARDENS

SALE WATER PARK

SELSEY AVENUE 
PLAYING FIELDS

ASHTON ON MERSEY 
GOLF COURSE

Introduction

19

  

Page 51



Introduction

20

Page 52



Sale Town Centre Today

21

2
Sale Town 
Centre Today

Page 53



PUBLIC REALM 

The baseline analysis and engagement 
workshops demonstrated the huge potential 
Sale has to become a Fantastic Town Centre. 
It has also identified problematic features and 
unrealised potential that result in a currently 
under-performing high street; an outdated 
and cluttered public realm, congested 
traffic conditions and an unattractive retail 
environment.

This Strategy aims to identify the existing 
assets and intrinsic characteristics of Sale and 
use them to their full advantage, creating the 
framework for a modern town centre fit for 
the community calling Sale their home. 

S E N S E  O F A R R I VA L

Which ever way visitors enter Sale Town 
Centre, they will understand that they have 
arrived. The lack of orientation when exiting 
Sale Metrolink station, as well as a lack of a 
recognition when driving through Sale on 
the A56 are to be improved. We seek to create 
a welcoming experience with landmarks, 
intelligent wayfinding and recognisable 
features to guide movement and put Sale on 
the map.

A FA N TAST I C  H I G H  ST R E E T

Sale has a number of established streets and 
spaces which have the potential of anchoring 
a wider public realm strategy. 

School Road has a fine scale, pleasantly 
framed by buildings with dense active 
ground floor uses. It is however, perceived 
as messy and cluttered, with unkempt trees 
obstructing long views and darkening the 
street. But because of its human scale and 
density of uses, it has potential of becoming 
the town centre's focal point and unmissable 
destination and this should be exploited.

S PAC ES  TO  E N J OY

The area in front of the Town Hall, the 
area around Bridgewater Canal and the 

bridge are only a few of the many spaces to 
be improved that have more potential than 
they offer now. Through opportunities that 
encourage activities such as dwelling, play 
and recreation, these spaces can become 
destinations throughout the seasons.

Although the Bridgewater Canal is a popular 
recreational route, in Sale there are very few 
opportunities to sit near its tow path or enjoy 
the water and activities. People find water 
extremely attractive and opportunities to look 
at or interact with it should be created.

Northeden Road on the eastern side 
of the canal is home to a row of bars, 
restaurants and shops thriving in a way that 
is comparable to the popular Chorlton. It's 
individuality is important and a stronger 
connection with the high street will benefit 
both sides of the town.

A N C H O R  B U I L D I N G S 

Landmark buildings such as the Town Hall, 
The Bulls Head Pub and St. Paul's Church 
have the presence to "hold" the public realm 
around them. School Road also benefits 
from a number of beautiful buildings, some 
of them vacant, that have the potential of 
becoming successful commercial spaces.      

A S E N S E  O F P L AC E

What perhaps characterises Sale the most is 
its relationship with the  Bridgewater Canal. 
Otherwise, despite its qualities known to 
the residents, it is not a destination on the 
map and not easily differentiated from its 
neighbours. This Strategy with its proposals 
seeks to identify that which is or will 
become unique in Sale, using it as a common 
denominator throughout the town centre and 
making it a source of pride for the residents, 
as well as an attraction for visitors and 
investment.

Sale Town Centre Today

22

Page 54



ST. PAUL'S CHURCH

SAINSBURY'S

TESCO

ALDI

M&S

SALE TOWN HALL

THE STEAMHOUSE
AMPHORA

MUSTARD

TABLE 10

SALE 
METROLINK 
STATION

SPRINGFIELD PRIMARY SCHOOL

WATERSIDE CENTRE

SALE LIBRARY

THE RAILWAY PUB

SALE MASONIC HALL

SALE LEISURE CENTRE

TRAFFORD COUNCIL

THE BULLS HEAD PUB

BEAN & BRUSH FAMILY ART CAFE

KEY

The Square Shopping Centre

Landmark buildings

Supermarket

Metrolink tram station

Existing trees

A VARIETY OF SUPERMARKETS ARE LOCATED IN THE TOWN CENTRE, WITH ESTABLISHED PUBLIC INSTITUTIONS SERVING THE RESIDENTS

T R E ES

Sale's trees are one of its most important assets - the 
trees on School Road, in front of Town Hall and on the 
surrounding streets give it a green character which this 
strategy seeks to enhance. Trees are immensely important 
in urban environments - not only do they beautify 
streets and squares, they contribute to a more pleasant 
microclimate, mitigate extreme temperatures, purify air 
and bring what is really our natural environment closer to 
us - nature.

In Sale, trees will serve a few main purposes. They will 
become elements of space creation and identity (School 
Road), announce the town on key edges (Washway Road/
Cross Street) and become a connecting element through 
the town and beyond.

L I G H T I N G

Lighting plays an important part of any external 
environment and a well considered lighting scheme can 
create both a feeling of safety and also provide visual 
interest in the hours of darkness.

The Strategy proposals will seek to provide a level of 
safety throughout the town centre, but also contribute to 
creating a vibrant environment after daylight hours.

Safe and attractive lighting is critical to extending the 
economy of the town and ensuring businesses have the 
opportunity to trade into the evening, and visitors have 
the ability to explore the town throughout the day and 
into the evening.

Sale Town Centre Today

23

Page 55



The Strategy will create a safer, more pleasant 
pedestrian environment and hopefully 
encourage walking and cycling through an 
improved streetscape, leading to a safer, more 
vibrant and happier Sale.  

P E D EST R I A N  E N V I R O N M E N T

There is a clear need to shift the movement 
focus from the vehicles to the pedestrian.

Sale town centre is relatively compact and 
it takes around 5 minutes to walk through, 
benefiting from the predominantly 
pedestrianised high street. All roads 
have footways and street lighting, but 
the organisation of the signal controlled 
pedestrian crossings make the roads difficult 
to cross. Their de-cluttering and rethinking 
will make pedestrian movement more 
straightforward, but still keep it safe.

There is only one suitable place to cross the 
canal within the vicinity of the town centre, 
with other crossing places located 800m to 
the north and 1,000m to the south.

There is a lack of connectivity with 
surrounding residential areas, particularly the 
ones to the south. A more permeable urban 
form is expected with the proposed Square 
redevelopment.

Seamless, safe circumstances for pedestrian 
movement encourage walking and dwelling, 
particularly for the more vulnerable members 
of the society - children, elderly and the 
disabled.

CYC L I N G

Crossing the town centre by bike takes 
around 2 minutes. Sale benefits from 
a number of high quality cycle routes, 
particularly the National Cycle Network 
(NCN) Regional Route 82 which runs 
parallel to the Bridgewater Canal. Cycle 
parking is provided in numerous locations 
around the town centre, including a new 
cycle hub which operates  at Sale Metrolink 
station. 

The 2011 Census Journey to Work data 
indicated that just 3% of people within Sale 
currently travel to work by bicycle. Good 
cycling infrastructure and education can 
encourage people to use this healthy mode of 
traffic more often and Sale as a a compact and 
connected  town has a huge opportunity of 
becoming a role model in cycling.

V E H I C U L A R  M OV E M E N T

The main body of traffic in Sale runs along 
the A56, which forms a key strategic route 
from Altrincham to Manchester city centre. 
A medium to high volume of traffic is found 
around the perimeter of the town centre, and 
at peak times queues of cars line the roads at 
junctions.

Movement patterns and flows were analysed 
through observation and traffic counts and 
the Strategy will seek to reorganise junctions 
and narrow carriageways, thus reclaiming 
space and optimising its use.

A high number of parking spaces are found 
in and around the town centre, including 
on-street and retail parking. The perception 
though is that of a lack in parking spaces, 
as there is a need for wayfinding and 
information.

P U B L I C  T RA N S P O RT

Sale benefits from a Metrolink station that is 
well positioned to the east of the town centre 
and provides regular services to Altrincham, 
Bury, Etihad Campus and Manchester 
Airport. 

The town centre is well served by a number 
of bus services which generally operate 
around its perimeter, along Northenden 
Road and the A56. Bus operators provide 
regular bus services to and from Stockport, 
Manchester Airport, Altrincham and 
Manchester City Centre. 

All town centre bus stops are within a 5 
minute walk from Sale high street and 
generally benefit from bus shelters with 
timetable information.

MOVEMENT
Sale Town Centre Today

24

Page 56



V E H I C U L A R  M OV E M E N T &  PA R K I N G

P E D EST R I A N  A N D  CYC L E  M OV E M E N T 
&  P U B L I C  T RA N S P O RT

KEY

Vehicular movement

Key junction

Taxis

Parking

Roof parking

Multistorey parking

KEY

Canal towpath

Pedestrian street

Indoor movement

TFGM Sale Cycle 
Hub at Metrolink 
station

Bus stop

Metrolink station

Sale Town Centre Today

25

Page 57



SALE'S VISIONS AND GOALS -  ACCORDING TO POLICY

SA L E ' S  OV E RA R C H I N G  V I S I O N S 
A N D  G OA L S

Sale Town Centre is governed by a number 
of existing policy documents, strategy pieces 
and vision documents. The purpose of 
this document is to knit all of the existing 
documentation into a coherent plan that 
focuses on the delivery of a public realm 
vision that creates the framework from 
which the economic targets can be achieved.

The following policy documents and policy 
frameworks have been considered when 
developing the public realm vision for the 
town centre:

• Draft Greater Manchester Strategic 
Framework (GMSF), 2016

• Trafford Local Plan: Core Strategy, 2012

• Retail and Leisure Study, 2007

• Sale Town Centre Road Map, 2014

• Draft Land Allocations Plan, 2014

• SPD2: A56 Corridor Development 
Guidelines, 2007

• Sale Town Centre Improvement Plan, 
2017

• Trafford Vision 2031

The key driver that is consistent in all of the 
above documents is the need to delivering 
sustainable economic growth, particularly in 
the town centre. Delivering more jobs and 
more homes is also a recurring theme.

In the Trafford Local Plan Sale town centre is 
identified as a location for regeneration and 
change, with the aim of its consolidation and 
improvement.

The production of this Public Realm and 
Movement Strategy is the first step in 
delivering these goals. More specifically, 
the specific goals and commentary is set out 
below.

T RA F FO R D  V I S I O N  2 0 3 1

The Trafford Vision 2031 will identify Sale 
as a leisure and sporting destination, naming 
Sale Leisure Centre, the Waterside Centre, 
the Bridgewater Canal and the rest of the 
Mersey Valley as its key assets. It stresses the 
need for strengthening this status as a means 
to improve the visitor economy, as well as 
the ongoing vitality and viability of the town 
centre.

SA L E  TOW N  C E N T R E 
I M P R OV E M E N T P L A N

The Improvement Plan recognises that 
the town centre vacancy rate is below the 
national average, although aspects of the 
retail quality is raised and the need for 
competitiveness is apparent.

Sale, as other town centres, faces the risks 
changing consumers' habits, competing 
with out-of-town retail centres and internet 
shopping.

Trafford Council wants to ensure the vitality 
of its town centres and the aspiration that 
their residents can use them for shopping, 
leisure and relaxation on an everyday basis.

The Plan highlights the need for a strong 
sense of place in Sale and a distinctive 
identity that takes advantage of all its 
existing physical and cultural assets. This 
would support a high quality shopping 
environment, with a balance of independent 
retailers and national chains, for the benefit 
of residents, businesses, visitors and private 
sector investors. 

Sale Town Centre Today

26

Page 58



SALE'S BIG PROJECTS

Sale has two major projects that will impact 
positively on the town centre in the coming 
years.

The Square Shopping Centre is intended 
for refurbishment and redevelopment. 
Significant changes to the south-western 
edge of the site will see improved pedestrian 
links to the adjacent residential area and 
Bridgewater Canal. Additional housing 
will be introduced further enhancing the 
population and diversity of the town centre 
residents. Outline plans also include a 
multi-storey car park, retail space, a cinema 
and improved public realm. A planning 
application is expected in early 2018.

The former Trafford Magistrates Court site 
on the corner of Cross Street and Ashton 
Lane is recognised as a major development 
opportunity. Pedestrian connectivity 
across Cross St / Washway Road will be an 
important consideration of the plans.

Sale Town Centre Today

27

Page 59



A REAL ENGAGEMENT PROCESS

The engagement process has taken a multi-
faceted approach, with the aim of involving 
as many of Sale's key stakeholders as well as 
the public to ensure our understanding of the 
town centre is as well rounded as possible.

During the outline stage two engagement 
workshops were held - first was for Trafford 
Council Members and the second - a Key 
Stakeholder workshop - for local business/
community leaders and a community 
representative. 

In all, 21 persons were in attendance, giving 
valuable local feedback for the oncoming 
masterplan proposals, helping inform the 
programme, setting the goals to deliver a 
town centre of the future and to anchor the 
project during its initial phases.

O U T P U T S  F R O M  T H E  I N I T I A L 
STA K E H O L D E R  WO R K S H O P S

The two evening workshops resulted in 
different feedback, but with some common 
themes running across both. Both the local 
Members and Key Stakeholders sharing the 

same concerns of the town centre, as well as 
acknowledging the positive assets in the town 
centre, including:

• Signage and Wayfinding should be 
improved. This included both pedestrian 
wayfinding and signage to town centre car 
parks.

• Improve connections between Sale Town 
Centre and adjacent residential areas.

• Increase dwell time in town centre - in 
particular School Road and its adjacent 
streets.

• Improve arrival experience into Sale by 
tram and by road; from the north via 
Washway Road/Cross Street and from 
the southeast via Northenden Road.

• Enhance and improve the setting of 
numerous key public spaces throughout 
the town centre including School Road, 
Waterside Plaza, Sale Town Hall Frontage, 
Interaction along Bridgewater Canal and 
the public space outside 'Boots'.

Sale Town Centre Today

28

Page 60



T RA F FO R D  CYC L E  FO R U M

A meeting with the Cycle Forum was held 
where the Strategy's cycling priorities were 
discussed. The members' key responses 
include:

• Supporting the Strategy's aim of creating 
an environment that encourages co-
operation from all participants;

• Supporting measures which will slow 
down drivers, but dubious of 'claim the 
lane' principle;

• Supporting dedicated cycling facilities 
and links to Bridgewater Way;

• Requesting cycling on pedestrianised 
School Road. 

SHARED RESPONSES FROM STAKEHOLDER WORKSHOPS

Improve 
pedestrian 

links

Improve 
arrival 

experience

Increase 
dwell time 

in town 
centre

Increase      
& improve 

signage

W
as

hw
ay

 R
oa

d

Cro
ss

 St
re

et

Northenden Road

Br
id

ge
wat

er
 C

an
al

Met
ro

lin
k

TESCO

WATERSIDE       
CENTRE

SAINSBURY'S

School Road

THE  
SQUARE

The Waterside 
Centre is a focal 

point for culture, 
arts and events 
and this should 

be improved 

Bridgewater 
Canal is a 

unique asset - 
improve visual 

and physical 
connections

Improve 
arrival 

experience

Improve 
arrival 

experience

Improve 
connectivity 

between 
town centre & 
surrounding 

residential areas

Trees 
are an 

important 
asset

ALDI

M&S

SPRINGFIELD 
PRIMARY 
SCHOOL

SALE 
LEISURE 
CENTRE

Sale Town Centre Today

29

Page 61



1
2

3

LOCATION OF THE VIEWS ON THE MASTERPLAN

A number of options have 
been tested, including 
providing a signalised crossing 
with a reduced number of 
lanes, and the most effective 
solution will be to provide 
an informal roundabout 
arrangement. This solution 
maintains existing capacities 
whilst providing a single lane 
on entry and exist to arm as 
such allowing significant 
space to be reallocated from 
carriageway to footway   
and other uses. 

N

K E Y T RA F F I C  I M P R OV E M E N T S

During the design process, sketches were 
used to illustrate draft proposals and then 
facilitate discussion with both Trafford 
Coucil members, key stakeholders and the 
public.

1  -  TOW N  H A L L LO O K I N G  E AST

Sale Town Centre Today

30

Page 62



It is proposed to re-provide 
space on Sibson Road through 
removal of the wide median 
and painted ghost islands that 
currently exist to the east of 
the junction with Hayfield 
Street. This allows creation of 
a new linear park, provision 
of a two way cycle lane and 
much more comfortable, safer 
crossing. 

Space will be reallocated on 
Springfield Road to allow 
wider footway and dwell  
space to be provided outside 
of Springfield Primary 
School. This will not only 
create a safer environment 
outside of the school but will 
also provide more space for 
parents and children during 
collection and drop off. 

2  -  S P R I N G F I E L D  R OA D  LO O K I N G  S O U T H

3  -  S I B S O N  R OA D  LO O K I N G  E AST

Sale Town Centre Today

31

Page 63



THE PUBLIC CONSULTATION

A public consultation event was held in The 
Square shopping centre in Sale town centre 
on Saturday 30th September 2017 from 10am 
to 3pm.

The public consultation was advertised 
with flyers and posters, as well as on social 
media and Trafford Council's website. A 
few hundred people attended the event, with 
consultation boards summarising the design 
team's work so far, a children's workshop 
running parallel, with the team available for 
questions and discussion. Questionnaires 
with 18 questions were distributed so 
residents could give feedback on the boards, 
as well as opinions and ideas for the Strategy.

The consultation continued on Trafford 
Council's website for a further two weeks. In 
all over 600 responses were received.

The event itself reflected Sale's strong sense 
of community, with residents being very 
engaged and passionate about the town they 
live in. They were keen for something to 
happen as the overall feeling was that the 
town centre does not represent them or fulfil 
their needs for shopping, entertainment and 
leisure activities.

The summary of the consultation responses 
are on the following pages.

Sale Town Centre Today

32

Page 64



P U B L I C  R E A L M

• Cleaner and less cluttered

• Improved lighting to make School Road 
safer and add atmosphere

• Improved seating

• Better quality paving

• More greenery, including tree 
maintenance

• Facilities for children and teenagers

• Improved safety

• Market

M OV E M E N T

• Allow traffic down School Road for it to 
be livelier, particularly at night

• Better pedestrian links with the Waterside 
Centre and Northenden Road

R E TA I L

• Homogenising/cleaning up the shop 
fronts

• Fewer empty units

• Spill-out

H OT TO P I C S

A few themes 
were repeatedly 
mentioned during 
in conversation and  
public consultation 
responses.

The Top 3  

Improved retail offer - 
particularly for independent 

and better quality shops, 
restaurants and bars

Improved public realm - 
street furniture, lighting, 

planting

Improved links to the 
Bridgewater Canal and 

Northenden Road

Points people discussed 

Opening up School Road 
to cyclists or discouraging 

cyclists 

Opening up School Road to 
periodical vehicular traffic or 
increasing pedestrianisation

Junction ouside the  
Town Hall  

Sale Town Centre Today

33

Page 65



H OW D O  YO U  U S UA L LY G E T TO  SA L E  TOW N  C E N T R E ?

W H AT M A K ES  YO U  G O  TO  SA L E  TOW N  C E N T R E ?

75% 
ON FOOT

57% 
BY CAR

 10% 
ON BIKE

SHOPPING

WORK

MEETING FAMILY/FRIEND

ERRANDS

PASS THROUGH ON MY WAY...

LUNCH/ DINNNER/DRINKS

COFFEE

EVENING ENTERTAINMENT

0% 100%50%

ON FOOT

ON BIKE

BY CAR

BY BUS

BY METRO

BY TAXI

0% 100%50%

88% 
SHOPPING

ALSO MENTIONED

CHILDREN'S ACTIVITIES 
(SCHOOL RUNS, KIDS’ & BABY 
CLASSES, PLAY GROUPS AND 
DANCE CLASSES) 
LIBRARY  

BANK 

The questionnaires included a number of 
questions regarding residents' habits of 
movement and use in and of the town centre, 
ones that sought feedback of the presented 
boards and ideas, those where they could 
express their opinions on the current state 
of the town centre, as well as wishes for 
its improvement, ideas for its identity and 
desires for the future.

The answers reflected the wide diversity of 
users frequenting the town centre, but also 
highlighted patterns and common wishes.

PUBLIC CONSULTATION RESPONSES

RESPONDENTS HAD THE OPPORTUNITY TO SELECT  
MULTIPLE ANSWERS

RESPONDENTS HAD THE OPPORTUNITY TO SELECT  
MULTIPLE ANSWERS

Sale Town Centre Today

34

Page 66



W H AT OT H E R  T H E M ES  WO U L D  ST R E N GT H E N  SA L E ’ S  I D E N T I T Y ?

W H I C H  N E W ACT I V I T Y CO U L D  YO U  I M AG I N E  TA K I N G  U P I N  SA L E 
TOW N  C E N T R E  O N C E  I M P R OV E D ?

69% 
COMMUNITY

52% 
ART

42% 
KIDS

42% 
SCIENCE

SUNDAY MARKET

EATING AND DRINKING

SITTING BY THE CANAL  
ON A SUNNY DAY

SPENDING TIME WITH FRIENDS

OPEN AIR THEATRE 
PERFROMANCES

SATURDAY MORNING COFFEE

CYCLING TO / AROUND THE 
TOWN CENTRE

0% 100%50%

COMMUNITY

ART

KIDS

SCIENCE

EDUCATION

0% 100%50%

79% 
SUNDAY MARKET

74% 
EATING AND DRINKING

62% 
SITTING BY THE CANAL  
ON A SUNNY DAY

ALSO MENTIONED

HERITAGE / SPORTS / FOOD 
INSPIRED BY ALTRINCHAM

H AV I N G  LO O K E D  AT T H E  B OA R D S ,  H OW WO U L D  YO U  L I K E  T H E 
TOW N  C E N T R E  TO  B E ?

CLEANER & GREENER

SAFER FOR PEDESTRIANS

LESS CONGESTED WITH 
VEHICLES

MORE CHILDREN 
FRIENDLY

MORE BEAUTIFUL

MORE ATTRACTIVE IN THE 
EVENINGS

0% 100%50%

76% 
CLEANER & GREENER

74% 
MORE ATTRACTIVE  
IN THE EVENINGS

67% 
MORE BEAUTIFUL

RESPONDENTS HAD THE OPPORTUNITY TO SELECT  
MULTIPLE ANSWERS

RESPONDENTS HAD THE OPPORTUNITY TO SELECT  
MULTIPLE ANSWERS

RESPONDENTS HAD THE OPPORTUNITY TO SELECT  
MULTIPLE ANSWERS

35

Page 67



A R E  YO U  I N  AG R E E M E N T W I T H  T H E  D ES I G N  I D E AS 
A N D  OV E RA L L V I S I O N ?

WO U L D  YO U  B E N E F I T F R O M  I M P R OV E D  WA L K I N G 
A N D  CYC L I N G  R O U T ES  I N  A N D  A R O U N D  SA L E 

TOW N  C E N T R E ?

D O  YO U  T H I N K SA L E  TOW N  C E N T R E  WO U L D 
B E N E F I T F R O M  M O R E  E V E N T S ? 

D O  YO U  AG R E E  T H AT D I F F E R E N T A R E AS  O F T H E 
TOW N  C E N T R E  S H O U L D  B E  B E T T E R  CO N N ECT E D ?

D O  YO U  T H I N K SA L E  TOW N  C E N T R E  WO U L D 
B E N E F I T F R O M  P U B L I C  A RT A N D  I N STA L L AT I O N S , 
T H AT A L S O  ACT AS  P O I N T O F R E F E R E N C E ?

D O  YO U  L I K E  T H E  T R E ES  A N D  P L A N T E R S  O N 
S C H O O L R OA D ?

YES

NO

78% 

95%

82%

86%

73%

91%
"I like the trees but 
planters, not really 
- look scruffy, 
ugly, dated, not 
inspiring" 

BUT ALSO
• Trees overgrown, too big, although most like the greenery

• Need to be maintained (leaves from trees make pavement slippery)

• Planters cause problem with permeability for walking and cycling

Sale Town Centre Today

36

Page 68



H OW D O  YO U  T H I N K S C H O O L 
R OA D  CO U L D  B E  I M P R OV E D ?

W H AT I S  YO U R  FAVO U R I T E 
P L AC E  O R  ST R E E T I N  SA L E 
TOW N  C E N T R E ?

"Independent shops, café 
culture, more local businesses 

– e.g. independent bakery, 
butcher, greengrocer. Fewer 
bookmakers and charity shops. 
Less cheap chains. More 
trees, flowers. More creative 
use of the planters. Make it 
more attractive – decorate the 
streets."

"By the canal (and 
Northenden Road 
could be much 
improved – then 
it would be my 
favourite)"

"We enjoy the restaurants 
on Northenden Road, 
however cars take 
excessive precedent. 
Making the area more 
appealing and safe for 
pedestrians is essential."

"Northenden Road 
has better vibe and 
shops, but the open 
space of Waterside 
by the canal has so 
much potential."’

"The Waterside 
plaza, I also like all 
the Victorian streets 
with the beautiful 
trees. The parks are 
superb."

A BETTER FOCAL POINT

A CINEMA 

FREE PARKING

MORE ACTIVITIES 

MORE SPECIALITY CLOTHES SHOPS

A MARKET

AN EVENING OFFER

A GARDEN

I  WO U L D  L I K E  I T I F T H E R E  WAS   

?   I N  SA L E  TOW N  C E N T R E

Sale Town Centre Today

37

Page 69



Sale Town Centre Today

38

Page 70



A Fantastic Town Centre

39

3
A Fantastic 
Town Centre

Page 71



Sale town centre will become a 
sustainable, fun and inclusive 
urban environment that will attract 
existing residents and new visitors 
of all ages to enjoy spending more 
time on the streets and spaces of Sale. 
This will encourage and support a 
thriving town centre economy with 
a diverse, high quality offer. A new 
identity will put Sale on the map and 
create an exciting destination on 
Greater Manchester's scene. It will 
offer a 'uniquely Sale'’experience - 
green, beautiful and fun.

40

A Fantastic Town Centre

Page 72



VISION

VALUES & MOMENTUM

A Fantastic Town Centre

41

We will create an external environment that 
is interesting all year round supporting a 
variety of activities whilst driving positive 
economic development and improving and 
diversifying the retail and commercial offer.

We will create an environment for a more 
social and green urban lifestyle by taking 
full advantage of Sale's existing assets, 
unearthing hidden gems and binding them 
together in a way that it serves existing 
business and gives the town a backdrop from 
which to launch itself with a model modern 
high street.

The new traffic solution will encourage 
people to leave the car at home and walk or 
cycle to and from the town centre. Those that 

need to drive will be able to access the town 
centre quickly and efficiently, easily finding 
a parking space in the multitude of car parks 
around the town.

You will learn about Sale through word of 
mouth. It is not a shouty 'look-at-me' town. It 
is a humble place, where people respect each 
other. People aren't afraid to engage with 
one another and they come to town to spend 
their free time. Why don't your friends come 
to you and meet in town. Why don't you 
encourage your boss to move to Sale? Why 
don't you start your new business venture 
in Sale? Why don't you bring the childern 
to Sale because you know you can entertain 
them for a day, for free! It is all here in Sale.

A holistic, sustainable solution that is 
functional, allowing things to operate 
smoothly, but creating a beautiful and 
relaxing environment.

We want Sale town cente to become a vibrant 
shopping and dining destination, with a high 
quality offer, supporting local businesses 
and sustainable production. The aspiration 
is to strengthen Sale's cultural offer through 
music, performances, theatre and markets.

We want the public realm improvements to 
have a positive effect not only on the daily 
rhythm of the high street, but also on Sale 
residents' lifestyles, encouraging them to 
spend more time outdoors, interacting with 
family, friends and fellow citizens. 

We want to encourage walking and cycling 
on an everyday basis, as well as recreationally, 
by creating a pleasant streetscape to and 
in the town centre, securing ample bicycle 
facilities and dwelling opportunities. We also 
hope to facilitate community engagement 
through maintenance, education and 
activities in the town.

Sale town centre will become a beautiful 
environment, green in its nature and 
character; we hope to inspire a new trend 
in urban design and encourage the greening 
of streets, squares, gardens and balconies 
throughout Sale. 

41

Page 73



ALTRINCHAM TOWN CENTRE

Planit-IE worked with Trafford Council 
in 2011 to produce a public realm lead 
masterplan and vision for the then failing 
town centre. The culmination of the study 
was to relaunch the town centre as the 
Modern Market Town.

It included detailed public realm proposals 
for the Lower Market Square, redesigned 
Goose Green and two key shopping streets 
within the town centre. All of which have 
since been implemented and have acted as 
catalysts for further regeneration and wider 
development proposals.

Phase 2 works saw the redesign and 
implementation of Stamford New Road, 
with an emphasis on widening footways, 
slowing vehicle speeds, new tree planting and 
increased courtesy crossings along the busy 
street. 

Balanced Street principles have been adopted 
throughout the streetscapes and public spaces 
to redress the balance between vehicles and 
pedestrians, whilst fulfilling operational 
requirements of the busy markets and town 
centre commercial offer.

The town centre focuses around the hugely 
successful Altrincham Market, and Market 
House Altrincham. The surrounding 
streets, redesigned as pedestrian priority 
environments are a hive of activity both 
during the day and have now extended the 
town centre’s evening economy by 6-8 hours.

Altrincham has seen marked improvement in 
the economic productivity of the town, along 
with a number of other positive outcomes 
that were measured and assessed as part of 
the project Key Performance Indicators.

• Shop vacancy rates have dropped from 
30% to 8%

• Planning Applications have almost 
doubled

• Integrated street design has enhanced the 
pedestrian experience creating a walkable 
town centre

• Footfall has increased 

• Crime and anti-social behaviour have 
decreased

• The award-winning Market is now 
nationally recognised.

      Shop  

      vacancy   
     rates have    

     dropped  

     
from

 30%  
       to 8%

42

A Fantastic Town CentreA Fantastic Town Centre

Page 74



GREY TO GREEN,  SHEFFIELD

The Grey to Green scheme grew out of 
proposals in Sheffield's 2013 City Centre 
Masterplan as a key step to expand the 
boundary of Sheffield's city centre back to its 
historic core by the River Don and to mitigate 
the effects of severe flash flooding in the 
town. The West Bar road sits at the bottom 
of the hill with the city centre high above. 
During periods of intense and sustained 
rainfall the river Don has overtopped its 
banks on numerous occasion.

Following construction of the Inner Relief 
Road in 2008, large swathes of the West Bar 
carriageway become redundant and it was 
decided to turn the space over to a sustainable 
urban drainage system that would trap and 
slow the release of water into the river Don 
from the city above.

At the same time, this was seen as an 
opportunity to enhance the environment 
and reduce barriers between the Riverside 
Business District, Castlegate and the rest of 
the city centre, ultimately transforming the 
distric into a growing business and living 
area. 

The overall Grey to Green scheme includes 
the transformation of 1.3 kilometers of 
redundant roads into new linear public 
spaces and gardens. Completed in 2016, the 
first of the three phases reaches from West 
Bar to Lady's Bridge; this innovative urban 
space uses perennial flower meadows, trees 
and shrubs, as well as high quality paving and 
street furniture to create a beautiful setting 
for walking or dwelling, doubling as a rain 
garden in an area that was previously hit by 
severe flooding.

The scheme received national recognition 
and numerous awards, as it attracts new 
investment and jobs, contributing to the city's 
environmental goals and setting a precedent 
in modern urban design. 

43

A Fantastic Town CentreA Fantastic Town Centre

Page 75



The existing trees on School Road and 
surrounding street trees and parks are a 
beloved asset in Sale. Green infrastructure 
and landmark trees will support this 
character and bind the town centre's squares 
and spaces together. Quality perennial 
planting will add another dimension, 
particularly to the high street.

DESIGN PRINCIPLES The following pages show design principles 
represented through conceptual drawings.

A Fantastic Town Centre

44

CREATING A STRING OF SPACES

Page 76



Interconnected, flexible and multifunctional 
squares and spaces where things happen 
and which people gravitate towards. Their 
different characters give them identity, while 
their arrangement makes them appropriate 
for a variety of seasonal events and temporary 
activities - markets, performances and 
exhibitions.

E X T E N D I N G  T H E  P L A N T I N G

A Fantastic Town Centre

45

Page 77



S E A M L ES S  M OV E M E N T

Rebalancing the roads and junctions will 
encourage the flow of vehicular traffic, 
free up valuable space for pedestrian and 
cycle movement and offer opportunities 
for beautification with planting. Improved 
wayfinding will make finding a parking 
space easier and more efficient. Cyclists and 
particularly pedestrians will find that the 
street belongs to them. 

A Fantastic Town Centre

46

Page 78



A Fantastic Town Centre

47

The side streets will be the bearers of 
improved north-south connectivity. The 
upgraded visual and physical connections 
to the big box supermarkets will make them 
a part of the town centre and encourage 
enterprise and activity in these links. 

I N C LU D I N G  T H E  S I D E  ST R E E T S

Page 79



Sculpture, trees and signs will become 
landmarks to wayfinding and guiding 
movement when entering Sale. Gateway 
features will announce the town, paving 
details will communicate a difference in 
character and trees will frame landmark 
buildings and anchor street corners. 

F I N D I N G  YO U R  WAY

A Fantastic Town Centre

48

Page 80



All five of these elements will result in a real 
identity and regional reputation for Sale. 
Combined, they will create a pleasant, human 
streetscape that will invite daily and seasonal 
activity, encourage healthy lifestyles and 
communicate the importance of balanced 
environments. 

CO M B I N I N G  I N TO  A N  I D E N T I T Y

A Fantastic Town Centre

49

Page 81



THE MASTERPLAN

TESCO

M&S

ALDI

SAINSBURY'S

THE SQUARE

Ashton Lane

C
ro

ss
 Stre

et

W
as

hw
ay

 R
oa

d

SCHOOL ROAD 
Detail 01

SIBSON ROAD 

Detail 05

Ashfield Road
New pedestrian courtesy crossing points 
along Ashfield Road improve the pedestrian 
experience for residents seeking to access the 
town centre by foot. Additional trees, improved 
paving and parking opportunties will enhance 
the overall look and experience of the street.

Cross Street / Washway Road
Improved signal controlled crossings allow 

pedestrians to cross the junctions in a single 

Sainsbury's Link
An improved approach to 

Sainsbury's provides a visible 
link from the car park to the 

town centre along Curzon 
Road

Ashton Lane
A narrowed carriageway and wider footpaths 

seek to improve the pedestrian experience and 
connectivity to new development on the former 

Magistrates Court site.

The Square Shopping Centre
These proposals  show an indicative layout for 
the new Square redevelopment. It reflects the 

principle objectives of this masterplan regarding 
pedestrian and vehicle movement and wider 

connectivity.

A Fantastic Town Centre

50

Page 82



Broad Road

M
et

ro
lin

k

WATERSIDE     
CENTRE

SPRINGFIELD 
PRIMARY 
SCHOOL

METROLINK 
TRAM 

STATION

SALE 
LEISURE 
CENTRE

Brid
ge

w
at

er
 C

an
al

DETAIL AREAS ...

Are specifically explained in further detail 
in the next chapter.

TOWN HALL 
JUNCTION 
Detail  02

WATERSIDE PLAZA  
Detail 03

NORTHENDEN ROAD 

Detail 04

Springfield Road
A narrowed carriageway has created a 
footpath adjacent to Springfield Road 
that is in places 3 times wider than 
existing. Additional courtesy crossings 
also prove greater opportunity for east-
west connectivity.

Broad Road
Will be retained as a one-way street 
with an opportunity for a contra-
flow cycle route to improve east-west 
connectivity.

Metrolink Arrival
The space in front of the Metrolink 
Tram Station will be significantly 
widened, creating opportunties for 
meeting and orientation.

Claremont Road
A narrowed carriageway and widened footpaths 
will create a better environment for the shops 
on Claremont Road and an enhanced pedestrian 
experience for people accessing the town centre. 
It will become a key route from the new Square 
redevelopment.

Taxi Ranks
Taxis provide a vital service for a 
successful town centre. The ranks at 
Broad Road junction are retained.

N

A Fantastic Town Centre

51

Page 83



Through improvements to the public realm, 
the Strategy seeks to support a high street 
suitable for both everyday shopping and 
finding a treat, a romantic evening meal or 
a quick coffee. An array of independent 
shops, supported by high street brands and 
supermarkets. A place to meet a friend, have 
lunch in the sun or just hurry through on 
your way to work.

I N C LU D I N G  T H E  S I D E  ST R E E T S

Side streets leading towards School Road are 
an essential element of connecting outlying 
residential areas with the town centre and 
more closely incorporating Sale's big box 
supermarkets, increasing the perception 
that they are a part of the town centre. 
Improvements to hard landscaping and street 
tree planting on the side streets would form 
a more pleasant environment, encouraging 
exploration, thus drawing people through.

The side streets will help with north-
south connections and hopefully become 
destinations themselves, by extending the 
uses of the high street onto the side streets.

Claremont Road has a number of established 
independent businesses and will in the future 
serve as a more prominent route after the 
anticipated redevelopment of The Square 
shopping centre, continuing the proposed 
pedestrian route connecting Sibson Road 
with School Road and further through 
Claremont Road to Ashfield Road. 

P L A N T I N G

Distinctive planting will be used to either 
accentuate a space (School Road) or serve 
a more ecological purpose (Sibson Road). 
These will particularly support Sale's green 
character and the sustainable aspect of its 
urban fabric.

Planting in the public realm will have an 
important educational role as well - tree pits 
with engraved names of the species will help 
children learn to distinguish between trees 
from a young age.

The existing trees on School Road are a 
much loved asset, confirmed by the public 
consultation responses. It is rare that a 
main shopping street in a town is tree lined 
and we wish to maintain this character 
by introducing more trees than currently 
proposed to mitigate the loss of existing 
mature tree planting. A few bigger anchor 
trees will remain, while others will be 
replaced with younger, healthy specimens.

A better consideration of planting will create 
a dynamic streetscape of different textures 
and colours throughout the year.

ST R E E T F U R N I T U R E

De-cluttering of existing street furniture will 
contribute to creating a coherent 'look' to suit 
a modern town centre. 

An attractive urban realm will be the result 
of a strong concept incorporating planting, 
quality modern, robust street furniture, play 
and infrastructure, and a consistency in 
materiality, colour and form.

Particular design emphasis should be given 
to multifunctional furniture who's use 
can be interpreted in different ways by 
different users - children play and jump, 
adults dwell and seniors can sit down.

IMAGES OPPOSITE: A SELECTION OF PRECEDENT IMAGES

PUBLIC REALM
A Fantastic Town Centre

52

Page 84



Image of tree pit with name of tree
A Fantastic Town Centre

53

Page 85



SEAMLESS MOVEMENT

The public realm and movement 
improvements to Sale town centre are 
designed to modify the way the streets 
operate by creating an environment that 
encourages drivers, pedestrians and cyclists 
to behave in a more co-operative manner. 

The Strategy seeks to create a more pleasant 
and safe environment that encourages 
walking and cycling. Therefore, pedestrian 
links are prioritised, de-cluttered and 
supported and beautified by green 
infrastructure and high quality materials. 
Particular attention is given to traffic 
junctions and the safe and quick movement 
of pedestrians across them.

K E Y V E H I C U L A R  R O U T ES

Roads will be designed with narrowed 
carriageways, high quality materials, 
new street trees and urban furniture that 
encourages drivers to slow down, show 
courtesy and be more mindful of their 
surroundings. These interventions will 
be particularly evident on certain streets 
-  Springfield Road will offer much needed 
wider pavements around Springfield Primary 
School and Northenden Road will anchor its 
role as a destination with the help of more 
space for spill-out and parking.

Sibson Road and Ashfield Road are key 
routes that encircle the town centre. 
Regardless of their rather residential 
character, they are perceived as barriers due 
to their sheer width and lack of pedestrian 
crossings. The narrowing of the carriageways, 
introduction of cycle paths and regular 
courtesy crossings will increase north-south 
permeability, opening the town centre up to 
the surrounding residential areas.

WAS H WAY R OA D  /  C R O S S 
ST R E E T

The strategy includes indicative 
improvements to east-west connections 
across the A56 through supercrossings and 
potential adjustments to signal timings, 
benefiting pedestrians and cyclists getting to 
and from the town centre.

The A56 is as a strategic route and its 
consideration within this Strategy was 
infeasible due to the scale of impact and 
intervention required. We recommend that it 
should be considered within a separate study 
in collaboration with Transport for Greater 
Manchester. 

S U P E R C R O S S I N G S

The movement of pedestrians and cyclists 
across the A56 will be assisted through the 
provision of a different type of crossing - 
supercrossings - which will provide clear and 
highly functional links between the town 
centre and the residential areas to the west of 
the A56.

Supercrossigns will be created by widening 
the existing signalised crossings and 
introducing a single-stage pedestrian 
movement with sufficient time to cross 
the full width of the carriageway. This will 
improve safety and reduce the time it takes 
to travel to the town centre. The surfacing 
materials of the crossing will create a clear 
area of priority for pedestrians and cyclists. 
The crossings will be equipped with sensors 
so that traffic is not permitted to move until 
the crossing is clear of pedestrians, meaning 
that the slowest and most vulnerable users 
will not feel intimidated by traffic.

IMAGES OPPOSITE: A SELECTION OF PRECEDENT IMAGES

A Fantastic Town Centre

54

Page 86



A Fantastic Town Centre

55

Page 87



B U S  CO N N ECT I O N S

Bus stops and routes in the town centre will 
be maintained with improved pedestrian 
connectivity to the key destinations in the 
town.

D ES I G N AT E D  CYC L I N G  R O U T ES

Sibson Road will benefit from a designated 
two-way, segregated cycling lane, connecting 
Washway Road / Cross Street with the 
Bridgewater Way. The cycle lane will meet 
the path by St Paul's Church (currently 
permitting public use), already improved as 
part of the Bridgewater Way project, where 
cyclists will dismount until they reach the 
towpath.

Cyclists along Springfield Road, Tatton Road 
and Northenden Road will be encouraged 
to 'claim the lane', becoming an equal 
participant of the traffic flow.

Cyclists will dismount on School Road and 
will have ample opportunity for parking with 
upgraded cycling storage. The potential to 
open up School Road (from Washway Rd to 
Curzon Rd) to cyclists and limited vehicle 
movements is being explored during the next 
stage of design.

B R OA D  R OA D  CYC L E  R O U T E 

The introduction of a new contraflow cycle 
lane on the one-way section of Broad Road 
will improve connectivity by removing the 
need for cyclists to deviate from the desire 
line to Sale Town Centre.

The new 2-way route on Broad Road will 
provide high-class cycle infrastructure and 
will help to deliver:

• A family-friendly, healthy environment, 
allowing people to move around safely

• Productive employees, profitable shops 
- employees who cycle to work are more 
alert when arriving at work and 15% more 
productive.

• Relaxed public spaces and attractive 
streetscapes, as streets are less dominated 
by traffic

• Increased access to employment: cycling 
is accessible to everybody, including 
those on lower incomes and disabled 
people, increasing the range of access to 
employment opportunities

There is currently an absence of cycle 
infrastructure connecting communities and 
residential areas to the east with the town 
centre, and this newly proposed route will 
help to address this.

A Fantastic Town Centre

56

Page 88



WAY F I N D I N G  &  S I G N AG E

It is important that the town centre 
improvements enhance wayfinding for 
people walking, cycling and driving. The 
primary means of wayfinding will be through 
the creation of an intuitive landscape with 
materials, the arrangement of the street and 
furniture and features, both nearby and 
viewed at a distance, used to guide users 
through the different streets and areas of the 
town. As well as the intuitive landscape some 
signage will be required to guide people from 
key arrival points, such as car parks and the 
Metrolink station, to key destinations within 
the town. Over the coming years the use of 
smartphones and other technological devices 
will play a greater role in wayfinding and 
may impact on the necessity for traditional 
signage. 

Whilst wayfinding within the town centre 
will improve the town centre visitor 
experience, there is also a need to guide 
people to and around the town. A key 
element of the wayfinding improvements 

will be to use signage to guide and direct 
drivers in order to minimise the amount of 
unnecessary traffic within the town centre. 
Unnecessary traffic could result from people 
being unable to find their destination and 
circling the town centre streets, or people 
choosing to drive through the town centre on 
route to their destination, which could either 
be within the town centre or further afield.

A detailed wayfinding strategy should be 
developed that enables people to find their 
way around the town but also minimises 
the impact of traffic. This could be achieved 
through clear signage directing through 
traffic along routes that avoid the town 
centre and directing vehicle drivers who 
are visiting the town into their nearest car 
park on arrival to the town; not only will 
this reduce unnecessary trips but will also 
result in people getting out of their cars at 
the earliest opportunity and continuing their 
journey on foot, allowing them to enjoy the 
town centre facilities and to engage and 
interact with other users.

PEDESTRIAN WAYFINDING

KEY

Proposed new 
wayfinding totem 
location

Proposed new 
fingerpoint location

Engraved paving 
detail

Opportunity for 
instalation and 
sculpture

Sale War Memorial

Metrolink station

A Fantastic Town Centre

57

Page 89



IDENTITY

Sale offers ample opportunities for creating a 
unique identity for the town centre through 
interventions in the public realm, inspired 
and supported by its already existing and 
established assets, such as the Waterside Arts 
Centre, the Bridgewater Canal and the town's 
strong sense of community.

Previously defined themes of functionality, 
inclusiveness, beauty, sustainability, fun 
and uniqueness, can be supported by themes 
rooted in Sale's existing assets:

A RT

The Waterside Centre is one of Sale's most 
liked destinations and its location right next 
to the canal offers potential that is not fully 
exploited today. The surrounding public 
realm can be used to promote this facility, 
with a local artist given the opportunity 
to create artwork that could also serve as 
landmarks in the public realm.  

The Bean and Brush is a popular family cafe 
and a similar tactic could be used in Hayfield 
Street. 

S C I E N C E

The famous physicist and mathematician 
J.P.Joule lived his final years in Sale and is 
buried at Brooklands Cemetary. A science, 
innovation and technology theme could 
support the education aspirations of this 
vision.

This can be subtly incorporated through 
details in paving,street furniture and signage, 
and more obviously through events and 
playful features.

S P O RT

The popularity of Sale Leisure Centre and a 
rich history in sports achievements supports 
the themes of sport and recreation.

The importance of healthy habits, movement 
and sports can be promoted through 
designated recreational routes and better 
connectivity with the many surrounding 
green areas.

G R E E N  &  B LU E

Improved physical and visual connection 
of the town centre to the canal, as well as 
improved signage, lighting and dwelling 
spaces would enhance the canalside 
experience, and allows it to become a real 
part of the town centre. Communicating its 
historical importance would strengthen this 
even further.

The above themes could be translated in the 
public realm through carefully chosen urban 
elements, such as:

Light - A beautifully lit town centre, 
supporting the town's nighttime economy 
and creating more pleasant and safe streets 
and spaces.

Landmarks - Landmark buildings  gaining 
new active uses, sculpture and anchor 
trees on Sale's gateways, key spaces and 
corners will announce the town and offer 
recognisable landmarks for arrival and 
orientation. 

Signage - Streets signs and totems of a 
design unique to Sale for easier orientation, 
representative of its values and themes 
defined in this strategy.

Details - Beautiful street furniture and 
paving with intricate details communicating 
Sale's unique story.

IMAGES OPPOSITE: A SELECTION OF PRECEDENT IMAGES

A Fantastic Town Centre

58

Page 90



A Fantastic Town Centre

59

Page 91



A Fantastic Town Centre

60

Page 92



The Spaces

61

4
The Spaces

Page 93



SCHOOL ROAD -  Detai l 01

1

3

2

1 - Existing vehicular traffic
One-way traffic is retained along the initial 
section of School Road to  Hayfield Street, 
along a more balanced street.

2 - School Road traffic
Whilst the central and eastern most areas of 
the pedestrianised section of School Road 
will remain closed to all traffic, it is proposed 
to allow for vehicular movement to take place 
at specific times of the day from Hayfield 
Street up to Curzon Road and also to 
potentially permit vehicular access to School 
Road from Claremont Road with provision 
made for turning.

The introduction of slow moving traffic will 
have significant benefits in terms of a feeling 
of safety, in particular in the evenings when 
passing traffic can provide more activity 
and passive surveillance - this feeling of 
safety and enhanced activity can encourage 
and support the creation of a night time 
economy. The flexibility to accommodate 
vehicular access is also beneficial in terms 
of facilitating events of all scales within the 

street. The scheme would be designed to 
make sure that the street was not attractive as 
a through route to vehicular drivers, but with 
pavements, furniture and features arranged 
to encourage very low speeds and to achieve 
pedestrian priority. 

3 - Street trees
The highest quality trees will be retained, 
subject to some formative pruning to ensure 
they add value to the street and don't restrict 
sunlight.

4 - Side streets
Benbow Street, Hereford Street, Curzon 
Street, Claremont Street will all be subject 
to environmental improvements, enhancing 
north-south connectivity in the town centre.

5 - Defined squares
The small square framing the Old Bank Pub 
will have an elegant feel to it, accentuating 
this beautiful building and offering it 
opportunities for spill-out, becoming a vital 
space within the high street. Street furniture 
will define this space, differentiating the 
'street' landscape with the 'square'. 

H
ay

fie
ld

 St
re

et

H
er

ef
or

d S
tre

et

School Road

5

4

C
ur

zo
n 

R
oa

d

The Spaces

62

Page 94



H
er

ef
or

d S
tre

et

4

KEY

Clay paving

Clay paving - herringbone pattern

Planting

Play

Multifunctional furniture

6

7 8

9

6 - Central strip
The central space on School Road will be 
given over to pedestrians and cyclists with the 
intention of increasing dwell time. Elements 
of seating, planting, trees and ’play’ will be 
encouraged along the length of the street.

7 - Continuous surface treatment
New surfacing will stretch from building 
threshold to building threshold, maximising 
the pedestrian environment. Where vehicle 
control is required, demarcation will be clear 
and apparent to ensure vulnerable road users 
are safe.

8 - Playground
To respond to the Sale demographic, the 
opportunity for play will form a key part of 
the new town centre proposals.

9 - Family Square
The heart of the town centre will become 
the new family square outside the entrance 
to The Square. Flexible to hold events, it will 
easily accommodate temporary furniture and 
activities, such as a weekly market, a stage, 
a performance or a race! Green enough to 
encourage dwelling, the space will provide 
activities for all ages through subtle green 
infrastructure interventions, informal play 
environments and new high quality seating.

C
ur

zo
n 

R
oa

d

C
la

re
m

on
t R

oa
d

N

The Spaces

63

Page 95



PRECEDENT IMAGE: BALANCED STREETSCAPE IN EXMOUTH MARKET, LONDON

PRECEDENT IMAGE: SONDER BOULEVARD, COPENHAGEN

The Spaces

64

Page 96



Sale town centre will be comprised of a 
number of corners, squares and spaces of 
different character that will, connected, 
create an integrated town centre. They will 
be the points in town people will gravitate 
towards, meeting spots and event spaces 
that will accentuate Sale's strong sense of 
community.

School Road will become a flexible, 
multifunctional space that accommodates 
play, dwelling and commerce. 

Public realm improvements include lighting 
throughout the high street and spilling 
into the side streets, improved dwelling 
opportunities with play, new trees and 
planting and defined squares of different 
character. 

These spaces will become new meeting 
points, urban playgrounds or small town 
squares. They will invite you to pause on 
your way to somewhere else or become real 
destination points.

With the weather being unpredictable as it is, 
some spaces will include a chance to shield 
from the rain by easily being able to draw a 
canopy. And others will welcome residents to 
enjoy the space on the rare sunny days. There 
will be flexible, multifunctional spaces where 
weekend and seasonal markets and events 
pop up. 

These are the places that will make people 
stay in the town centre longer than intended 
and that will keep it buzzing, even after 
working hours.

The town centre's green urban character will 
be enhanced with trees and planting. The 
corners on the high street are anchored with 
trees and/or urban furniture, with them 
extending into the side streets in order to 
enhance their importance, strengthen their 
role as connecting routes and lead people to 
explore more. 

Friends meet, parents talk, children play, 
passerbyers observe. The town centre is 
vibrant.

PRECEDENT IMAGES FOR DETAILS IN SCHOOL ROAD

The Spaces

65

Page 97



The Spaces

66

Page 98



View into the new Family Square
The Family Square will become a multi-functional square that provides a space for 
events, but also functions at other periods as the centre of the town. A space for 
families to dwell in the the heart of the town, incorporating new trees, planting and 
opportunities for play and gathering.

67

Page 99



TOWN HALL JUNCTION  -  Detai l 02

A key arrival point into Sale, the junction at 
School Road in front of the Town Hall forms 
the main point of entry to the town centre 
from the east via Northenden Road. The 
improvements to the junction will have these 
objectives:

• Improving the pedestrian environment 
and movement crossing the road, thus 
creating a more inviting experience  
towards School Road, Town Hall and 
ultimately Northenden Road;

• Improving visual connections and 
relationship between School Road and 
the Town Hall / Waterside Centre;

• Strengthening a key arrival point 
into Sale - improving legibility and 
wayfinding as one exits the Metrolink 
station

P E D EST R I A N  M OV E M E N T O N  
T H E  J U N CT I O N

Pedestrian movements around the Town 
Hall junction will be facilitated by high class 
public realm and a visible transition from 
carriageway to a new pedestrian friendly 
environment. A change in materials – 
specifically at pedestrian crossings - will 
result in drivers reducing their speed and 
will be more aware of pedestrians presence 
at the junction. This reduction in speed will 
allow vehicles to consistently create gaps 

within traffic, which will provide many 
opportunities for pedestrians to safely cross. 
There is a tendency for making increased use 
of available space as vehicle speeds reduce.

Low speeds will be encouraged by:

• Making the junction look and feel 
different

• Introduction of visual narrowing and 
tighter geometry

• Changes in surfacing.

There will be a reduction in definition 
between carriageway and footway and this 
will encourage pedestrians to use the space 
efficiently. The junction will become shared 
more equally between pedestrians and 
vehicles  and people will move more freely 
and are more likely to follow desire lines 
within the street – including when crossing 
the carriageway.

Behavioural change for drivers will also 
be reinforced through the introduction of 
distinctive pavement materials with colour 
and textural contrast, as well as removing 
lining and clutter such as barriers and 
bollards.

By removing the traffic signals, any 
urgency felt by drivers to get through them 
is eradicated and they are more likely to 
prioritise pedestrians movements over their 
own.

POYNTON

The Spaces

68

Page 100



SL

1 - Improved pedestrian environment 
adjacent to the Block & Gasket and the 
Town Hall

2 - Better visual connectivity between 
the Town Hall and School Road

3 - Three wider, courtesy crossing 
points to improved pedestrian flow

4 - Behavioural change for the driver 
will be encouraged through tonal 
contrast in paving and carriageway

5 - Removal of the traffic signal 
controlled junction

6 - A tighter carriageway geometry 
allows the existing movement and 
capacity whilst providing significantly 
greater footway space for pedestrians

1
4

3

2

6

5

5
5

SALE TOWN 
HALL

School Road

School Road
T

at
to

n 
R

oa
d

Sp
rin

gf
ie

ld
 R

oa
d

N

The Spaces

69

Page 101



Civic Engineers have assessed the following 
three options for the School Road junction 
which connects Northenden Road, Tatton 
Road and Springfield Road:

• Option 1 - Keep Existing Layout – 
Signalised Junction with 2-lane approach 
on each arm, with staggered pedestrian 
crossings;

• Option 2 – Signalised Junction with 
1-lane approach on each arm, with 
straight across pedestrian crossings;

• Option 3 – Priority Give-Way 
arrangement, with priority pedestrian 
crossings.

Modelling software LinSig has been used to 
assess the operation of the existing signalised 
junction at School Road.

The outcome of Civic Engineers' assessment 
of the existing layout indicates that the 
junction is currently operating above 
practical capacity, based on traffic flows 
observed for 2017. This essentially means 
that the junction is showing variable 
operation and it is likely that queues will be 
visible on all approaches during peak traffic 
hours (0800 – 0900 and 1700 – 1800), this 
has been confirmed through observations on 
site.

In order to assess the impact of retaining 
signals but reallocating some of the 
highway to pedestrian space, as in Option 
2, the second layout which Civic Engineers 
carried out an operational assessment of is a 
simplified version of the current layout, but 
still incorporating a signalised arrangement. 
The proposed layout would include single 
lane approaches on all arms, and straight 
across pedestrian crossings, as opposed to the 
existing staggered arrangement. 

As expected, the outcome of Civic's 
assessment of the proposed simplified 
layout indicates that the junction is expected 
to operate above absolute capacity, based 
on traffic flows observed for 2017. This 
essentially means that the junction is 
overloaded, and excessive queues will be 
visible on all approaches during peak traffic 
hours (0800 – 0900 and 1700 – 1800).

The third option which Civic has assessed, 
would involve the removal of the existing 
traffic signals which would allow for the 
reallocation of a considerable area of 
highway land to public realm. Visibility at 
the junction will also be increased through 
the removal of the traffic signals and other 
clutter.

Using Junctions9 software, the operational 
assessment indicated an improvement in 
operation in comparison to the existing 
layout, with additional highway capacity 
provided, while as stated above, providing 
more space for pedestrians and cyclists. This 
would result in a smoother operation at the 
junction, and shorter vehicle queues.

The change in junction type is likely 
to reduce vehicle speeds on approach, 
which has the potential to improve the 
safety of pedestrians, cyclists and drivers. 
Additionally, splitter islands will assist 
pedestrians wishing to cross the main 
carriageway. Studies indicate that there are 
generally fewer accidents at roundabouts 
than at signalised junctions.

It is considered Option 3 is the most 
appropriate solution and will result in an 
enhanced public realm and pedestrian 
experience without negatively impacting on 
vehicle journey times or junction capacity.

The Spaces

70

Page 102



Standard Notes Notes and Keys

906-01 CIVIC TR SK-003 -PMJM15/11/171:200

ISSUE
Status

Title

Project

Project Number Originator Drawing Number RevisionScale @ A1 Date Created Drawn Checked Discipline

Carver's Warehouse, 77 Dale Street, Manchester, M1 2HG. Tel: 0161 228 6757
Lloyds Wharf, 3 Mill Street, London SE1 2BD. Tel: 020 7253 2977
Tower Works, Unit 02-01, Globe Road, Leeds, LS11 5QG. Tel: 0113 2025 130

MANCHESTER
LONDON
LEEDS

www.civicengineers.com

1. This drawing is to be read in conjunction with all
relevant Architect's and Engineer's drawings and the
specification.

2. This drawing should not be scaled.
3. All dimensions are to be verified by the contractor on

site.
4. All discrepancies should be reported to the C.A. prior

to the commencement of the works.

© CIVIC ENGINEERS

Location Plan

Date Rev Description Drawn Chk

Sale Town Centre Public Realm and
Movement Strategy

School Street Junction
Existing and Proposed Layouts

Highway to be Reallocated as Public
Realm

T
at

to
n 

R
oa

d

Sp
rin

gf
ie

ld
 R

oa
d

School Road

TOWN HALL

Standard Notes Notes and Keys

906-01 CIVIC TR SK-003 -PMJM15/11/171:200

ISSUE
Status

Title

Project

Project Number Originator Drawing Number RevisionScale @ A1 Date Created Drawn Checked Discipline

Carver's Warehouse, 77 Dale Street, Manchester, M1 2HG. Tel: 0161 228 6757
Lloyds Wharf, 3 Mill Street, London SE1 2BD. Tel: 020 7253 2977
Tower Works, Unit 02-01, Globe Road, Leeds, LS11 5QG. Tel: 0113 2025 130

MANCHESTER
LONDON
LEEDS

www.civicengineers.com

1. This drawing is to be read in conjunction with all
relevant Architect's and Engineer's drawings and the
specification.

2. This drawing should not be scaled.
3. All dimensions are to be verified by the contractor on

site.
4. All discrepancies should be reported to the C.A. prior

to the commencement of the works.

© CIVIC ENGINEERS

Location Plan

Date Rev Description Drawn Chk

Sale Town Centre Public Realm and
Movement Strategy

School Street Junction
Existing and Proposed Layouts

Highway to be Reallocated as Public
Realm

TOWN HALL

T
at

to
n 

R
oa

d

Sp
rin

gf
ie

ld
 R

oa
d

KEY

Highway to be 
Reallocated as 
Public Realm

E X I ST I N G  L AYO U T

P R O P O S E D  L AYO U T -  O P T I O N  3

School Road

The Spaces

71

Page 103



Option 03 - View looking west to the junction with Tatton Rd / School Rd / 
Springfield Rd
The view demonstrates the significantly increased footway widths and the proposed junction 
arrangement. This junction arragement will not impede vehicular movement or throughflow, 
but will significantly improve the pedestrian experience.

The Spaces

72

Page 104



The Spaces

73

Page 105



T
o
w

in
g
 P

a
th

1

4

32

5

6

8

9

7

SALE WATERSIDE

N

School Road

T
at

to
n 

R
oa

d

T
at

to
n 

R
oa

d

C
ha

pe
l R

oa
d

Tatton Place

SALE TOWN 
HALL

The Spaces

74

Page 106



WATERSIDE PLAZA  -  Detai l 03

The Waterside Centre is Sale's unique asset, a 
destination that today does not fulfill it's full 
potential. Situated next to the Bridgewater 
Canal and the Bridgewater Way, it is 
overwhelmingly the most liked site in Sale. 
(from the public consultation).

The improvement of its surroundings, a 
better visual and physical connection to 
the canal and School Road will strengthen 
its role not only in Sale,but in the Greater 
Manchester area.  

1-Town Hall Plaza 
A new formal square outside the Town Hall 
formed from reclaimed carriageway space, 
will accentuate this unique destination and 
restore a visual and physical link between 
School Road, the Metrolink station and the 
canalside environment. 
The Sale War Memorial could be relocated 
towards the Metrolink, providing a more 
generous setting for the memorial and acting 
as a key gate arrival feature to Sale Town 
Centre. Together with the three existing 
historic lighting columns it will create a 
coherent, anchored space. 

2 - New trees
New tree planting to the south side of 
Northenden Road, in the widened footpath 
will create a backdrop to activity in the new 
Town Hall Square.

3 - Improved  additional pedestrian 
crossing points
Numerous high quality pedestrian courtesy 
crossing points will be introduced at key 
points along the carriageway. Strategically 
positioned to allowed pedestrians to cross 
on desire lines, the frequency of them 
also ensures vehicles are moving slowly 
throughout the space.

4 - New dwelling opportunities 
A wider footpath on the canal bridge allows 
for opportunities to dwell at this Town 
Centre gateway, taking advantage of the 
south facing orientation.

5 - New rail replacing brick wall
The wall adjacent to the Bridgewater Way 
will be reduced in height, and opened 
up where possible to allow town centre 
pedestrians to engage with the water once 
again.

6 - Improved formal and informal 
opportunities on the plaza
The Waterside Plaza will provide the 
town centre with a high quality flexible 
environment, with opportunities for new 
trees and planting. The existing amphitheatre 
removed, with the space assimilated into a 
more even surface - the plaza can thus be 
transformed for different events - a scene for 
performance, market, etc.

7 - The new Waterside Plaza will 
feature generous terraces to bring the 
Bridgewater Canal into the town centre 
and the newly formed Plaza. 
The existing terraces to the canal could be 
extended in a southern direction to create 
a canalised environment that will allow for 
gathering and engagement. The existing 
cycling ramp will be restructured accordingly.

8 - Shared space
Tatton Place is transformed into a pedestrian 
orientated street, connecting Ashfield Road 
to the Bridgewater Canal.   

9 - Entrance Plaza
A new entrance plaza and planting create 
a more inviting arrival sequence to the 
Waterside building.

The Spaces

75

Page 107



PRECEDENT IMAGE: AMPLE SEATING OPPORTUNITIES ON NEW ROAD, BRIGHTON

The Spaces

76

Page 108



PRECEDENT IMAGE: ACTIVE CANALSIDE ON GRANARY SQUARE, LONDON

PRECEDENT IMAGE: GOOSE GREEN, ALTRINCHAM

The Spaces

77

Page 109



The Spaces

78

Page 110



View along The Bridgewater Way into the new Waterside Plaza
The Waterside Plaza will become a hub of activity for the town centre. Terraces open the space 
up to the canal allowing workers, visitors and residents access to the fantastic asset and an 
opportunity to engage with the water.

The Spaces

79

Page 111



Northenden Road is the key approach 
road and shopping street east of the town 
centre. Its improvements will strengthen 
its established identity as a food and drink 
destination.

1 - Broad Road Junction 
The junction between Northenden Road and 
Broad Road will be reconfigured to regulate 
the flow of traffic and prevent any build-up 
of vehicles wishing to turn right into Broad 
Road.

The scheme will reduce vehicle speeds 
through the area by narrowing the lanes and 
removing traditional road markings, and 
introducing a junction with a roundabout 
instead of the current arrangement. By 
altering the geometry of the junction, the 
impression of priority will be implied - the 
geometry and arrangement of the junction 
will be similar to a roundabout to encourage 
drivers to give way to vehicles approaching 
from the right. The materiality and lack of 
signing and lining will contribute to this, 

encouraging drivers to negotiate the junction 
at low speed, with increased awareness of 
their surroundings and of other road users.
Additional public realm will be provided 
which will create additional crossing 
opportunities for pedestrians, in addition to 
an overall safer environment, both in terms 
of personal security and highways safety. The 
benefits of public ream enhancements such 
as these typically include reductions in noise 
and air pollution, an increase in footfall and 
an improvement to road safety.

Taxis will exit the existing taxi rank and loop 
around to head east on Northenden Road.

2 - Hope Road Junction
The pedestrian crossing across Hope Road 
is very uncomfortable at present due to the 
steep gradient of Hope Road as it meets 
with Northenden Road. The proposal will 
widen the footway on Northenden Road, 
in order to create a safer and more friendly 
environment. The footways will be built out 
into the carriageway so that pedestrians and 

1

2

3

NORTHENDEN ROAD -  Detai l 04

Broad Road

H
op

e R
oa

d

The Spaces

80

Page 112



NORTHENDEN ROAD -  Detai l 04
4

5

6

cyclists can cross at street level and will not 
have to negotiate a gradient at the same time 
as crossing the road.

Changes in material at the crossing will create 
a clear crossing area, signalling to drivers that 
pedestrians have priority in this space.

3 - Reduced carriageway width 
The Northenden Road carriageway has been 
reduced in width to provide significantly 
wider footpaths to the sunny, northern side. 
This increased width will allow retail spill 
out, encoure more alfresco and recreational 
activity, further enhancing the existing and 
established food and bevarage offer in this 
area.

4 - Additional parking 
Additional parking has been included along 
Northenden Road to further support local 
businesses.

5 - Additional crossing points
Courtesy crossings have been introduced at 
key pedestrian desire lines, and at a frequency 
to encourage lower vehicular speeds.

6 - Gateway feature
A gateway feature will be used at the south-
western end of Northnenden Road to 
announce the Town Centre to approaching 
drivers, creating a behavioural shift in their 
approach to driving in the town.

A

A
'

N

Northenden Road

See page 83 for typical cross section.

The Spaces

81

Page 113



Standard Notes Notes and Keys

906-01 CIVIC TR SK-004 -PMJM15/11/171:200

ISSUE
Status

Title

Project

Project Number Originator Drawing Number RevisionScale @ A1 Date Created Drawn Checked Discipline

Carver's Warehouse, 77 Dale Street, Manchester, M1 2HG. Tel: 0161 228 6757
Lloyds Wharf, 3 Mill Street, London SE1 2BD. Tel: 020 7253 2977
Tower Works, Unit 02-01, Globe Road, Leeds, LS11 5QG. Tel: 0113 2025 130

MANCHESTER
LONDON
LEEDS

www.civicengineers.com

1. This drawing is to be read in conjunction with all
relevant Architect's and Engineer's drawings and the
specification.

2. This drawing should not be scaled.
3. All dimensions are to be verified by the contractor on

site.
4. All discrepancies should be reported to the C.A. prior

to the commencement of the works.

© CIVIC ENGINEERS

Location Plan

Date Rev Description Drawn Chk

Sale Town Centre Public Realm and
Movement Strategy

Broad Road
Existing and Proposed Layouts

Highway to be Reallocated as Public
Realm

Northenden Road

H
ope R

oad

Broad Road

METROLINK 
TRAM 

STATION

KINGS 
RANSOM

KEY

Highway to be 
Reallocated as 
Public Realm

E X I ST I N G  L AYO U T

P R O P O S E D  L AYO U T

Standard Notes Notes and Keys

906-01 CIVIC TR SK-004 -PMJM15/11/171:200

ISSUE
Status

Title

Project

Project Number Originator Drawing Number RevisionScale @ A1 Date Created Drawn Checked Discipline

Carver's Warehouse, 77 Dale Street, Manchester, M1 2HG. Tel: 0161 228 6757
Lloyds Wharf, 3 Mill Street, London SE1 2BD. Tel: 020 7253 2977
Tower Works, Unit 02-01, Globe Road, Leeds, LS11 5QG. Tel: 0113 2025 130

MANCHESTER
LONDON
LEEDS

www.civicengineers.com

1. This drawing is to be read in conjunction with all
relevant Architect's and Engineer's drawings and the
specification.

2. This drawing should not be scaled.
3. All dimensions are to be verified by the contractor on

site.
4. All discrepancies should be reported to the C.A. prior

to the commencement of the works.

© CIVIC ENGINEERS

Location Plan

Date Rev Description Drawn Chk

Sale Town Centre Public Realm and
Movement Strategy

Broad Road
Existing and Proposed Layouts

Highway to be Reallocated as Public
Realm

Northenden Road

H
ope R

oad

Broad Road

METROLINK 
TRAM 

STATION

KINGS 
RANSOM

School Road

The Spaces

82

Page 114



S ECT I O N  A-A' -  E X I ST I N G

S ECT I O N  A-A' -  P R O P O S E D

C
ar

ri
ag

ew
ay

N
ew

 p
ar

ki
ng

2.
4m

W
id

en
ed

 
pa

ve
m

en
t

6.
4m

C
ar

ri
ag

ew
ay

6.
0m

Pa
ve

m
en

t

Pa
ve

m
en

t

O
n-

st
re

et
 p

ar
ki

ng

Pa
ve

m
en

t

6.
0m

A
C

T
IV

E
 G

R
O

U
N

D
 F

LO
O

R
A

C
T

IV
E

 G
R

O
U

N
D

 F
LO

O
R

A
C

T
IV

E
 G

R
O

U
N

D
 F

LO
O

R
A

C
T

IV
E

 G
R

O
U

N
D

 F
LO

O
R

PRECEDENT IMAGE: STAMFORD NEW ROAD, ALTRINCHAM PRECEDENT IMAGE: GATEWAY FEATURE, POYNTON

The Spaces

83

Page 115



The street divides the town centre and 
residential areas to the west. The main 
objective is to soften this boundary through 
creating a more pleasant streetscape and 
pedestrian and cycle environment.

1 - Relocated taxi rank
A new and improved taxi rank will be created 
at the western end of Sibson Road to replace 
the one on Hereford Street.

2 - New pedestrian courtesy crossings 
New courtesy crossings will be introduced 
along Sibson Road reducing vehicle speeds 
without impeding flow and improving 
pedestrian connectivity between the adjacent 
residential areas and the town centre.

3 - Segregated cycleway
A two-way segregate cycleway will be 
introduced on the southern side of Sibson 
Road. This improved link will allow cyclists 
from Ashton-upon-Mersey to access the 
Bridgwater Way.

4 - Opportunity for large greenspace 
spanning a length of the road 
A green buffer to potential new residential 
development will be created along the 
northern edge. Green Infrastructure is 
critical to ensure the future resilience 
of our drainage network and long term 
sustainability of our town centres.

5 - Redevelopment of The Square
Proposals have taken cognisance of the 
adjacent proposals for The Square. A new 
pedestrian link will allow free pedestrian 
movement across Sibson Road into the heart 
of The Square.

6 - The Bridgewater Way access
Access to the Bridgewater Way should be 
encouraged from Sibson Road. The existing 
route adjacent to the Church serves as a 
reliable route, although a more long term, 
permanent Public Right Of Way should be 
explored between the church and the school.

1

2

3SIBSON ROAD  -  Detai l 05

B

B
'

Sibson Road

H
er

ef
or

d S
tre

et

W
ick

en
by

 D
riv

e

See page 87  for typical cross section.

The Spaces

84

Page 116



4

5

6

7

7 - Sibson Road junction 
At the junction of Sibson Road and 
Springfield Road, a new town centre space 
will be created with carriageway space 
reallocated. The operation of the proposed 
junction layout has been assessed and it 
will still be able to operate within capacity.  
The new space will become an 'urban park' 
providing an enhanced setting for St Pauls 
Church and the proposed New Square 
development, whilst also strengthening 
pedestrian and cycle connections between the 
residential area to the south of Sibson Road 
with the town centre, Springfield School and 
with the Bridgewater Canal.

It is also proposed to remove the wide median 
and painted 'ghost islands' that currently 
exist on Sibson Road. This space will be re-
provided as a new linear park.

Additional benefits of these changes will 
be the provision of a new high-quality, 
bi-directional cycle lane, connecting the 
western part of Sale to both the town centre 
and the canal towpath. This will incorporate 
new wide crossings which will create a safer 
environment for pedestrians and facilitate 
walking between the town centre and 
residential areas to the south.

N

Fria
r's

 R
oa

d

Spr
in

gf
iel

d R
oa

d

Sprin
gf

iel
d R

oad

The Spaces

85

Page 117



PRECEDENT IMAGE: STAMFORD NEW ROAD, ALTRINCHAM AND GREY TO GREEN, 
WEST BAR, SHEFFIELD

The Spaces

86

Page 118



S ECT I O N  B - B ' -  E X I ST I N G

C
ar

ri
ag

ew
ay

N
ar

ro
w

ed
 c

ar
ri

ag
ew

ay
6.

1m

Pa
ve

m
en

t

Pa
ve

m
en

t

Pa
ve

m
en

t
2.

1m

T
ax

i r
an

k
2.

5m

G
re

en

G
re

en

Pa
ve

m
en

t
4.

3m

C
yc

le
 p

at
h

3m

Fr
on

t g
ar

de
n

Fr
on

t g
ar

de
n

T
E

SC
O

R
E

SI
D

E
N

T
IA

L
R

E
SI

D
E

N
T

IA
L

T
E

SC
O

S ECT I O N  B - B ' -  P R O P O S E D

The Spaces

87

Page 119



The Spaces

88

Page 120



Going Forward

89

5
Going Forward

Page 121



IMPLEMENTATION PLAN

Northenden Road

School Road

Town Hall Junction

Waterside Plaza

Springfield Road

Sibson Road

Washway Road / Cross Street
Seperate study would need to carried out

Ashfield Road / Claremont Road

Hayfield Street / Hereford Street

F L E X I B L E  P H AS I N G  ST RAT EGY

The implementation of an ambitious 
masterplan such as this requires a degree 
of flexibilty to ensure the proposals can be 
delivered in stages, dependent on funding 
streams.

To that end, this plan is indicative and has 
been developed to deliver maximum value 
for money (elements of the scheme that 
will deliver the greatest economic benefit 
to the area through targeted public realm 
investment).

Should a sum of funding become available 
that differs from the budgets set out in the 
outline cost plan, it is possible to reduce or 
extend the scope of works of an individual 
phase, or to adapt the phasing plan to suit.

In alphabetical order:

Going Forward

90

Page 122



N

Going Forward

91

Page 123



Going Forward

92

Page 124



OUTLINE COST PLAN

I N T R O D U CT I O N

The outline cost plan has been developed to 
give an indication of the 'whole project costs' 
for specific 'areas' on the previous plan. A full 
breakdown of the figures is contained in the 
body of the main report.

 
The figures should be taken as indicative 
budgets only as at November 2017, and are 
intended to give an idea of the potential cost 
required to deliver the vision as contained 
in the report. Detailed design works will be 
required to determine actual costs.

Please Note

Figures are inclusive of the main contract 
works, preliminaries, fees and contingency, 
but exlusive of VAT.

Going Forward

93

M A I N  WO R K S B U D G E T 
[ £ ]

1 Northenden Road 1,200,000.00

2 School Road 1,812,000.00

3 Town Hall Junction 924,000.00

4 Springfield Road 913,000.00

5 Ashfield Road 985,000.00

6 Waterside Plaza 2,044,000.00

7 Sibson Road 1,587,000.00

8 Hayfield Street / Hereford Street 1,089,000.00

TOTAL 10 , 554 , 0 0 0 . 0 0

Page 125



Page 126



 1 

 
TRAFFORD COUNCIL 
 

 
 

Report to:   Executive  
Date:    17 September 2018 
Report for:    Decision 
Report of:  Corporate Director, Adult Services and Corporate Director 

Finance and Systems 

  

 
Report Title 
 

 
Adult Social Care (ASC) Charging and Debt Recovery Policies and Regulatory 
Reform Order (Disability Facilities Grants)  – Proposed Changes for Consultation 
and to combine 
 

 
Summary 
 

The Council aims to support people to remain at home and to be as independent as 
possible for as long as possible. It is important to support people to maximise their 
income and ensure we prevent debt from developing. Adults with care support 
needs contribute to their care in line with the Care Act 2014. 
 
The Council's current Adult Social Care Charging Policy was last reviewed in 2015 
to reflect the legislation and guidance provided as a result of the introduction of the 
Care Act 2014. A separate Debt Recovery (DR) policy was also devised at this time 
in order to ensure a consistent and transparent approach to debt recovery.  
 
The Council’s current Disabled Facilities Grant (DFG) application, means test and 
recovery processes are detailed in its Regulatory Reform Order (RRO) which was 
last updated in 2011 to increase the spend limits. 
 
Trafford is keen to ensure it continually improves, both in terms of the customer 
journey and the back office value for money delivery of its functions.  Through 
learning from customer feedback and identifying areas where process improvements 
could be made it has been identified that there is an opportunity to revise and 
combine the existing policies. 
 
The Council are proposing to consult with the public on the following changes: 
 

1) Combine the Adult Social Care Charging Policy and Debt Recovery 
policy to remove duplication and include Disabled Facilities Grant DFG) 
to create a single policy. 

2) Include clear guidance regarding Disability Related Expenditure (DRE) 

3) Introduce charges (initial and annual) to clients who have excess of the 
capital limit of £23,250 to undertake the legal work to set up funding 
arrangements and legal agreements. 

4) Introduce annual charges (already an initial charge) to clients who enter 
in to a Deferred Payment Arrangement (DPA) -  

Page 127

Agenda Item 8



 2 

5) Include clear guidance relating to Third Party Top Up (TPTU) 
assessments and Choice of Accommodation. 

6) Develop and update the existing Disabled Facilities Grant (DFG) 
Regulatory Reform Order (RRO). 

 

 
Recommendation(s) 
 

 
That the Executive agrees to the Council consulting with the public on proposals to 
amend and combine the above policies.  
 

   
Contact person for access to background papers and further information: 
 
Name:  Louise Shaw   
Extension: 3120  
 
Background Papers: None 

 

Relationship to Corporate Priorities Improving health and wellbeing of residents. 
Value for money and low Council Tax. 

Financial  The introduction of new charges will raise a small 
income which will be reinvested back in to the 
service to provide advice and support through the 
financial element of adult social care for residents 
and their families. 
 
Although amendments to increase the means 
tested limit to potentially between £3k-£5k will 
result in marginally less income it is anticipated 
that the number of applications in this area may 
increase. It is expected that the income raised 
from applying land charges will offset this 
increased spend. 

Legal Implications: The proposed changes are fully compliant with the 
legislation and guidance. 

Equality/Diversity Implications An EIA will be developed and ran alongside the 
consultation process. 

Sustainability Implications N/A 

Resource Implications e.g. Staffing 
/ ICT / Assets 

None – will be within existing resources. 

Risk Management Implications   None 

Health & Wellbeing Implications Clearer information, support and guidance and the 
reduction of accruing debt will have a positive 
effect on health and wellbeing as will an improved 
Disability Facilities Grant application process. 

Health and Safety Implications N/A 

 
 

Page 128



 3 

  
1.0 Introduction and Background  
 
1.1 Unlike the NHS, adult social care is not automatically free for recipients and 

therefore each local authority is responsible for its own policy which is based on 
legislation and guidance. In the main, the Council pays the provider for the care 
package that has been put in place, financially assesses the client and then invoices 
them for their contribution.   

 
1.2 Trafford’s Adult Social Care (ASC) charging policy was amended in 2015 to reflect 

the changes within the Care Act 2014. A separate Debt Recovery policy was also 
devised around this time to ensure a consistent and transparent approach to debt 
recovery.  

 
1.3 Trafford Council funds adaptations to residents of the borough through Disabled 

Facilities Grants via a central government grant. In 2003, central government 
allowed each local authority to develop a Regulatory Reform Order (RRO) allowing 
local authorities to develop discretionary powers which Trafford duly did and updated 
in 2011 to increase individual grant limits. 

 
1.3 The Council has undertaken an exercise which involved evaluating lessons learnt 

from complaints and identifying areas where process improvements could be made. 
This has led to the opportunity to propose changes to the ASC, DR and RRO 
Policies as well as create a combined policy. 

 
 

2.0 Trafford’s Current Policies 
 
2.1 The current ASC Charging Policy determines how the Council financially assesses 

clients, both in their own home and in a care home. An individual is allowed to keep 
a certain amount of their income and capital before being asked to pay a contribution 
towards their care. The amount they are allowed to keep depends on their personal 
and household circumstances and for income this is called the Minimum Income 
Guarantee (MIG) and it is set annually by the Department of Health and Social Care. 

 
2.2 An individual’s capital is also taken in to account as part of the financial assessment. 
  The capital limit, which includes property, is between £14,250 and £23,250. Anyone 

with more than £23,250 is required to meet the full cost of their care.  
 
2.3     Where an individual chooses a residential placement that exceeds the Council’s rate, 

they have to meet the full cost of the difference. This is known as a Third Party Top 
Up (TPTU) and it requires a third party to enter in to a legal contract with the Council 
to pay for the placement. 

 
2.4  Often a client has funds over the capital limit that they cannot, or do not, want to be 

released such as a property, their former family home, annuity plans etc. In the 
circumstances where this relates to a property the Council is legally obliged to offer a 
Deferred Payment Agreement (DPA) - subject to qualifying conditions being met - 
which in essence is a loan against the value of their property which is then repaid 
with interest when the property is sold or the client passes away. The policy details 
the eligibility criteria, the administration charges and interest for DPA’s. The DPA is a 
legal contract between the owner (or a person officially acting on their behalf) and 
the Council. 

    

Page 129



 4 

2.5 The policy also includes information relating to what expenditure should be taken in 
to account when determining a client’s MIG, such as rent, Council Tax, utility bills 
etc. The Care Act makes it clear that when the Council is taking into account 
disability benefits within the financial assessment, the Council must consider 
Disability Related Expenditure for people in receipt of care in their own home.  

 
2.6 The current DR Policy not only defines the debt recovery cycle, it also describes 

which services are chargeable, in what circumstances a financial assessment will be 
carried out and how Direct Payments work and subsequently how they are 
recovered if required. It also details how clients can fund a TPTU. In terms of the 
capital element, the policy advises that the Council can offer a Deferred Payment 
Arrangement (DPA) scheme which, as you can see from above, is repetitive in most 
elements when compared to the ASC Policy. 

 
2.7 The Regulatory Reform Order (RRO) currently details the criteria and conditionality 

relating to the assistance clients can apply for to allow adaptations to be made to 
their home in order to continue to allow them to live independently.  The RRO details 
the application process, what works will be approved and the maximum award 
amounts as well as payment methods and grant conditionality including how 
repayments can be made.  

 
3.0 Drivers for Change 
 
3.1 Combine the ASC Charging and DR Policy and include the RRO policy. 
 

3.1.1 The Council’s DR policy is working largely as intended but as it is in a 
separate policy to the ASC Charging Policy, clients, families and advisory 
services have to work through different documentation which is repetitive in 
parts and can cause confusion. The proposal is therefore to merge them and 
have a joint policy. 

 
3.1.2 In addition, following revision of the RRO policy, it is proposed that this is also 

included in the overarching policy including debt recovery methods relating to 
the process around land charges and recovery cycles.   

  
3.2 Clear guidance for Disability Related Expenditure (DRE) 
 

3.2.1 Although it is clear in Trafford’s policy that DRE will be taken in to account, 
there isn’t further detail and guidance for residents or advisory services 
around what, how, backdating etc. This is often challenged in particular when 
recovery gets to the latter stages of enforcement.  

 
3.2.2 The proposal is to include clear guidance regarding DRE both in terms of 

examples of allowable expenditure and anticipated maximum values as well 
as how this will be treated as part of the financial reassessments process. It 
will also ensure that reviews are completed consistently.   

 
3.2.3 It is important to note that each case will still be considered on its own merits 

and a panel will be put in place so that residents can appeal the decision if 
they do not agree following their review.  

 
3.3 Introduce charges (initial and annual) to clients who have excess of the capital 

limit of £23,250 to under the legal work to set up funding arrangements and 
legal agreements 

Page 130



 5 

 
3.3.1 Where a client has assets that are not suitable for a DPA and/or the client 

lacks capacity to enter in to a formal agreement, the Council can enter in to 
other agreements such as an interim loan or solicitors undertaking in order to 
secure the debt on the Council’s behalf. Currently the Council do not charge 
for this service.  

 
3.3.2 The proposal is to introduce charges (initial and annual) to clients who have in 

excess of the capital limit of £23,250 to undertake the legal work to set up 
funding arrangements and legal agreements to align with the charges to 
clients who enter in to a DPA. The charges will relate to a very small cohort of 
residents who have the means to pay, but their assets are not accessible at 
the time of entering into a care home.   

 
3.3.3 These are often complex cases with family disputes and capacity issues and 

do cause additional anxiety and stress as there is the worry on how residential 
care bills can be paid while the formal financial arrangements are put in place. 
With no formal agreement in place the debt recovery process legally has to 
commence. The changes will therefore allow clients and family members to 
have a more informed choice regarding the cost of care with the detailed 
options available to facilitate. This also provides residents and their family 
members a choice to seek interim funding elsewhere due to the charges i.e. 
through a loan or an annuity. 

 
3.4 Introduce annual changes (already an initial charge) to clients who enter in to a 

Deferred Payment Arrangement (DPA) and therefore have in excess of the 
capital limit of £23,250 

 
 

3.4.1 Where a client has opted to enter in to a DPA they agree to pay an initial 
administration charge to compensate the work and incurred costs, however 
there are annual costs that are also incurred, for example equity checks and 
tenancy checks, that the Council is currently bearing the cost of. The proposal 
is therefore to introduce an annual charge that will align to the Interim Funding 
Charges as described in 3.3.  

 
3.5 Clear guidance relating to Third Party Top Ups (TPTU) and Choice of 

Accommodation 
 
3.5.1 TPTU agreements should be assessed for both the individual’s willingness 

and ability to pay. The latter is not often assessed before a placement is 
entered and this has caused extreme distress for clients and their families in 
terms of decisions to remove clients from settled placements and complaints 
when financial provisions have been underestimated and/or exhausted.   
There have also been issues relating to clients and families reporting that they 
have felt the Choice of Accommodation and financial impact of that choice 
have not been made explicitly clear. 

 
3.5.2 The proposal is to include clear guidance relating to TPTU’s in terms of 

willingness and ability to pay which will include requirements in appropriate 
cases to provide proof of how the TPTU can be financially sustained; again to 
ensure it is transparent when families are signing up to often high weekly 
TPTU amounts whilst also safeguarding Council funds and reduced recovery 

Page 131



 6 

administration which only adds further stress and anxiety. Similarly further 
clarity around Choice of Accommodation. 

 
3.6 Develop and update the existing DFG Regulatory Reform Order (RRO) 
 
3.6.1 The RRO and subsequent application process needs to be developed and 

updated to create a more responsive adaptations service for Trafford 
residents which will in turn ensure the DFG processes will work more 
efficiently. 

 
3.6.2 The proposal will firstly be to increase the top level of funding for each DFG 

application from £30k to £50k to reflect the rising costs of building work and 
the increasing number of complex builds. 

 
3.6.3 In addition, a review should take place to increase the current £1k means test 

for adaptation grants to a figure that is more cost effective when compared to 
the administration time to process and recover debts. Further work is required 
in this area to analyse this but it is anticipated between £3k and £5k. 

 
3.6.4 Introduce a Moving Assistance Grant capped at an upper limit of £3k to 

support rehousing to an adapted property where suitable. 
 
3.6.5 Finally, introduce applying a land charge as a condition of the grant in the 

case of owner occupier applications. This allows the recovery of funds in the 
event of a property subsequently being sold or otherwise disposed of.  

 
4.0      Public Consultation 

 

In the main the proposed changes are a positive addition to the Council’s existing 

policies providing the residents of Trafford with a tool to provide clear and concise 

guidance as well as advisory services and enhancing the DFG policy and application 

process. However, the introduction of the charges for those with capital over £23,250 

is a new proposal as well as the DRE categories and values and the way in which 

DRE is reassessed. The increased upper limits and land charges for DFG’s is also a 

new proposal. It is important, therefore that these proposals are consulted on as well 

as ensuring that as part of the consultation the Council has captured all of the main 

issues currently experienced as part of the adult social care charging process. It is 

important that the Council consults with residents, key staff, partners, stakeholders 

and advisory services which it will do through an online survey but also by holding 

stakeholder events. The consultation would commence immediately following the 

agreement to consult (subject to the call in period expiring) and last for 12 weeks. A 

further report will then be prepared for the Executive to put forward the proposed 

new policy including charges with an effective start date of 1 April 2019. 

 

5.0     Other Options 

The Council could decide not to propose the changes to the policies, however it is 

clear from the exercise completed that more comprehensive guidance is required and 

if the charges are not introduced there remains no clear pathway for residents with the 

funds to pay for their care to make informed choices in a timely manner. There would 

also remain a disparity between those clients entering in to a DPA compared to those 

Page 132



 7 

receiving interim funding as well as the continued inflexibly for residents requiring 

adaptations to their properties. 

 

 
Key Decision       No  
 
If Key Decision, has 28-day notice been given?    N/A 
 
 
 
 
Finance Officer Clearance NB Nikki Bishop 
Legal Officer Clearance PD Patrick Davis 
 
 
CORPORATE] DIRECTOR’S SIGNATURE  
 

(electronic)… ……………………………………………… 
To confirm that the Financial and Legal Implications have been considered and the 
Executive Member has cleared the report. 
 
 

Page 133



This page is intentionally left blank



 1 

TRAFFORD COUNCIL   
 
Report to:   Executive 
Date:    17 September 2018 
Report for:    Information 
Report of:  Executive Member for Constitutional Reform and Resident 

Engagement  
  

Report Title 
 

 
Report on Complaints Determined by the Local Government & Social Care 
Ombudsman 2017/18  
 

 
Summary 
 

 
There is a statutory duty to report to Members on adverse outcomes of 
complaints formally investigated by the Local Government & Social Care 
Ombudsman. This report sets out the background to this duty, and provides 
Members with a summary of complaints determined in 2017/18. 
 

 
Recommendation(s) 
 

 
That the content of the report be noted. 
 

   
Contact person for access to background papers and further information: 
Name:  J.M.J. Maloney   
Extension: 4298  
Background Papers: None.   
Implications: 
 

Relationship to Policy 
Framework/Corporate Priorities 

Complaint outcomes are potentially relevant across the range of 
Council policies. 
 

Relationship to GM Policy or 
Strategy Framework 

None directly arising from this information report. 

Financial  None directly arising from this information report.  
 

Legal Implications: None directly arising from this information report.  

 

Equality/Diversity Implications None directly arising from this information report.  

 

Sustainability Implications None directly arising from this information report.  

 

Resource Implications e.g. Staffing 
/ ICT / Assets 

None directly arising from this information report.  

 

Risk Management Implications   None directly arising from this information report.  

 

Health & Wellbeing Implications None directly arising from this information report.  
 

Health and Safety Implications None directly arising from this information report.  

Page 135

Agenda Item 9



 2 

Background 
 
1. Complaints to the Local Government & Social Care Ombudsman 
 
Services provided by the Council and agencies working on its behalf are subject to the 
jurisdiction of the Local Government & Social Care Ombudsman, who is empowered to 
investigate complaints of maladministration and / or injustice in relation to the delivery of 
those services. 
 
Ordinarily the Ombudsman will only investigate complaints which have completed progress 
through all stages of the Council’s Corporate or Statutory complaints procedures. The 
Ombudsman also operates, for the majority of complaints, a 2-stage assessment process, 
whereby complaints are only referred for investigation where, on the face of it, it appears 
that this could be warranted. 
 
It follows from this that the population of complaints actually referred by the Ombudsman for 
detailed investigation is comparatively small, and will tend to involve the most long-running 
and intractable issues; there is therefore potentially an increased likelihood that any 
complaint subject to detailed investigation will be upheld. 
 
2. The Requirement to Report to Members 
 

There are two distinct circumstances where reports on Ombudsman complaints are 
required to Members. 
 

 In rare, and generally particularly serious, cases where the Ombudsman has formally 
issued a “Public Interest” report, LGA ‘74 s. 30(1) provides that a report must be 
made to Members. 

 

 There is a broader requirement, under LGHA ‘89, to advise Members of any findings 
of “maladministration”, whether under a Public Interest report or a more usual 
Decision Statement. 

 
3. Change in Ombudsman Complaint Classification / Need to Report 
 
It is many years since the Ombudsman issued a Public Interest report in relation to Trafford. 
Generally this would only be in the most serious cases of what was deemed to be 
“maladministration”, and in all likelihood where significant injustice to the complainant, 
arising from that maladministration, had also been identified. 
 
More recently, the Ombudsman amended its classification / definition system, to refer 
primarily to a binary distinction of complaints as being “Upheld” or “Not Upheld”. Crucially,  
any complaint deemed to be upheld is classed as “Maladministration”, however trivial the 
identified fault, and whether or not any injustice arose to the complainant as a result of that 
fault. As a result of this descriptive change, the Council now receives comparatively regular 
findings of “Maladministration”. Another consequence of the use of this term to define the 
finding in these cases is that it also triggers the statutory requirement under LGHA ’89 to 
report on “Maladministration” findings to Members. 
 
Whilst there has been no substantive change in the complaints environment or the 
Council’s performance, this additional reporting requirement has arisen essentially from a 
change in the Ombudsman’s terminology. 
 
 

Page 136



 3 

4. Complaints 2017/18 
 
For the purposes of this report, the complaints included are those recorded in the 
Ombudsman’s Annual Letter for 2017/18 as having been formally determined within that 
municipal year. 
 
Annexe A provides for Members’ information an anonymised summary of cases where 
complaints have been upheld, and thus, under the current classification, deemed to involve 
“maladministration”. Details are included of service area, subject of the complaint, and 
outcome following the Ombudsman’s investigation.  
 
Of the 14 complaints categorised by the Ombudsman as having been formally investigated, 7 
(50%) were upheld. It should be noted that owing to the length of investigation a number of 
these related to ongoing complaints primarily handled in the previous year. (In the previous 
year 52% were upheld; though the small population and timing issues make it difficult to draw 
any secure conclusions from this data.)  
 
Of the 7 upheld complaints during the year 1 involved no remedial action at all (Please see 
commentary at Annex A); and 2 more involved no direct financial penalty. In general, any 
more significant financial impacts resulted from restitution of services which had not been 
provided, or waiver of charges incurred. In no case has the Ombudsman sought to issue a 
Public Interest Report. (Historically, any finding of Maladministration Causing Injustice would 
probably have led to the issuing of such a report.) This suggests that in the Ombudsman’s 
terms these are not amongst the most concerning complaints they encounter. 
 
Other Options 
 
None: there is a duty for these findings to be reported to Members. 
 
Reasons for Recommendation 
 

To satisfy a statutory duty in ensuring that Members are informed of the outcome of 
Ombudsman investigations. 
  
 

Finance Officer Clearance NB  

Legal Officer Clearance JL  

 
 

[CORPORATE] DIRECTOR’S SIGNATURE (electronic)…… ……… 

To confirm that the Financial and Legal Implications have been considered and the Executive 
Member has cleared the report. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 137



 4 

ANNEXE A 
OMBUDSMAN DECISIONS 2017/18 – UPHELD COMPLAINTS 

 
Refs. 
 

Notes Area Description Outcome 

15000038 
 

14.06.17 Adult Social Care Failure to keep proper and suitable 
records, entailing uncertainty and 
potential risk. 

Financial payment in respect of service user’s best interests; 
amendment to Council procedures; and incorporation of 
Ombudsman’s decision within care records. 
 

16003341 
 

26.7.17 Adult Social Care Failure to complete re-assessment of 
care & support needs in good time. 

Apology; completion of care plan; payment in respect of 
frustration and missed support; and requirement to ensure 
support officers have appropriate specialist training. 
 

17009532 
 

11.1.18 Waste Management Failure to deal properly with reports of 
missed refuse and recycling collections. 

Council acknowledged fault in relation to a proportion of the 
incidents cited; offered reimbursement of the appropriate 
proportion (£748) of costs claimed by the complainant; 
Ombudsman accepted this proposal. 
 

17014905 
 

25.1.18 School Appeals * SEE BELOW: The complaint related to 
the handling of a School Appeal. 
 

* SEE BELOW: The investigation was discontinued when a school 
place was awarded by the desired school. 
 

17009001 
 

15.2.18 Building Control / Enforcement Unreasonable delay in taking 
enforcement action against breaches of 
planning and building control. 
 

Council to seek Counsel’s opinion on enforcement options and 
conclude enforcement investigations within 6 months, report 
formally and supply the report to the complainant and 
Ombudsman; provide complainants with monthly updates; re-
provide a comprehensive list of issues. 
 

17001861 
 

26.3.18 Adult Social Care / Adaptations Delay in completion of grant process. Time and trouble payment of £500 recommended. 

17013335 
 

28.3.18 Waste Collection Failure to ensure bins returned to 
proper place, and in complaint 
handling. 

Apology for time and trouble, and for inadequate instructions to 
crews; monitor and share outcome with complainant; consider 
allocation of a specific collection point. 
 

 
 

P
age 138



 5 

* PLEASE NOTE: This complaint has been categorised in the Ombudsman’s statistical summary as “Upheld”, following a “Detailed Investigation”. From an 
examination of its records, the Council has concerns regarding both of these classifications. 
 
Whilst the investigation was in progress, the Ombudsman issued a Final Decision Letter indicating that the investigation had been discontinued, as a 
school place had been offered; and formally classifying the complaint as “Upheld – no further action”. 
 
It is assumed that the Ombudsman’s inference was that, in offering a place, the Council was acknowledging fault and taking action to remedy it. In fact, the 
award of the place was because the school in question had independently decided to expand its capacity. This decision was entirely unrelated to any fault, 
and unrelated to the Ombudsman’s Investigation. The school’s decision was made prior to the Ombudsman’s enquiries. No fault was admitted by the 
Council; as the investigation was discontinued, it is unclear that any fault was formally identified; and the Council was not in a position to query or challenge 
the finding prior to its publication. 
 
In this light, the Council would take the view that it is not clear that a detailed investigation was completed, and that the finding of “Upheld” does not reflect 
the actual position. 

 
 P

age 139



T
his page is intentionally left blank



1 
 

TRAFFORD COUNCIL 

 

Report to: Executive 

Date:  17 September 2018 

Report for:  Information 

Report of:  The Executive Member for Finance and the Corporate Director of 

Finance and Systems 

 
Report Title: 
 

Budget Monitoring 2018/19 – Period 4 (April to July 2018). 

 
Summary: 
 

The purpose of this report is to inform Members of the current 2018/19 forecast 
outturn figures relating to both Revenue and Capital budgets. It also summarises the 
latest forecast position for Council Tax and Business Rates within the Collection Fund. 

 
Recommendation(s) 
 

It is recommended that: 

a) the Executive note the report and the changes to the Capital Programme as 
detailed in paragraph 16. 

 
Contact person for access to background papers and further information: 
 
David Muggeridge, Finance Manager, Financial Accounting Extension: 4534 
 
Background Papers: None 
 

Relationship to Policy 
Framework/Corporate Priorities 
 

Value for Money 

Financial  Revenue and Capital expenditure to be contained 
within available resources in 2018/19. 

Legal Implications: None arising out of this report  

Equality/Diversity Implications None arising out of this report  

Sustainability Implications None arising out of this report  

Resource Implications e.g. Staffing 
/ ICT / Assets 

Not applicable 
 

Risk Management Implications   Not applicable 
 

Health & Wellbeing Implications Not applicable 
 

Health and Safety Implications Not applicable 
 

 

Page 141

Agenda Item 10



2 
 

Other Options 
 
Not Applicable 
 
Consultation 
 
Not Applicable 
 
Reasons for Recommendation 
 
Not Applicable 
 
Finance Officer Clearance ……DM………… 
Legal Officer Clearance ……JLF………… 
 
 

CORPORATE DIRECTOR’S SIGNATURE … ………  
 

Page 142



3 
 

REVENUE BUDGET 

Budget Monitoring - Financial Results 
 
1. The approved budget agreed at the 21 February 2018 Council meeting is 

£164.25m. In determining the budget an overall gap of £22.945m was addressed 
by a combination of additional resources of £12.972m, including projected 
growth in business rates, council tax and use of general reserve and £9.973m of 
service savings and additional income.  

2. Based on the budget monitoring for the first 4 months, the year end forecast 
outturn is an overspend of £1.958m, an increase of £0.858m since the last 
monitoring period and mainly reflects continuing pressures in social care detailed 
in Table 2. Despite continuing efforts to control expenditure across demand led 
services, the number of children in care has increased from the figure last 
reported to 389 at the end of July. Whilst the quality of care and outcomes for 
children and their safety remain paramount, the Council will continue to make the 
most cost effective arrangements for children entering care.  It should be noted 
that local authorities across the country are seeing an increase in the cost of 
residential support for children entering care, particularly when placements are 
required outside of borough, and whilst options are being actively pursued to 
reduce the level of placements outside of Trafford, this is proving challenging 
given the increase in demand of children entering the system. Also the judiciary 
can make it difficult to control looked after children numbers locally. At this stage 
a cautious approach continues to be taken in the projections, in line with the 
approach in previous years, with a prudent level of contingency budget 
remaining in the adults and children’s service areas. This position will be closely 
monitored to understand the implications on future year’s budgets.  

3. Detailed below in Table 1 is a summary breakdown of the service and funding 
variances against budget, with Table 2 providing an explanation of the variances: 

 

Table 1: Budget Monitoring 
results by Service 

2018/19 
Budget 
(£000’s) 

Forecast 
Outturn 
(£000’s) 

 Forecast 
Variance 
(£000’s) 

Percent-
age 

Children’s Services 32,373 34,333 1,960 6.1% 

Adult Services (Inc. Public Health) 60,062 60,533 471 0.8% 

Place 23,874 23,686 (188) (0.8)% 

People 2,762 2,838 76 2.8% 

Finance & Systems 6,997 6,994 (3) (0.0)% 

Governance & Community 
Strategy 

7,508 7,639 131 1.7% 

Total Directorate Budgets 133,576 136,023 2,447 1.8% 

Council-wide budgets 30,670 30,181 (489) (1.6)% 

Net Service Expenditure 
variance  

164,246 166,204 1,958 1.2% 

Page 143



4 
 

 
Budget Adjustments and Virements 

 
4. A small number of budget adjustments have been made, under delegated 

powers, since the Period 2 Budget Monitoring Report. 
 

Main variances, changes to budget assumptions and key risks 
 

5. The main variances contributing to the projected overspend of £1.958m, any 
changes to budget assumptions and associated key risks are highlighted below: 

 

Table 2: Main 
variances  

Forecast 
Variance 
(£000’s) Explanation/Risks 

Children’s 
Services 

1,960 Outturn variance £1.960m adverse, a £345k 
adverse movement since P2: 

 £1.648m overspend in Children’s 
placements Budget (Note 1); 

 £167k additional Home to School Transport 
costs (Note 2); 

 £145k additional staffing costs and 
underachievement of income (Note 3). 

 
Note 1 
The projected outturn position is a gross overspend 
of £1.888m, partially offset by a one off underspend 
of £240k on the Regional Adoption Agency. The 
variance is as a result of a continuing rise in demand 
and the increasing costs of Children’s placements 
which is in contrast to the assumptions in the budget.  
 
Since the last monitoring report at the end of May the 
service has experienced increased cost pressures in 
External Children’s home placements £196k, 
connected persons foster care £139k and Complex 
and Additional Needs £117k. The increases have 
been partially offset by minor decreases in other 
placements amounting to £116k. 

Funding     

Business Rates (see para. 14) (67,619) (67,619) -  

Council Tax (see para. 11) (94,497) (94,497) -  

Reserves (1,630) (1,630) -  

Collection Fund surplus (500) (500) -  

Funding variance  (164,246) (164,246) 0 0.0% 

     

Net Revenue Outturn variance 0 1,958 1,958 1.2% 

     

Dedicated Schools Grant 128,036 128,147 111 0.1% 

Public Health  12,178 12,378 200 1.6% 

Page 144



5 
 

 
The service is working on strategies to recover the 
forecasted overspend and will attempt to make the 
most cost effective decisions  for Children entering 
care without compromising on outcomes for Children 
and safety. Increased scrutiny will be required in this 
area in this financial year, finance will work in 
conjunction with the service to increase challenge on 
decisions made at the front door. 
 
The service is actively pursuing options that will allow 
Children currently placed outside of the borough in 
high cost external placements to return to Trafford 
which would result in cost reductions, maximising 
internal sufficiency. The service is also adopting new 
working methods in the form of Restorative Practice 
aimed at improving early help and reducing the need 
for the escalation of Children through the service.                    
 
The position assumes that the £900k savings target 
will be achieved in full. As at 31/07/18 £553k of the 
savings target has been achieved via the planned 
de-escalation of Children’s placements. 
                     
Within the projected position there is a contingency 
for forecasted demand on the service of £1.3m. This 
will be released throughout the financial year if the 
service can prevent or decrease new activity then 
there will be a corresponding reduction in the 
overspend. 
 
The number of children in care as at the end of July 
was 389, an increase of 3 from that last reported at 
the end of May. 
 
Note 2 
The Home to School Transport (Trafford Travel Co-
ordination Unit) service continues to experience high 
demand and although the full extent of projected 
costs will not be known until demand is confirmed 
when the new school year commences in 
September, current forecasts show that the service 
will be £167k overspent at the year end.  Although 
savings have been made on the staffing budget there 
are a number of new and expanded “runs” which 
have resulted in higher contractor costs for 
commissioned transport.  The Service continues to 
promote independent travel training for young people 
and car mileage payments to parents as a package 
of flexible travel assistance solutions for families; this 
helps reduce demand for transport.  

Page 145



6 
 

Note 3 
The remainder of the overspend is due to staffing 
costs and projected under achievement of income 
£145k. 
 
Finance will work with the service to attempt to 
recover the projected overspend throughout the 
financial year. 
 

Adult Services / 
Public Health 

471 Outturn variance £471k adverse, a £554k adverse 
movement since P2: 

 £309k adverse variance in the Adults Client 
Budget (Note 1); 

  £97k increase in Deprivation of Liberties 
(DOLS) costs (Note 2); 

 £135k reduction in costs due to vacancies 
and one off savings (Note 3); 

 £200k net overspend from the Council’s 
contribution to the Community Services 
Contract. 

 
Note 1 
The main area of volatility is in the adult client 
budget.  
 
There has been a higher than expected spike in 
referrals into Adult Social Care during the last few 
months; this was mainly in hospital sites and 
corresponded with an increased focus on reducing 
the length of stay in acute beds ahead of the summer 
pressures, in line with the GM initiative. 
 
The use of the discharge to access pathways has 
supported Trafford to manage the increase and 
stabilise the impact on delayed transfers of care but 
ultimately this has had an impact on the budget. 
 
The market continues to be complex and there is a 
significant challenge for the service to procure care 
at the council framework prices. However 
commissioners have had recent success in this area. 
As at the end of July the Council is forecasting to 
spend around £2.2m on care exceeding framework 
prices. 
 
The lack of affordable nursing care beds in the 
borough is increasing the number of top-up fees 
payable by the Council, as is the higher rate of home 
care packages.  The accelerated work on delayed 
transfers of care is also increasing the financial 

Page 146



7 
 

pressure in this area as residents are brought out of 
hospital quickly to assess their needs in the 
community. 
 
However, this has been mitigated by an increase in 
client contributions that have emerged as a result of 
a detailed review of Client Financial Assessments 
undertaken by the Assessments and Clients Services 
team to ensure that contributions are in line with the 
income received by individual clients. 
 
Within the budget there is a savings target of 
£2.620m, savings achieved to date are £1.373m. The 
current forecast reflects a projected 
underachievement of savings by £222k. The 
projection is a reflection of the savings made to date 
from Reassessments; the service is at the end of a 5 
year cycle which has resulted in the majority of care 
packages being at the optimum level in terms of 
assessed need. The service continues to actively 
pursue opportunities to reduce costs in other areas to 
mitigate against the underachievement of savings. 
 
Within the current forecast there is a contingency of 
£1.050m. 
 
What is the service doing to prevent an escalation in 
costs? 
 

• Commissioners continue to increase the 

capacity of Homecare available to the council, 
and have brought another nine SAMS 
providers on board; this will ensure that some 
clients can increase/retain their independence 
in their own home therefore reducing demand 
for residential/nursing placements. 

• The service are exploring alternative 
contracting arrangements particularly in the 
form of block contracting in order to achieve 
value for money and to provide security for 
both the Council and providers. 

 Commissioning are actively reviewing the 
payments the Council are making over and 
above framework prices, where possible 
alternative providers will be sourced to reduce 
the pressure on the budget however it is 
important to note that quality will not be 
compromised. 

 Increases in the use of technology are being 
promoted and further developments will 

Page 147



8 
 

continue in this area to attempt to decrease 
the need for human intervention and to 
promote independence. 

Note 2 
Included within the forecast is a £230k gross 
overspend on Deprivation of Liberty fees due to 
known demand on forecasted capacity. This has 
been partially offset by one off grant funding of £133k 
resulting in a net overspend of £97k. 
 
Note 3 
The outturn position includes an underspend on 
staffing due to vacancies and one-off savings of 
£135k. 
 
Note 4 - Community Services Contract  
The Council and Trafford CCG are parties in the 
above contract with Pennine Care NHS Foundation 
Trust. The contract is expected to overspend by 
around £1.8m in this financial year; a risk share 
agreement has been agreed that will see the Council 
responsible for around 25% of any overspend at the 
end of the financial year, this equates to around 
£450k. 
 
The service has estimated that expenditure can be 
reduced in other areas of the Public Health budget by 
£250k to mitigate against the pressure in this 
financial year, the remaining projected overspend is 
therefore £200k. 
 
Regular updates will be provided in forthcoming 
budget monitoring reports. 
 

Place (188) Outturn variance £188k favourable, a £172k 
favourable movement since P2 

 staff underspend from vacancies of £491k, 
which is £297k in excess of the savings 
target and equates to approximately 5.5% of 
the overall staffing budget.  Efforts are 
continuing to fill vacant posts and a number 
of services are in the process of 
restructuring;  

 net income savings from property rents, car 
park income and other fees of £60k; 

 partly offset by a net overspend in running 
costs of £169k across all services, including 
the £106k from waste management disposal 
costs previously reported; 

 Note - Planning income is £460k above 

Page 148



9 
 

target and is ring fenced for re-investment in 
the service in line with government 
regulations. 

Period movement £172k favourable: 

 additional car parking income £128k, in 
particular from Oakfield Road and Regent 
Road car parks remaining in operation 
longer than expected; 

 one-off licence fee from MUFC relating to 
events, £41k; 

 increased running costs £58k, in particular 
relating to rates bills for car parks and other 
property higher than previously expected, 
£52k and a £37k rate bill for Trafford Park 
depot pending disposal of the site;  

 increased underspend on staff costs £61k. 

 

People 76 Outturn variance £76k adverse, a £177k adverse 
movement since P2: 

 staff underspend from vacancies of £140k 
which is 2.8% of the total staffing budget, 
and additional income mainly from traded 
services of £67k mean the service savings 
target has been exceeded by £17k 

 one-off costs of £57k relating to changes to 
the Council’s Executive management 
structure; 

 running costs are slightly higher than budget 
by £36k, due mainly to one-off ICT costs in 
HR. 

 

Finance & 
Systems 

(3) Outturn variance £3k favourable, a £5k 
favourable movement: 

 staff underspend from vacancies are £245k, 
representing 3.3% of the total staffing budget 
and an underspend on running costs of £41k 
mainly on ICT contracts mean the service 
savings target has been exceeded by £3k. 

 The main areas of vacancy underspending 
are Exchequer services, where staff turnover 
is traditionally high, and ICT which reflects 
the current difficulties in recruiting to this 
service. 

 

Page 149



10 
 

Governance & 
Community 
Strategy 

131 Outturn variance £131k adverse, a £20k 
favourable movement: 

 staff underspend from vacancies are £292k, 
representing 4.3% of the total staffing 
budget. The main areas include £161k in 
Legal Services, £95k in Access Trafford and 
£34k in Partnerships & Communities. This is 
£32k in excess of the overall savings target 
for the service and has been achieved from 
natural staff turnover across the Directorate; 

 an overspend in running costs of £99k, 
including demand led legal costs of £39k and 
£58k relating to the trading position of Sale 
Waterside Arts Centre; 

 a shortfall in other savings of £71k, mainly 
relating to projected income at Sale 
Waterside Arts Centre of £53k. CCTV 
trading income is also expected to be £18k 
below the budgeted savings target; 

 £7k saving from additional SLA income in 
Legal Services. 

 

Council-wide 
budgets 

(489) Outturn variance £489k favourable, a £21k 
favourable movement since P2: 

 £343k additional net income to be generated 
from the Investment Strategy following 
recent decisions made by the Investment 
Management Board. This is an adverse 
movement of £125k since the last report due 
to a later than anticipated drawdown of funds 
on a debt finance project; 

 A number of Council-wide contingencies and 
provisions relating to service savings not 
being achieved and doubtful debts have 
been reviewed. It is considered appropriate 
at this stage of the year, after taking account 
of one-off costs relating to capital projects no 
longer proceeding, to release 25% of these 
totaling £289k; 

 The latest monitoring information from 
Stockport Council has identified a projected 
overspend in Coroners and Mortuary fees of 
£66k. This is due mainly to an increase in 
body removal, body storage and post 
mortem contract costs. The Coroners service 
is currently looking at ways to reduce some 
of these costs and the current projection is a 
worst case scenario; 

Page 150



11 
 

 Treasury Management adverse variances of 
£77k. 

 

Dedicated 
Schools Grant 

111 High Needs Block: 
Projected overspend significantly reduced from 
period 2 as a result of savings proposals being 
agreed to address pressures in the High Needs 
block. 
 

 
MTFP Savings and increased income (Vision 2031 Portfolio) 

 
6. The 2018/19 budget is based on the achievement of permanent base budget 

savings and increased income of £9.973m (see para. 1 above). At this stage the 
latest forecast indicates that total savings of £9.637m will be achieved, which is 
marginally under target and this has been included in the monitoring position 
above. 

 
RESERVES 

 
7. The General Reserve balance brought forward is £6.00m, the approved 

minimum level agreed by Council in February 2018. 
 

8. Service balances brought forward from 2017/18 were a net £3.88m; a number of 
commitments exist on these but a full review will be undertaken during the 
course of the year. 

 
COLLECTION FUND 
 
Council Tax  

9. The 2018/19 surplus on the Council Tax element of the Collection Fund is 
shared between the Council (84%), the Police & Crime Commissioner for GM 
(12%) and GM Fire & Rescue Authority (4%). The total surplus brought forward 
as at 1 April 2018 was £2.18m. 
 

10. As at July 2018 the end of year surplus balance is forecasted to be £1.57m, after 
the application of £0.59m of brought forward surplus and addition of an in-year 
surplus of £87k and £100k of backdated valuations. The Council’s share of this 
is £1.32m, and is planned to support future budgets in the MTFP. 

Table 3: Service balances 

b/f April 
2018 

(£000’s) 

Children’s Services and Adult Social Care  (1,132) 

Place (871) 

People (361) 

Finance & Systems (1,129) 

Governance & Community Strategy (386) 

Total (Surplus)/Deficit (3,879) 

Page 151



12 
 

 
11. Council Tax collection rate as at 31 July 2018 was 39.71%, which is ahead of the 

target of 39.57%.   
 

Business Rates  

12. The 2018/19 budget included anticipated growth in retained business rates and 
related S31 grants of £9.89m and at this stage it is still anticipated that this will 
be achieved in year.  

 
13. Business Rates collection rate as at 31 July 2018 was 38.74% compared to a 

targeted collection rate of 38.24%. 
 

CAPITAL PROGRAMME  

14. The value of the indicative 2018/19 Capital Programme set in February 2018 
was £59.42m and included £5.00m for the Capital Investment Programme 
phased to 2018/19 (see paragraph 24). Taking into account re-phasing from 
2017/18, changes to government grant allocations and new external 
contributions the budget is currently estimated at £340.12m. 
  

15. Recent changes to the Directorates along with changes to the budget since the 
last monitoring report are detailed below and are summarised as follows : 

 

Table 4 - Capital Investment 
Programme 2018/19 

Approved 
Programme   

£m 
Changes   

£m 

Current 
Programme 

£m 

Service Analysis:    

Children’s Services 13.18 0.12 13.30 

Adult Social Care 2.34 - 2.34 

Place  58.45 6.90 65.35 

Governance & Community Strategy 1.97 - 1.97 

Finance & Systems 1.93 - 1.93 

General Programme Total 77.87    7.02   84.89 

Capital Investment Fund 255.23 - 255.23 

Total Programme 333.10 7.02 340.12 

 

16. Amendments to General Capital Programme 

 Changes to government grant allocations - £116k 

Following a challenge to the ESFA allocation of schools capital maintenance 
and Healthy Pupils grants the awards for 2018/19 have been amended with 
an additional £120k being received.  Also notification of the schools devolved 
formula capital grant has been received resulting in a minor reduction for the 
year. 

Page 152



13 
 

 New schemes and increases to existing budgets - £6.904m  

 On 30 October 2017 the Executive approved a further strategic 
investment, generating an annual coupon return, in Manchester Airport 
Group. Based on the estimated funding requirement at that time the 
Council’s share of this was £9.93m. There has been a slight increase to 
the overall funding requirement of MAG which will mean the Council’s 
investment will rise to £11.28m and be fully required in 2018/19; the 
majority of which will be financed from the Investment Fund Reserve of 
£9.93m, with the balance financed from borrowing. This additional 
borrowing can be met from borrowing levels already approved to support 
the capital programme due to a number of projects being rescheduled to 
start later than originally planned, with any additional requirement included 
in the budget setting reports in February 2019. 

 Residents Parking Scheme: £587k – On the 23 July 2018 the Executive 
approved the addition of a two year programme to implement a 
programme of residents parking schemes which will improve the wellbeing 
of residents through the alleviation of high volumes of vehicles parking 
and driving within specified residential areas. The total cost of £1.174m is 
phased equally across two years and will be funded from the One Trafford 
Partnership reserve. 

17. Resourcing of the capital investment programme is made up of both internal and 

external funding. Details of this are shown in the table below.  

Table 5 - Capital Investment 
Resources 2018/19 

Approved 
Programme   

£m 
Changes   

£m 

Current 
Programme 

£m 

External:    

Grants  16.69 0.12 16.81 

Contributions 11.21 - 11.21 

Sub-total 27.90 0.12 28.02 

Internal:    

Receipts 17.49 - 17.49 

Borrowing 26.45 1.35 27.80 

Reserves & revenue contributions 6.03 5.55 11.58 

Sub-total 49.97 6.90   56.87 

Total Resourcing 77.87 7.02 84.89 

 

Status and progress of projects 

18. On average outturn performance over the last 4 years has been £32.09m and 
appears to highlight that delivery of the current Capital Programme is quite 
ambitious. This section aims to give certainty about delivery and the level of 
outturn performance that can be expected.  

19. As part of the monitoring process a record of the “milestones” reached by each 
project is kept to show the progress of the scheme from inclusion in the 
Programme through to completion.  The table below shows the value of the 
programme across the milestone categories. 

Page 153



14 
 

Table 6 - Status on 2018/19 Projects 
Current   
Budget 

  £m 

Percentage     
of Budget 

Already complete 13.12 15% 

On site 31.43 37% 

Programmed to start later in year 22.41 27% 

Not yet programmed 17.93 21% 

Total   84.89  100% 

 

20. The first three categories give a good indication as to the level of confirmed 
expenditure to be incurred during the year. As can be seen £66.96m (79%) of 
the budget has now been committed or is programmed to start in the year. 
 

21. Schemes with a value of £17.93m are classed as “Not yet programmed” and 
relate to budgets where specific projects have not yet been agreed or budgets 
that have yet to have a start date, these include:  

 Leisure Services Assets – Improvement Programme - £14.93m: Budget of 
£22.22m, agreed in February 2018 (subject to business cases), is phased to 
2018/19 and whilst work at Urmston Leisure Centre is agreed and planned 
to start later in the year, other projects are still under review with business 
cases being developed.   

 School Expansion Programme - £1.12m: An unallocated balance remains 
following the approval by Executive of the 2018/19 schools capital 
investment works. This will be the subject of a separate report to Executive 
for inclusion in the 2019/20 programme. 

 City Cycle Ambition Grant Programme - £552k: Negotiations are still 
ongoing with TfGM to finalise the works to be undertaken.  

 
22. There are a number of schemes which, whilst they have started or are still due to 

start in year, are not now expected to complete until 2019/20. As a result the 
outturn projection is now estimated to be £62.28m in 2018/19. The table below 
provides a summary with scheme details shown in the following paragraph. 

 

Table 7 – 2018/19 Outturn Projection     £m 

Current General Programme  84.89 

Actual spend to date 14.03 

Expected spend for P7-P12 48.25 

Outturn Projection 62.28 

Variance to current budget (22.61) 

Major Areas which require re-phasing to 2019/20  

- Schools related projects 1.74 

- Altair Development, Altrincham 1.14 

- City Cycle Ambition Grant 0.55 

- Leisure Strategy - "Increasing Physical Activity" 18.43 

- ICT – Windows 10 Implementation & rollout 0.75 

Total re-phasing requirement   22.61 

Page 154



15 
 

23. Land Sales Programme - Capital Receipts 

In order to fund the current Capital Investment Programme there is a 
requirement for £17.49m of capital receipts (see Table 5). Current projections 
indicate that in the region of £5.1m will be generated from disposals of surplus 
assets during the year together with unutilised balances from previous years of 
£6.5m, giving £11.6m available to support capital expenditure in year. This 
shortfall of £5.89m would give rise to temporary borrowing costs, unless projects 
which are planned to be financed from capital receipts are rephased back to 
2019/20. This would be an unbudgeted cost but at this stage is unlikely to occur 
due to a number of major projects now likely to only start later this year, for 
example Urmston Leisure Centre development which is supported by £3.10m of 
receipts. This position will be closely monitored during the year with updates 
given in future monitoring reports.  

 
CAPITAL INVESTMENT PROGRAMME  

24. The Council’s Investment Strategy was approved by the Executive in July 2017 
when approval was given to increase the Capital Investment Fund to £300m, 
supported by prudential borrowing, to support the approach. The original budget 
for 2018/19 was £5.00m, however re-phasing from 2017/18 of £250.23m has 
resulted in a budget of £255.23m.   

25. To date eight transactions have been agreed by the Investment Management 
Board at a total capital cost of £177.66m. This investment will provide a net 
benefit to support the revenue budget in 2018/19 and later years. 

Table 8 : Capital Investment 

Strategy 

2017/18 

£m 

2018/19   

£m 

Total    

£m 

Total Investment Fund   300.00 

Activity to date :    

Projected Cost  

K Site, Talbot Rd, Stretford 1.24 23.81 25.05 

Sonova House, Warrington 12.17  12.17 

DSG, Preston 17.39  17.39 

Grafton Centre incl. Travelodge Hotel, 
Altrincham 

10.84  10.84 

No.1, Old Trafford : Debt financing for 
residential development 

3.13 37.77 40.90 

Brown Street, Hale  6.21 6.21 

Trafford Magistrates Court, Sale  4.30 4.30 

The Crescent, Salford : Debt financing 

for residential development 
 60.80 60.80 

Total investments   44.77 132.89 177.66 

Balance available   122.34 

 

Page 155



16 
 

Issues / Risks 

26. The main risk in the area of the capital programme is the timely delivery of the 
programme and this situation will continue to be closely monitored and any 
issues will be reported as and when they arise. 

 
Recommendations 

27. That the Executive note the report and the changes to the Capital Programme as 
detailed in Paragraph 16. 

 

 

Page 156



 

  
REGISTER OF KEY DECISIONS: 31 July 2018  – 30 September 2018  Published on 28 August 2018 

 
What is a Register of Key Decisions? 

The Register is a published list of the key decisions 
which are due to be taken by the: 

 Greater Manchester Combined Authority 
(GMCA) 

 Greater Manchester Elected Mayor 

 Joint GMCA & AGMA Executive Board 

 Transport for Greater Manchester 
Committee;  

 GMCA Resources Committee; 

 GMCA’s Waste Committee; 

 Key decisions delegated to officers 

These decisions must be published on the 
Register at least 28 clear days before the decision 
is to be taken, whether in public or private. The 
Register is updated at least once a month.  

This Register of Key Decisions has been prepared 
in accordance with Combined Authorities 
(Overview and Scrutiny Committees, Access to 
Information and Audit Committees) Order 2017 
(‘the Order’).   

The Register is published on the GMCA’s website 
www.greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk and hard 
copies are available at the offices of: 

Greater Manchester Combined Authority    
& Greater Manchester Mayor  
Churchgate House  
Oxford Street  
Manchester M1 6EU 
  

 

What is a Key Decision? 

A key decision defined by ‘the Order’ is a decision 
which, in the view of the Greater Manchester 
Combined Authority’s Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee, would result in any of the decision 
makers listed:   

(i) incurring expenditure over £500,000, or 
making significant savings of £500,000 
or more relating to the budget for the 
service area to which the decision 
relates; or  

(ii) be significant in terms of its effects on 
persons living or working in an area of 
more two or more wards or electoral 
divisions of Greater Manchester. 

The GMCA’s has three thematic Scrutiny 
Committees: 

 Corporate Issues and Reform 

 Economy, Business Growth and Skills 

 Housing, Planning and Environment  

These Committees’ role is to contribute to the 
development of GMCA’s strategies and policies, 
to scrutinise decisions of the decision-makers 
listed above and to consider any matter affecting 
those who live, work, study or run businesses in 
Greater Manchester.  

How to find out more on these proposed 
decisions 

The report (other than those which contain 
confidential or exempt information) relating to 
these decisions will published on the GMCA’s 
website five working days before the decision is 
to be made see www.greatermanchester-
ca.gov.uk. 

For general information about the decision-
making process please contact:  

 

GMCA Head of Governance and Scrutiny  
Julie Connor 
julie.connor@greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

P
age 157

A
genda Item

 11a

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2017/68/pdfs/uksi_20170068_en.pdf
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2017/68/pdfs/uksi_20170068_en.pdf
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2017/68/pdfs/uksi_20170068_en.pdf
http://www.greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk/
http://www.greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk/
http://www.greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk/
mailto:julie.connor@greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk


 

 

\  

Additions to the Register since it was published on 13 August 2018 
 

Decision title  Decision Maker Planned Decision 
Dates 

What is the decision? Documents to be 
considered 

Officer Contact 

Transport Capital 
Programme 
approval and 
Funding 
 

GMCA 28 September 2018 To grant Full Approval and 
release funding for schemes 
within the Growth Deal 1,2 
&3 and.or the Transforming 
Cities Fund 

Report with 
recommendations 

Jon Lamonte 
Jon.lamonte@tfgm.com 

Transforming 
Cities Challenge 
Fund – Cycling & 
Walking Scheme 
Approval and 
Funding  
 

GMCA 28 September 2018 To grant Programme entry 
Full or Conditional Approval 
and. Or release funding for 
cycling & walking schemes 
within the Transforming Cities 
Challenge Fund 

Report with 
recommendations 

Jon Lamonte 
Jon.lamonte@tfgm.com 

Town Centre 
Challenge Update 
– Mayoral 
Development 
Corporation 

GMCA 28 September 2018 To explore the options for 
delivery of Town Centre 
Challenge  schemes, including  
the use of Mayoral 
Development Corporations 

 

Report with 
recommendations 

Anne Morgan 
Anne.Morgan@greatermanchester-
ca.gov.uk 

Preparations for 
Budget 2018 

GMCA 28 September 2018 Agree the main proposals to 
be made to HM Treasury for 
Budget 2018 

Report with 
recommendation 

John Wrathmell 
John.wrathmell@greatermanchester-
ca.gov.uk 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 158



 

 

\  

2040 Transport 
Strategy Annual 
Progress Reports 
 

GMCA 28 September 2018 To endorse the publication of 
the 2040  Strategy Annual 
Progress report and agree 
resulting activities 

Report with 
recommendations 

Jon Lamonte 
Jon.lamonte@tfgm.com 

Delivery of Local 
Authority Asylum 
Seeker Liaison 
programme under 
Controlling 
Migration Fund 

GMCA 28 September 2018 To enable the allocation of 
funding to local authorities to 
deliver outreach services 
across Greater Manchester.  

Report with 
recommendations 

Mike Wright 
Mike.wright@greatermanchester-
ca.gov.uk 
 
 
 
 
 

Delivery of 
Greater 
Manchester 
Housing First 
programme 

GMCA 28 September 2018 To tender and award a 
contract for the delivery of a 
GM-wide Housing First 
programme 

Report with 
recommendations 

Mike Wright 
Mike.wright@greatermanchester-
ca.gov.uk 
 
 
 
 
 

Forthcoming 
changes to the 
Bus Network -  

TfGMC – Bus 
Network & 
TfGM Services 
Cttee 

5 October 2018 Approve forthcoming changes 
to subsidised bus services 

Report with 
recommendations 

Alison Chew 
Alison.chew@tfgm.com 

GM Digital Skills 
Programme  

GMCA 
Treasurer, in 
consultation 
with Portfolio 
Leads for 
Education, 
Skills, work & 
apprenticeships 

26 October 2018  Award of contracts in relation 
to the delivery of the GM 
Digital Talent Pipeline 
Programme: 

 Lot 1 – Discovering Digital 
Skills  

 ITT: Digital 
Talent Pipeline  

 Contract Award 
Report  

Adele Reynolds 
Adele.Reynolds@greatermanchester-
ca.gov.uk  
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 159

mailto:Alison.chew@tfgm.com
mailto:Adele.Reynolds@greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk
mailto:Adele.Reynolds@greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk


 

 

\  

 Lot 2 – Education & Digital 
Industry Support 
Programme  

 
 
 

Decision title  Decision Maker Planned Decision Dates What is the decision? Documents to be 
considered 

Officer Contact 

Interim Duty 
System 

Mayor of GM 
 

July-August 2018 
 

Adopt a new duty system   
 
Use of combination of reserves and 
in year underspends to support a 
new duty system 

Report with 
recommendations 

Dawn Docx 
docxd@manchesterfir
e.gov.uk 
 
 

Extension to 
Interim Overtime 
Policy 

Mayor of GM  11 September 201 Extend the Interim Overtime Policy 
adopted in December 2017 in order 
to support firefighter crewing levels. 
 
Use of combination of reserves and 
in year underspends to support the 
extension of interim overtime 
 

Report with 
recommendations 
 

Dawn Docx 
docxd@manchesterfir
e.gov.uk 
 
 
 
 

Greater 
Manchester 
Children’s Work 

GMCA/ Mayor 
of GM 

28 September 2018 Agreement that the £7.43m funding 
from the Department for Education 
for specific areas of work on 
innovation and improvement in 
children’s services can be used for 
the intended purpose, overseen by 
the Children’s Board 

Report with 
recommendations 

Charlotte Ramsden 
charlotte.ramsden@s
alford.gov.uk 
 
 
 
 

P
age 160

mailto:docxd@manchesterfire.gov.uk
mailto:docxd@manchesterfire.gov.uk
mailto:charlotte.ramsden@salford.gov.uk
mailto:charlotte.ramsden@salford.gov.uk


 

 

\  

Decision title  Decision Maker Planned Decision Dates What is the decision? Documents to be 
considered 

Officer Contact 

Use of Planning 
Delivery Fund 
Resources 

GMCA / Mayor 
of GM 
 

28 September 2018 Prioritisation and approval to spend 
funds allocated to GM from the 
Planning Delivery Fund 
 

Report with 
recommendations 
 

Murray Carr 
Murray.carr@greater
manchester-ca.gov.uk 
 
 

Amendment to 
Skills Funding: 
Youth Contract 
Expansion and GM 
AGE: continuation 
funding) 

GMCA / Mayor 
of GM 

September – October 
2018 

GMCA are asked to approve 
proposals for utilising ring fenced 
underspend from previous projects 
on new proposals in line with the 
original business case.  
 
 

Report with 
recommendations 

Gemma Marsh 
Gemma.Marsh@great
ermanchester-
ca.gov.uk 

North West Made 
Smarter 
Programme 

GMCA  28 September 2018 GMCA to act as the accountable 
body for the Made Smarter 
Programme 

Report with 
recommendations 

Alison Gordon 
Alison.gordon@great
ermanchester-
ca.gov.uk 
 
Donna Edwards 
Donna.Edwards@gro
wthco.uk 
 

GM Congestion 
Deal 

GMCA / Mayor 
of GM & GMCA 
Treasurer 

28 September 2018 To approve the allocation and 
drawdown of funding expenditure 
on interventions which are proposed 
as part of the Congestion Plan which 
will be funded from a combination 
of the Mayoral General Budget and 
Earnback reserves as approved by 

Report with 
recommendations 

Bob Morris 

Bob.morris@tfgm.co
m 

 

P
age 161

mailto:Murray.carr@greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk
mailto:Murray.carr@greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk
mailto:Gemma.Marsh@greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk
mailto:Gemma.Marsh@greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk
mailto:Gemma.Marsh@greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk
mailto:Alison.gordon@greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk
mailto:Alison.gordon@greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk
mailto:Alison.gordon@greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk
mailto:Donna.Edwards@growthco.uk
mailto:Donna.Edwards@growthco.uk
mailto:Bob.morris@tfgm.com
mailto:Bob.morris@tfgm.com


 

 

\  

Decision title  Decision Maker Planned Decision Dates What is the decision? Documents to be 
considered 

Officer Contact 

the GMCA on 27 April 2018.  This 
will include expenditure on highways 
interventions measures to be 
delivered by the GM Districts as well 
as resources for TfGM to support 
highways management activities 

Homelessness 
Prevention 
Trailblazer 
programme, 
extension of Social 
Impact Bond & 
Housing First to 
approve allocation 
of budget, agree 
actions and request 
delegated decision-
making for the 
contract award for 
a GM-wide ICT 
system within the 
programme. 

GMCA, Mayor 
of GMCA & 
GMCA 
Treasurer  

28 September 2018 To award a contract to provide a 
GM-wide ICT system to meet the 
demands of the Homelessness 
Reduction Act and to meet the 
objective of the Homelessness 
Prevention Trailblazer, following 
detailed specification work, 
extension of Social Impact Bond & 
Housing First. To agree actions and 
allocation of spend. 

Report with 
recommendations  
 

Mike Wright 

Mike.wright@greater
manchester-ca.gov.uk 

 

Business Funds GMCA 28 September 2018 Conditionally approve business 
investments to proceed to due 
diligence and/or note commercial 
changes to existing investments, 

Report with 
recommendations  
 

Kirsteen Armitage 

Kirsteen.Armitage@gr
eatermanchester-
ca.gov.uk  

P
age 162

mailto:Mike.wright@greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk
mailto:Mike.wright@greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk
mailto:Kirsteen.Armitage@greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk
mailto:Kirsteen.Armitage@greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk
mailto:Kirsteen.Armitage@greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk


 

 

\  

Decision title  Decision Maker Planned Decision Dates What is the decision? Documents to be 
considered 

Officer Contact 

including where relevant negotiated 
settlements. 

Property Funds GMCA 28 September 2018 The GMCA will be asked to: 
Conditionally approve a property 
investments to proceed to due 
diligence and/or note commercial 
changes to existing investments 

Report with 
recommendations  
 

Kirsteen Armitage 

Kirsteen.Armitage@gr
eatermanchester-
ca.gov.uk  

Housing Funds  GMCA/Chief 
Executive 

August – September 
2018 

The GMCA will be asked to: 
Conditionally approve a housing 
investments to proceed to due 
diligence and/or note commercial 
changes to existing investments  
 

Report with 
recommendations  
 

Michael Walmsley 

michael.walmsley@gr
eatermanchester-
ca.gov.uk 

 
Littleborough Fire 
Station 
Refurbishment 
GMFRS00083 

 
Chief Fire 
Officer & GMCA 
Treasurer 

 
August – December 
2018 

Approval to award the contract for 
works comprising of refurbishment 
work LIttleborough Fire Station 
following open tender 
 

Contract Award 
Recommendation 
Report (internal) 

Anthony Hilton 
hiltona@manchesterfi
re.gov.uk 

Refurbishment 
Works: Fire Training 
Facility  
GMFRS0087 
 

 
Chief Fire 
Officer & GMCA 
Treasurer 

 
August – December 
2018 

Approval to award the contract for 
works comprising of Refurbishment 
work to provide training 
accommodation at Greater 
Manchester Fire & Rescue 
Operational Training & Community 
Safety Centre following open tender 

Contract Award 
Recommendation 
Report (internal) 

Anthony Hilton 
hiltona@manchesterfi
re.gov.uk  

P
age 163

mailto:Kirsteen.Armitage@greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk
mailto:Kirsteen.Armitage@greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk
mailto:Kirsteen.Armitage@greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk
mailto:michael.walmsley@greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk
mailto:michael.walmsley@greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk
mailto:michael.walmsley@greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk
mailto:hiltona@manchesterfire.gov.uk
mailto:hiltona@manchesterfire.gov.uk
mailto:hiltona@manchesterfire.gov.uk
mailto:hiltona@manchesterfire.gov.uk


 

 

\  

Decision title  Decision Maker Planned Decision Dates What is the decision? Documents to be 
considered 

Officer Contact 

Washroom Facility 
Provision at Fire 
Stations 
GMFRS0086 
 

Chief Fire 
Officer & 
Treasurer 
 

August - September 
2018 

Approval to award the contract for 
works comprising of Remodelling of 
Washrooms Facilities at 12 Fire 
Stations following open tender. 

Report with 
recommendations 

Anthony Hilton 
hiltona@manchesterfi
re.gov.uk 

Modification of 
waste contract 
facilities 

 
Waste 
Committee 

 
August - December 
2018 

To approve  modification to waste 
facilities through the operating 
contract  

Report with 
recommendations 

David Taylor 
david.taylor@greater
manchester-ca.gov.uk 
 

Resource and 
Waste Strategy – 
Outline Proposals 
 
 
 

 
GMCA 

 
August - December 
2018 

To agree outline proposals and to 
commence public consultation 

Report with 
recommendations 

David Taylor 
david.taylor@greater
manchester-ca.gov.uk 
 

Reliance Street 
Planning 
Application 
 

 
Waste 
Committee 

 
August - December 
2018 

To submit planning permission to 
modify current waste facility 

Report and draft 
planning permission 
form 

 
David Taylor 
david.taylor@greater
machester-ca-gov.uk 
 
 

Additional capital 
expenditure on fire 
suppression and 
detection 

 
GMCA 

 
August – December 
2018 

To approve additional expenditure 
to install fire suppression and 
detection systems in some waste 
facilities 

Report with 
recommendations 

 
David Taylor 
david.taylor@greater
manchester-ca.gov.uk 
 

P
age 164

mailto:hiltona@manchesterfire.gov.uk
mailto:hiltona@manchesterfire.gov.uk
mailto:david.taylor@greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk
mailto:david.taylor@greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk
mailto:david.taylor@greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk
mailto:david.taylor@greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk
mailto:david.taylor@greatermachester-ca-gov.uk
mailto:david.taylor@greatermachester-ca-gov.uk
mailto:david.taylor@greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk
mailto:david.taylor@greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk


 

 

\  

Decision title  Decision Maker Planned Decision Dates What is the decision? Documents to be 
considered 

Officer Contact 

 
GMCA 111 – 
Prince’s Trust Team 
Building and 
Residential Activity 
Programmes – 
Approved Provider 
Dynamic Purchasing 
System (DPS) 

 
GMCA 
 

 
August – December 
2018 
 

 
Following an OJEU compliant 
procurement process - To approve 
acceptance of successful Applicants 
onto the Dynamic Purchasing 
System  (DPS) 
 

 
Report and 
recommendations 

 
Debbie Partington 
partinde@mancheste
rfire.gov.uk; 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Award of Skills 
Capital 

GMCA August - October 2018 Following full application stage: 
GMCA will need to approve final 
award to applicants 
 
 

Appraisal submission 
 

Gemma Marsh 
Gemma.Marsh@great
ermanchester-
ca.gov.uk 

Agreement to start 
procurement of an 
element of Adult 
Education Budget 

GMCA August - October 2018 GMCA are asked to agree to the 
procurement of a small element (up 
to £20m) 
Of the Adult Education Budget to 
comply with public procurement 
rules. 

Report with 
recommendations  
 

Gemma Marsh 
Gemma.Marsh@great
ermanchester-
ca.gov.uk 

Housing Package 
Delivery Plan 

GMCA August - October 2018 Approve the submission of a delivery 
plan for the implementation of the 
GM Housing Package to Government 

Report with 
recommendations 

Steve Fyfe 
steve.fyfe@greaterma
nchester-ca.gov.uk  
 

P
age 165

mailto:partinde@manchesterfire.gov.uk
mailto:partinde@manchesterfire.gov.uk
mailto:Gemma.Marsh@greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk
mailto:Gemma.Marsh@greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk
mailto:Gemma.Marsh@greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk
mailto:Gemma.Marsh@greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk
mailto:Gemma.Marsh@greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk
mailto:Gemma.Marsh@greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk
mailto:steve.fyfe@greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk
mailto:steve.fyfe@greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk


 

 

\  

Decision title  Decision Maker Planned Decision Dates What is the decision? Documents to be 
considered 

Officer Contact 

GM Housing 
Investment 
Strategy 

GMCA August - October 2018 Approve the new Investment 
Strategy 

Report and 
Recommendations 

Andrew McIntosh 
Andrew.McIntosh@gr
eatermanchester-
ca.gov.uk 
 

 
 
 

P
age 166

mailto:Andrew.McIntosh@greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk
mailto:Andrew.McIntosh@greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk
mailto:Andrew.McIntosh@greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk


 

 

NOTICE OF DECISIONS AGREED AT THE GMCA MEETING 
HELD ON 27 JULY 2018 

 
PRESENT: 
 
Greater Manchester Mayor  Andy Burnham 
Bolton      Councillor Ebrahim Adia 
Bury      Councillor Rishi Shori 
Manchester     Councillor Richard Leese 
Oldham    Councillor Sean Fielding 
Rochdale     Councillor Allen Brett 
Salford     City Mayor Paul Dennett 
Stockport     Councillor Alex Ganotis 
Tameside     Councillor Brenda Warrington 
Trafford     Councillor Andrew Western 
Wigan      Councillor David Molyneux 
 
OTHER MEMBERS IN ATTENDANCE: 
 
TfGMC     Councillor Mark Aldred 
Bury     Councillor Andrea Simpson 
Manchester    Councillor Angeliki Stogia 
Rochdale    Councillor Sara Rowbotham 
Rochdale    Councillor Michael Holly 
Salford     Councillor Paula Boshell 
Stockport    Councillor Wendy Wild 
Wigan     Councillor Jenny Bullen 
Wigan     Lord Peter Smith 
 
OFFICERS IN ATTENDANCE: 
 
GMCA Chief Executive  Eamonn Boylan 
GMCA –Deputy Chief Executive Andrew Lightfoot 
GMCA – Monitoring Officer  Liz Treacy 
GMCA – Treasurer   Richard Paver 
Office of the GM Mayor  Kevin Lee 
 
Bolton     Sue Johnson 
Bury      Geoff Little 
Oldham    Carolyn Wilkins 
Manchester    Joanne Roney 
Rochdale     Steve Rumbelow 
Salford     Ben Dolan 
Stockport     Laureen DoNnan  
Tameside     Sandra Stewart 
Trafford     Nickki Bishop 
Wigan      Donna Hall 

Page 167

Agenda Item 11b



 

2 

 

TfGM     Jon Lamonte 
GMP     Ian Piling 
GMFRS     Dawn Docx 
GMCA     Sylvia Welsh 
GMCA     Lindsay Dunn 
GMCA      Nicola Ward 
 
Cooperative Councils    Nicola Huckleby 
Innovation Network   Councillor Sharon Taylor 
 
 
APOLOGIES: 
 
Bolton   Tony Oakman 
Salford   Jim Taylor 
Stockport   Pam Smith 
Tameside   Steve Pleasant 
GM Police   Ian Hopkins 
 
 
Agenda Item No. 

 
2. CHAIR’S ANNOUNCEMENTS AND URGENT BUSINESS 

 
RESOLVED /- 
 
1. That it be noted that Greater Manchester has been shortlisted, alongside 

Birmingham and Leeds, as a potential new base location for Channel 4.  The 
Mayor thanked the team sourced from Manchester City Council, Salford and the 
GMCA, who have been working on the proposal. 

 
2. That it be noted that the Mayor has recently been appointed as the President of 

the Rugby Football League, and that the Rugby Football League was also 
relocating to Greater Manchester.  He would ensure that Greater Manchester 
would play a major role in hosting the Rugby Football League World Cup in 2021. 

 
3. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 
 
RESOLVED /- 
 
a) That Councillor Brenda Warrington has disclosed a personal interest in item 30 

as a member of the GM Pension Fund Board. 
 

b) That City Mayor Paul Dennett has disclosed a personal interest in item 23b as a 
Director of the Growth Company. 
 

Page 168



 

3 

 

 
c) That Councillor Ebrahim Edia has disclosed a personal interest in item 23b as a 

Director of the Growth Company. 
 

d) That Councillor Richard Leese has disclosed a personal interest in item 23b as a 
Director of the Growth Company. 

 
4. MINUTES OF GMCA ANNUAL AND ORDINARY MEETINGS HELD ON 29 JUNE 

2018 
 

RESOLVED /- 
 

That the minutes of the GMCA Annual and Ordinary Meetings held on the 29 June 
2018 be approved, subject to the addition of Councillor Andrea Simpson to the list of 
attendees. 
 
5. 1GMCA APPOINTMENTS 

 
RESOLVED /- 

 
a) GMCA Waste & Recycling Committee 

 
i. That the nomination of Councillor Alison Gwynne, Tameside (Labour), as the 

Chair of the Waste & Recycling Committee for 2018/19 be approved. 
 
ii. That the appointment of Councillor Robin Garrido, Salford (Conservative), as 

a member of the GMCA Waste & Recycling Committee be approved. 
 

b) GMCA Audit Committee 
 

That Councillors James Grundy (Wigan) (Conservative) and Susan Haworth (Bolton) 
(Labour) be appointed as substitute members to the GMCA Audit Committee. 

 
c) GMCA Overview & Scrutiny Committee substitutes Pool 

 
That the appointment of Councillors Clint Phythion (Oldham) and Ari Leitner 
(Salford) the GMCA Overview & Scrutiny Committee substitute pool of members be 
approved. 

 
6. TRANSPORT FOR GREATER MANCHESTER COMMITTEE MINUTES – 13 JULY 

2018  
 
RESOLVED /- 

 
That the minutes of the Transport for Greater Manchester Committee held 13 July 
2018 be noted. 

 

Page 169



 

4 

 

7. GREATER MANCHESTER LOCAL ENTERPRISE PARTNERSHIP – 16 JULY 2018  
 
RESOLVED /- 

 

That the minutes of the GM Local Enterprise Partnership held 16 July 2018 be noted. 

 
8. GMCA WASTE & RECYCLING COMMITTEE – 12 JULY 2018  

 
That the minutes of the GM Waste and Recycling Committee held 12 July 2018 be 
noted. 

 
9. GMCA OVERVIEW & SCRUTINY COMMITTEES – MINUTES: JULY 2018   

 
a) Housing, Planning and Environment –  12 July 2018 
 
That the minutes of the Housing Planning and Environment Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee held 12 July 2018 be noted. 
 
b) Economy, Business Growth & Skills –  13 July 2018  
  

That the minutes of the Economy, Business Growth and Skills Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee held 13 July 2018 be noted. 

 

10. FIRE SERVICE UPDATE 

 

RESOLVED /- 

 

1. That the programme approach, scope and associated workstreams to the whole 

service review of GM Fire & Rescue Service be noted. 

2. That it be noted that the appointment of the new Chief Fire Officer, Jim Wallace, 
was also confirmed this week at an organisational briefing on Tuesday 24th July 
2018.  

 
3. That Jim Wallace, as the incoming Chief Fire Officer be welcomed and that Dawn 

Docx, Interim Fire Officer, be thanked for her dedication and great leadership 

through a particularly difficult times for the Fire Service.  

 

11. HEALTH & SOCIAL CARE – BI-MONTHLY UPDATE  

 

RESOLVED /- 

 

1. That the key developments in GM Health and Social Care over the last two 

months be noted. 

Page 170



 

5 

 

2. That an update on the finding of the schools based pilot for the children’s 
mental health support be submitted to a future meeting of the GMCA. 
 

3. That the leadership of Lord Peter Smith, as GMCA Portfolio Holder for Healthy 
Lives & Quality Care, and Councillor Sean Fielding as GMCA Portfolio Holder for 
Skills, Employment and Apprenticeships, to ensure that adults with learning 
disabilities have the opportunity to access employment and improve the current 
levels of employment at only 3%, be welcomed. 
 

4. That Councillor Peter Smith, Jon Rouse and the GM Health & Social Care 
Partnership Team be thanked for the progress of work to date. 
 

12. GREATER MANCHESTER SPATIAL FRAMEWORK TIMETABLE 

 

RESOLVED /- 

 

That the move from the Joint Development Plan Process, (the current position) to a 
Spatial Development Strategy subject to the relevant Regulations being in place be 
GMCA agreed, in principle.  

 
13. GREATER MANCHESTER LOCAL INDUSTRIAL STRATEGY UPDATE  

 
RESOLVED /- 

  
1. That progress to date on developing the Greater Manchester Local Industrial 

Strategy be noted. 
 

2. That the approach and progress to date to develop the strong Greater 
Manchester bid to the Strength in Places Fund, submitted on 25 July, on behalf 
of Greater Manchester and its partners by the University of Manchester, based 
on health innovation and advanced materials be noted.  

 
3. That thanks be recorded to Councillor Richard Leese, University of Manchester, 

Dame Nancy Rothwell in particular, for the work undertaken to date in bringing 
the Universities and business community together. 
 

14. BREXIT MONITOR MONTHLY UPDATE 
 

RESOLVED /- 

 

1. That the report and the publication by the European Commission of their 
proposed EU Budget for 2021-27 be noted. 
 

2. That a review of the GMCA’s policy position on Brexit, together with guidance 
and advice for all Greater Manchester public bodies in advance of the 

Page 171



 

6 

 

Parliamentary Vote  on Brexit, be undertaken with a view submitting a report to 
the GMCA on 28 September 2018. 

 
3. That it be noted that the Mayor of Greater Manchester would be making 

representations to Government on behalf of the GMCA regarding the clear 
requirement for Greater Manchester’s Shared Prosperity Funding level to be 
retained at the current level of approximately £100M. 
 

15. THE ROLE OF CO-OPERATIVES  
 

RESOLVED /- 

 
1. That the proposal for GMCA to join the Co-operative Councils Innovation 

Network be approved. 
 

2. That the proposal to establish a Co-operative Commission for GM be approved. 
 
16. GREEN SUMMIT SPRINGBOARD  

 

RESOLVED /- 

  

1. That the draft Spring Board report be agreed for publication and launch at the 

rise of the GMCA meeting. 

 

2. That the proposed next steps, and the date of the planned future Green Summit, 

to be held on 25 March 2019 at the Lowry, be noted. 

 

3. That thanks be recorded to all GMCA officers and partners, Green Summit 

Steering Group and Mark Atherton be recorded. 

 

4. That the letter Mary Creagh MP, from the Chair of the Environmental Audit 

Committee, to the Greater Manchester Pension Fund regarding climate related 

financial disclosures be noted. 

 

17. FULL FIBRE PROGRAMME UPDATE 

 

RESOLVED /- 

 

1. That the indicative locality capital requirements required to maximise 
Government Local Full Fibre Network Funding, as set out in this report, be 
noted. 

 
2. That it be confirmed that the indicative site numbers and local capital 

requirements would be presented to the Department of Digital, Culture, Media 
and Sport (DDCMS) to secure a conditional Grant offer letter by the end of July. 

Page 172



 

7 

 

 
3. That the requirement to secure local agreement for budget approvals prior to 

entry into an agreement with GMCA, which would facilitate draw down of the 
grant, be noted. 

 

4. That the release of £1.5m from the business rates reserve to fund programme 
management costs be agreed.  

 

5. That it be noted that funding for Fire & Rescue elements would be presented for 
consideration once costs were finalised. 

 

6. That it be noted that there were a number of finance considerations to be 
resolved with Health colleagues. 

 
7. That thanks be recorded to the former portfolio leaders (Councillors Sean 

Anstee and Richard Farnell) and Phil Swan and the GMCA team for the work 
undertaken in progressing Full Fibre work programme. 
 

18. NORTHERN & TRANSPENNINE RAIL PERFORMANCE UPDATE  

 

RESOLVED /- 

 

That the report be noted and that a letter be sent to the Secretary of State for 

Transport, to be circulated to all members of the GMCA for signature, reminding him 

of the priority works, he himself identified, required on the Castlefield Corridor, 

Oxford Road Rail Station platform extensions and platforms 15 & 16 at Piccadilly Rail 

Station to enable the May 2018 timetable to be delivered and seeking a resolution as 

soon as possible. 

 

19. BUS REFORM 

 

RESOLVED /- 

1. That the procedural steps and requirements of the Act in so far as they relate 
to the Assessment be noted. 

 
2. That TfGM be instructed to undertake the following actions in performance of 

the GMCA’s functions under the Transport Act 2000: 
 

a) to secure the conditional availability and preliminary briefing of a suitably 
qualified independent audit organisation ("Auditor") so that after having 
prepared the Assessment and should the GMCA wish to proceed with any 
proposed scheme, the Auditor may then be instructed to prepare a report 
in accordance with section 123D of the Act 

 

Page 173



 

8 

 

b) determine, if required by the conclusions in the Assessment, when it 
considers that the Assessment is ready to be submitted for audit, whether 
in advance of such submission there are any matters arising from the 
disclosure of information by operators or the analysis in the Assessment 
that may impact the substantive nature of the proposed franchising 
scheme or any alternative proposals being considered under the 
Assessment that should be referred to the GMCA for consideration and 
further direction to TfGM before the Assessment is finalised and 
submitted for audit 

 
c)   ahead of completion of the audit to take all appropriate steps to prepare 

the materials necessary to allow the GMCA to undertake the consultation 
process under section 123E of the Act, so that as soon as reasonably 
possible after obtaining a report in accordance with section 123D of the 
Act, TfGM may submit to the GMCA for consideration the Assessment and 
any report of the Auditor so that the GMCA may: 

 
i.   Review the Assessment and audit report; 

ii.   Determine whether to proceed to consultation or to remit the 
Assessment for further consideration and audit;  

iii.   Subject to 2 above, instruct TfGM to undertake a consultation in 
accordance with section 123E of the Act on its behalf; and 

iv.   Issue further directions to TfGM as appropriate. 

 

20. MAYOR’S CYCLING & WALKING CHALLENGE FUND (KEY DECISION) 

 

RESOLVED /- 

 

1. That the first tranche of cycling and walking schemes, be approved and granted 

Programme Entry for inclusion in the Mayor’s Cycling & walking Challenge 

Fund. 

 

2. That it be noted that the schemes would be further developed and would be 

subject to subsequent approval by the GMCA, as appropriate. 

 

3. That the release of up to £1.5 million funding to fund programme management 

and associated costs in 2018/19 be approved and the GMCA Treasurer be 

authorised to make the necessary capital-revenue ‘switch’. 

 

4. That the release of £1.5 million for scheme development and design in 

2018/19 be approved and the GMCA Treasurer be authorised to make 

appropriate grants to Greater Manchester District Councils to facilitate this.  

 

Page 174



 

9 

 

21. INTRODUCTION OF A ZONAL FARES STRUCTURE ON THE METROLINK 

NETWORK (KEY DECISION) 

 
RESOLVED /- 

1. That the approach to the public engagement exercise that ran between 1 June 
and 17 June and the response rate and the wider engagement activity 
undertaken be noted. 

 
2. That the results of the public engagement exercise be noted. 

 
3. That the proposed change to the proposal which has arisen from the 

engagement activity be noted. 
 

4. That the final proposal to introduce a zonal fare structure across the Metrolink 
network in early 2019 be approved. 

 

22. CO-ORDINATING TAXIS & PRIVATE HIRE LICENSING IN GREATER MANCHESTER 

 

RESOLVED /- 

 

1. That the report and the proposal for informal engagement of the Taxi and 

Private Hire trade on the proposed approach to Greater Manchester minimum 

standards be noted. 

 

2. That the informal public engagement exercise being undertaken by TfGM on 

behalf of Greater Manchester District Councils to secure a fuller understanding 

of the key concerns and issues of passengers and non- users be noted. 

 

23. BUDGET MONITORING REPORTS 

 

a) Capital Programme Approval (KEY DECISION) 

 

RESOLVED /- 

1. That the current 2018/19 forecast compared to the 2018/19 capital budget be 
noted. 
 

2. That the delivery of projects which were part of the Department for Transport 
Early Measures Fund of £3 million be approved and that the addition to the 
2018/19 Capital Programme of this Scheme be noted. 
 

3. That the addition to the Capital Programme of the Cycling and Walking 
Commissioner’s Cycling and Walking Infrastructure Proposals and the proposal 
to procure 27 trams and associated infrastructure funding as part of the 
Transforming Cities Fund, as approved by GMCA in June be noted. 

Page 175



 

10 

 

4. That the budget increase of £7.377 million for Capital Highways Maintenance in 
relation to additional Pot-Hole, National Productivity Fund and Congestion plan 
funding be approved. 

5. That the addition to the 2018/19 Capital Programme for additional Investment 
activity of £8.1 million for Greater Manchester Loans Fund to be funded from 
Prudential Borrowings be noted. 

 

b) Revenue Budget Approval (KEY DECISION) 

 

RESOLVED /- 

1. That the budget adjustments as detailed in paragraphs 3.1, 3.7 to 3.27 and 3.30 
to 3.31 be approved. 
 

2. That the grant of £0.513 million to the Business Growth Hub to deliver business 

support services funded by BEIS on behalf of GM LEP for 2018/19 be approved. 

 

3. That the Mayoral General revenue outturn position for 2018/19 which was in 
line with budget be noted. 

 

4. That the Mayoral General – Fire revenue outturn position for 2018/19 which 
was in line with budget be noted. 

 

5. That the Economic Development and Regeneration revenue outturn position for 
2018/19 which shows an underspend against budget of £0.1 million be noted. 

 

6. That the transport revenue outturn position for 2018/19 which was in line with 
budget be noted. 

 

7. That the Greater Manchester Waste revenue outturn position for 2018/19 which 
was in line with budget be noted. 

 

8. That the TfGM revenue outturn position for 2018/19 which was in line with 
budget be noted. 
 

24. GREATER MANCHESTER INVESTMENT FRAMEWORK PROJECTS UPDATE (KEY 
DECISION) 
 

RESOLVED /- 

 

1. That the funding applications received from Float Glass Industries Limited (loan 
of £396k) and The Black Dress Company Limited (loan of £150k) be granted  
conditional approval to progress to due diligence. 

Page 176



 

11 

 

2. That authority be delegated to the GMCA Treasurer and GMCA Monitoring 
Officer to review the due diligence information and, subject to their satisfactory 
review and agreement of the due diligence information and the overall detailed 
commercial terms of the transactions, to sign off any outstanding conditions, 
issue final approvals and complete any necessary related documentation in 
respect of the loans. 

3. That authority be delegated to the GMCA Chief Executive and GMCA Treasurer 
for the period 30 July 2018 to 27 September 2018, in consultation with the 
Mayor of Greater Manchester and the Deputy Mayor, to approve funding 
requests for projects in the absence of a GMCA meeting in August and to 
approve any urgent variations on amounts and terms for already approved 
loans.  

4. That recommendations approved under the delegation would be subject to the 
usual due diligence processes and would be reported to the GMCA at the next 
available meeting. 

5. That an update on the Greater Manchester Investment Loans Fund and Greater 
Manchester Housing Investment Loans Fund performance be submitted to a 
future meeting of the GMCA. 

25. GREATER MANCHESTER HOUSING INVESTMENT LOANS FUND (KEY DECISION) 
 

RESOLVED /- 

 
1. That the requests to the Greater Manchester Housing Investment Loans Fund 

loans be approved as contained within the table below: 
 

BORROWER  SCHEME  DISTRICT  LOAN  

Bowdon 
Homes Ltd 

Carrhill, 
Mossley 

Tameside £5.410m 

Brunswick 
Living 
Limited 

Brunswick 
Street, 
Manchester 

Manchester £2.088m 

Slateacre 
Partnership 
Limited 

Slateacre 
Road 

Tameside £1.916m 

HS Property 
Group 

HSPG GM region £1.000m 

 
2. That the consideration of the application for funding from RP Joint Venture be 

withdrawn for consideration at a future meeting of the GMCA. 

 

3. That authority be delegated to the GMCA Treasurer and the GMCA Monitoring 

Officer to prepare and effect the necessary legal agreements.  

 

Page 177



 

12 

 

4. That authority be delegated to the GMCA Chief Executive and GMCA Treasurer, 

for the period 30 July 2018 to 27 September 2018, in consultation with the 

Mayor of Greater Manchester and the Portfolio Leader for Planning, Housing & 

Homelessness to approve funding requests for projects in the absence of a 

GMCA meeting in August and approve any urgent variations on amounts and 

terms for already approved loans.  

 

5. That recommendations approved under the delegation would be subject to the 

usual due diligence processes and would be reported to the GMCA at the next 

available meeting. 

 

26. EXCLUSION OF PRESS AND PUBLIC 
 

RESOLVED /- 

That, under section 100 (A)(4) of the Local Government Act 1972 the press and 
public should be excluded from the meeting for the following items on business on 
the grounds that this involves the likely disclosure of exempt information, as set out 
in paragraph 3, Part 1, Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act 1972 and that the 
public interest in maintaining the exemption outweighs the public interest in 
disclosing the information. 

 
 

27. FULL FIBRE PROGRAMME UPDATE 

RESOLVED /- 

 

That the report be noted. 

 

28. GREATER MANCHESTER INVESTMENT FRAMEWORK AND CONDITIONAL 
PROJECT APPROVALS  

 

RESOLVED /- 

 

That the report be noted. 

 

29. GREATER MANCHESTER HOUSING INVESTMENT FUND – INVESTMENT 
APPROVAL RECOMMENDATIONS   
 

RESOLVED /- 

 

That the report be noted. 

 
 

Page 178



 

13 

 

30. WASTE DISPOSAL CONTRACT & PENSION ARRANGEMENTS FOR CONTRACTOR 

STAFF  

 

RESOLVED /- 

1. That the steps being undertaken to simplify the pension arrangements of 

current waste contract employees be noted as follows: 

 

a) Active Defined Benefit members currently in the Citrus sections of the 

Viridor scheme are provided with access to the GMPF;  

 

b) Members past service liabilities in the Citrus schemes are bulk transferred 

into the GMPF, (either with or without member consent).  The GMCA would 

meet the associated legal and advisory costs of this process (with VWGM 

retaining its obligation to make good deficits on the existing schemes in 

respect of active DB members), and that that process is expedited so as to 

allow for the process to be completed before April 2019; 

 

c) That successful bidders become admitted bodies of the GMPF, under a 

formal GMCA guarantee; 

 

d) That bidders be required to price on the basis of a separate Waste and 

Resources sub scheme with employer contribution rates for the contract 

period being set in bidder instructions (with any adjustment to costs being a 

pass through);  

 

e) That bidders be required to assume the full risks associated 

• with early retirement costs on redundancy;  

• any other additional benefits awarded at the employer’s discretion; and; 

• costs of ill health retirements on a fixed fee basis with residual costs as a 

risk to the future waste contractors. 

 

2. That it be agreed that the GMCA would be prepared to give the appropriate 

guarantees to the Greater Manchester Pension Fund in request of Admissions 

agreement with the current interim contract and the three contract lots post 1 

April 2019.  The precise details of the contractors and the detail of their 

Admission Agreements would become clear through the procurement process 

and be included in the report to GMCA on the contract award later in the year. 

 
 
 
 
 

Page 179



 

14 

 

A link to the full agenda and papers can be found here: 
https://www.greatermanchester-
ca.gov.uk/meetings/meeting/569/greater_manchester_combined_a
uthority  
 
This decision notice was issued on 31 July 2018 on behalf of Eamonn Boylan, 
Secretary to the Greater Manchester Combined Authority, Churchgate House, 
56 Oxford Street, Manchester M1 6EU.  The deadline for call in of the attached 
decisions is 4.00pm on Tuesday 7 August 2018. 
 
 
 
 
Call-In Process 
 
In accordance with the scrutiny procedure rules, these decisions would come 
into effect five days after the publication of this notice unless before that time 
any three members of the relevant Overview and Scrutiny Committee decides to 
call-in a decision. 
 
Members must give notice in writing to the Chief Executive that they wish to 
call-in a decision, stating their reason(s) why the decision should be scrutinised.  
The period between the publication of this decision notice and the time a 
decision may be implemented is the ‘call-in’ period. 
 
Decisions which have already been considered by an Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee, and where the GMCA’s decision agrees with the views of the 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee may not be called in. 
 

Page 180

https://www.greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk/meetings/meeting/569/greater_manchester_combined_authority
https://www.greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk/meetings/meeting/569/greater_manchester_combined_authority
https://www.greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk/meetings/meeting/569/greater_manchester_combined_authority


1 
 

NOTICE OF DECISIONS AGREED AT THE AGMA EXECUTIVE BOARD 
HELD ON 27 JULY 2018 

 
PRESENT: 
 
Greater Manchester Mayor  Andy Burnham 
Bolton      Councillor Ebrahim Adia 
Bury      Councillor Rishi Shori 
Manchester     Councillor Richard Leese 
Oldham    Councillor Sean Fielding 
Rochdale     Councillor Allen Brett 
Salford     City Mayor Paul Dennett 
Stockport     Councillor Alex Ganotis 
Tameside     Councillor Brenda Warrington 
Trafford     Councillor Andrew Western 
Wigan      Councillor David Molyneux 
 
OTHER MEMBERS IN ATTENDANCE: 
 
TfGMC     Councillor Mark Aldred 
Bury     Councillor Andrea Simpson 
Manchester    Councillor Angeliki Stogia 
Rochdale    Councillor Sara Rowbotham 
Rochdale    Councillor Michael Holly 
Salford     Councillor Paula Boshell 
Stockport    Councillor Wendy Wild 
Wigan     Councillor Jenny Bullen 
Wigan     Lord Peter Smith 
 
OFFICERS IN ATTENDANCE: 
 
GMCA Chief Executive  Eamonn Boylan 
GMCA –Deputy Chief Executive Andrew Lightfoot 
GMCA – Monitoring Officer  Liz Treacy 
GMCA – Treasurer   Richard Paver 
Office of the GM Mayor  Kevin Lee 
 
Bolton     Sue Johnson 
Bury      Geoff Little 
Oldham    Carolyn Wilkins 
Manchester    Joanne Roney 
Rochdale     Steve Rumbelow 
Salford     Ben Dolan 
Stockport     Laureen Donnan  
Tameside     Sandra Stewart 
Trafford     Nikki Bishop 

Page 181

Agenda Item 11c



2 
 

Wigan      Donna Hall 
TfGM     Jon Lamonte 
GMP     Ian Piling 
GMFRS     Dawn Docx 
GMCA     Sylvia Welsh 
GMCA     Lindsay Dunn 
GMCA      Nicola Ward 
 
Cooperative Councils    Nicola Huckleby 
Innovation Network   Councillor Sharon Taylor 
 
APOLOGIES: 
 
Bolton   Tony Oakman 
Salford   Jim Taylor 
Stockport   Pam Smith 
Tameside   Steve Pleasant 
GMP   Ian Hopkins 
 
 
Agenda Item No. 
 
4. MINUTES OF THE AGMA ANNUAL MEETING HELD ON THE 29 JUNE 2018  
 
RESOLVED /- 
 
That the minutes of the AGMA Annual Meeting held on the 29 June 2018 be approved, subject 
to the addition of Councillor Andrea Simpson to the list of attendees. 

 
5.  GREATER MANCHESTER POLICE AND CRIME PANEL – PANEL ARRANGEMENTS  
 
RESOLVED /- 
 
1. That the amended Panel Arrangements at Appendix 1 be agreed. 

 

2. That it be agreed to refer the amended Panel Arrangements to the individual Greater 
Manchester constituent authorities for approval. 

 
3. That it be agreed that subject to agreement of the revised arrangements to invite the 

constituent authorities to appoint a substitute member. 

 
A link to the full agenda and papers can be found here:  
https://www.greatermanchester-
ca.gov.uk/meetings/meeting/571/agma_executive_board  
 

Page 182

https://www.greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk/meetings/meeting/571/agma_executive_board
https://www.greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk/meetings/meeting/571/agma_executive_board


3 
 

This decision notice was issued on 31 July 2018 on behalf of Eamonn Boylan, Secretary to the 
Greater Manchester Combined Authority, Churchgate House, 56 Oxford Street, Manchester 
M1 6EU.  The deadline for call in of the attached decisions is 4.00pm on Tuesday 7 August 
2018. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Call-In Process 
 
In accordance with the scrutiny procedure rules, these decisions will come into effect five days 
after the publication of this notice unless before that time any three members of the relevant 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee decides to call-in a decision. 
 
Members must give notice in writing to the Chief Executive that they wish to call-in a decision, 
stating their reason(s) why the decision should be scrutinised.  The period between the 
publication of this decision notice and the time a decision may be implemented is the ‘call-in’ 
period. 
 
Decisions which have already been considered by an Overview and Scrutiny Committee, and 
where the GMCA’s decision agrees with the views of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
may not be called in. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Page 183



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 185

Agenda Item 14
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 MINUTES
	5 TRAFFORD AFFORDABLE HOUSING FUND
	6 STUDENT ACCOMMODATION
	7 SALE TOWN CENTRE - PUBLIC REALM AND MOVEMENT STRATEGY
	Sale Public Realm  Appendix 1 - Sale TC PR and Movement Strategy

	8 PROPOSAL TO CONSULT ON ADULT SOCIAL CARE POLICY CHANGES
	9 REPORT ON COMPLAINTS DETERMINED BY THE LOCAL GOVERNMENT & SOCIAL CARE OMBUDSMAN 2017/18
	10 BUDGET MONITORING 2018-19 PERIOD 4 (APRIL- JULY 2018)
	11a GM Forward Plan of Key Decisions - September
	11b GMCA Decisions 27/7/18
	11c AGMA Decisions 27/7/18
	14 STUDENT ACCOMMODATION



